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ICBC Standard Bank is a London-based banking specialist, focused on the 
provision of Commodities and Financial Markets solutions, to its global 
client base.

Our purpose statement 
To serve our clients globally as the Commodities and Financial Markets 
platform of ICBC and Standard Bank.
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 
REVIEW

Over the past decade, 
we have navigated many 
challenges and seen 
great changes in the 
Bank. I am proud of our 
progress and ambitious 
for more in the future.

I am pleased to report that 2024 
has seen ICBCS build on the positive 
momentum from recent years with 
a fifth consecutive year of strong 
profitability. Despite challenging 
market conditions, our team remained 
focused on achieving our ambitions and 
delivering value to our shareholders.  

We delivered a profit of $156.5 million in 
2024, down 16.4% ($30.6 million) on the prior 
year which benefited from a $44.9 million 
credit provision release. Income after credit 
impairments in 2024 was $569.4 million, a 
marginal increase of 1.1% versus 2023 (when 
adjusted for the aforementioned credit provision 
release). The capital position continues to 
strengthen, with equity attributable to ordinary 
shareholders increasing by $72.8 million to 
$1,783.7 million. 

In March 2024, we paid a dividend of $49.9 
million to our shareholders: our first dividend 
payment since change of control in 2015, with 
a further dividend of $41.8 million approved for 
payment in March 2025. In September, at the 
annual Strategic Cooperation Conference of ICBC 
and Standard Bank, both of our shareholders 
reaffirmed their intention to maintain our joint 
venture structure, providing a more stabilised 
vision for our long-term success. We have 
subsequently refined our purpose: ‘To serve 
our clients globally as the Commodities and 
Financial Markets platform of ICBC and 
Standard Bank’. 



To maximise strategic value for our shareholders, we have adopted a client-led 
strategy across all business lines, leveraging our shareholders’ client network to 

provide ancillary products, services, and access to international markets.

To support our strategy, we continue to enhance our technological maturity and resilience, 
aiming to improve the digital experience. We continue to progress the simplification of our 

technology estate for greater agility and reduced risk, while investing responsibly for the 
future.

We have integrated sustainability into our overarching strategy. Our updated sustainability 
vision reflects our commitment: ‘ICBC Standard Bank is committed to supporting clients in 

achieving their energy transition and sustainability goals, while managing its related risks and 
opportunities to maintain its position as a resilient and profitable business.’

We will focus on building a leading Precious Metal business, a sustainable Energy business, and 
a competitive Base Metal business, targeting our shareholders’ client base and major global 
commodity clients. We will strengthen our position in Emerging Markets trading and increase our 
focus on RMB internationalisation products. We aim to grow a diversified banking book of structured 
financing to increase recurring revenues, in order to reduce the impact of market-driven volatility on 
the Group’s results.

In 2024, our previous chairman Andrew Simmonds retired, and Simon Davies succeeded him. We 
are very grateful for Andrew’s contribution over the last nine years. Simon’s experience and fresh 
perspectives are welcomed by my Senior Leadership Team and colleagues.

2025 marks another significant milestone for the Bank, being the ten-year anniversary since 
ICBC took a majority 60% stake in the Group. It has been a remarkable journey, and I reflect 
on all the efforts and sheer determination of our colleagues. I am incredibly proud of what we 
have accomplished together and excited about the future we are building. Whilst optimistic, we 
acknowledge external uncertainties and must remain agile. I believe our Bank’s values ‘Integrity, 
Openness, Prudence, Innovation, and Excellence’ have guided us throughout this journey and 
will continue to be the foundation of our success.

	 Wenbin Wang
Chief Executive Officer
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1. Strategic report
The Directors present their strategic report for ICBC Standard Bank Plc (‘ICBCS’) for the year ended  
31 December 2024.

Who we are
ICBCS is a London-based banking specialist, focused on the provision of commodities and financial markets 
solutions, to its global client base. Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited (‘ICBC’) and Standard 
Bank Group Limited (‘SBG’), hold 60% and 40% respectively of the issued share capital of ICBCS.

Within the UK, ICBCS is authorised by the Prudential Regulation Authority (‘PRA’), and regulated by the 
Financial Conduct Authority (‘FCA’) and the PRA. 

SBG is one of Africa’s leading banking and 
financial services organisations. In 2007, SBG 
entered into a major strategic partnership with 
ICBC, with ICBC now being a 19.6% shareholder 
in SBG. 

SBG operates in four key segments: Personal 
& Private Banking, Business & Commercial 
Banking, Corporate & Investment Banking, 
and Insurance & Asset Management. These 
global client segments operate across South 
Africa, other African countries and selected 
international locations outside of Africa.

ICBC was established on 1 January 1984 
to undertake the business of industrial and 
commercial credit and savings previously 
handled by the People’s Bank of China. 

On 28 October 2005, ICBC was restructured 
into a joint-stock limited company. On  
27 October 2006, ICBC was listed on both the 
Shanghai and Hong Kong stock exchanges and 
has developed into one of the largest listed 
banks in the world, possessing an excellent 
customer base, a diversified business structure, 
strong innovation capabilities and market 
competitiveness. 

ICBC has a presence on six continents and 
its overseas network spans 49 countries 
and regions. ICBC provides a comprehensive 
suite of financial products and services to 
over 12 million corporate customers and 
749 million personal customers through its 
various distribution channels. These consist 
of domestic institutions, overseas institutions 
and correspondent banks worldwide, as well 
as an e-banking network comprising a range of 
internet and telephone banking services and 
self-service banking centres. 
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How we operate
Strategy 
We specialise in global markets traded products including commodities, fixed income, and currencies, with a 
focus on emerging markets, notably frontier emerging markets. These activities span Asia, Africa, Central and 
Eastern Europe, the Middle East, and the Americas.

We also provide clients with specialised financing solutions that leverage our global markets capabilities.

We are headquartered in London, with additional operations in Singapore, New York and Shanghai.

We have access to major international financial exchanges including membership of the London Metals 
Exchange, and seats on the New York Mercantile Exchange (Comex division) and the Shanghai Gold 
Exchange International Board.

In 2024, our shareholders, ICBC and SBG, reaffirmed their combined strategic intent for the Group. As a 
result of this, our purpose is now ‘to serve our clients globally as the Commodities and Financial Markets 
platform of ICBC and Standard Bank’. 

Building on our positive progress over the past few years, we remain focused on our strategic principles: 
specialisation, integration and simplification. We invest where our business adds the most value and are 
taking tangible steps towards integration by collaborating with ICBC and SBG on business opportunities. 

Deliver our strategic value to 
ICBC and SBG by enriching the 
global product offering

•	 Strengthen our 
Commodities and Global 
Markets expertise; 

•	 Deploy our resources and 
capital for maximum impact;

•	 Invest for our future to 
maintain our competitive 
edge; and

•	 Provide complementary 
products and services for 
our shareholders.

Leverage ICBC and SBG global 
client base, infrastructure and 
balance sheet strength

•	 Support shareholders to 
grow and diversify revenue 
streams;

•	 Collaborate with 
shareholders for 
coordinated client and 
product strategies;

•	 Move closer, and 
find synergies, with 
shareholders’ offices in our 
regions; and

•	 Facilitate ICBC and SBG 
group level strategic 
cooperation.

Scale, build on our foundations 
and improve efficiency

•	 Remove internal 
inefficiencies and low value 
activity;

•	 Always look for 
opportunities to optimise 
the cost base; and

•	 Standardise processes 
and platforms to allow for 
greater volume.

Specialisation Integration Simplification
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Business model 
We offer an extensive spectrum of traded financial market and commodity assets, and related risk 
management products. 

Our businesses originate exposures directly from clients and their market-making activities, which are 
subsequently risk managed and traded with other market participants and clients through the Group’s 
distribution network. 

Our Commodities business provides trading, sales, working capital solutions, and structured lending 
expertise through its Metals and Energy teams. 

As one of the four members of London Precious Metals Clearing Limited, we offer vaulting and clearing 
services for clients, including safe custody for physical bullion at our own vault in London and at market 
recognised vaults globally.

Our Fixed Income and Currencies (FIC) business offers a comprehensive set of foreign exchange, interest 
rates, credit, money markets, and structured lending products. Our FIC business provides flow and structured 
products to our global clients for their investment activities, and delivers solutions for global corporates, 
banks and sovereigns for their financing, treasury and liability risk management requirements.

In recent years, generating diversified yet predictable revenue streams to build long term sustainability has 
become a key area of focus. This has predominantly been achieved through delivering structured lending 
capabilities for our clients. The structuring activities include lending against both liquid and illiquid collateral 
as well as derivatives financing (swaps) across both primary and secondary markets.  
 

 
Purpose and Culture 
Our strategy and business model are enabled and supported by having a clear 
purpose and culture. We recognise the importance of having a purpose, and set 
of values that provide all our employees with a common, shared direction. 

Having a culture that embodies our purpose, values and strategic priorities 
helps the Bank to serve customers effectively, aligns and unites employees, and 
ensures our stakeholders have a clear understanding of who we are and what we 
stand for. A strong culture is a competitive advantage and provides confidence 
that our employees will behave as expected; allowing the Bank to empower them 
to make decisions and capitalise on opportunities for growth. 

Our Employee Value Proposition (EVP) is the set of messages we use to bring 
the opportunities, employee experience and values to life. It helps us to attract 
the right potential candidates, retain strong talent, and forms part of the social 
contract we make with our people. It informs all aspects of the candidate and 
employee experience and, by doing so, plays a leading role in fostering the culture 
we need to take our business forward. We regularly review and refresh our people 
policies and processes to ensure they are aligned to support the delivery of the 
Bank’s strategy and objectives. The ICBCS Culture Framework actively monitors 
and measures emerging trends and the evolution of our culture.
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2024 in review
Operating environment
In 2024, Global markets navigated a complex 
landscape of divergent monetary policies and 
geopolitical tensions. US equity markets demonstrated 
exceptional strength, with the S&P 500 delivering a 
25% total return, powered by artificial intelligence 
sector momentum and robust corporate earnings. 
However, the Federal Reserve’s hawkish pivot towards 
year-end triggered the steepest single-day decline 
on the S&P 500 in two and a half years, catalysing a 
broader reassessment of risk assets globally. China’s 
better-than-expected 5% growth provided some stability 
to Asian markets, despite persistent property sector 
challenges.

Fixed income markets reflected evolving monetary 
dynamics, concluding 2024 with pronounced upward 
pressure on risk-free rates amid concerns over slowing 
disinflation and US economic resilience. The US 
Treasury yield curve steepened to levels unseen since 
mid-2022, whilst emerging market bonds delivered 
modest returns of 7% and 2.5% for hard and local 
currency instruments, respectively. Despite capital 
outflows from emerging markets reaching $22 billion, 
Nigeria’s successful $2.2 billion Eurobond issuance 
demonstrated selective investor appetite for higher 
yields.

The US dollar’s dominance intensified, gaining 8% 
against G10 currencies and 5% versus emerging 
markets since September 2024. This appreciation, 
coupled with domestic fiscal pressures in key emerging 
economies, materially tightened global liquidity 
conditions.

Commodity markets displayed distinct segmentation 
by the end of 2024. Gold demonstrated resilience 
by stabilising around $2,700 per ounce, while base 
metals reflected China’s property market challenges, 
although copper maintained its strength above $9,200 
per tonne on supply constraints. Oil markets recorded 
their narrowest trading range since 2019, as OPEC+ 
extended production cuts amid Chinese demand 
concerns.
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Outlook for 2025
The global economic landscape in 2025 points towards 
increasing market fragmentation, with IMF growth 
projections holding at 3.3% through 2026. A stark 
contrast emerges between US growth expectations of 
2.7% and the Euro area’s modest 1.0% outlook, while 
China’s projected 4.6% expansion reflects ongoing 
property sector challenges tempered by fiscal stimulus 
measures. Recent encouraging inflation data and a 
constructive start to the US earnings season have 
bolstered market sentiment, supported by measured 
policy implementation.

Key market dynamics will pivot on the Federal 
Reserve’s restrictive stance and evolving trade policies, 
with markets anticipating limited monetary easing amid 
sticky inflation, particularly in the service sector. Global 
inflation is expected to moderate to 4.2% in 2025 and 
3.5% in 2026, led by advanced economies.

Looking ahead, the investment landscape presents a 
complex matrix of opportunities and challenges. While 
US markets may benefit from policy-driven momentum, 
emerging and frontier markets face both structural 
adjustments and selective opportunities in higher-
yielding assets. Commodity-exporting economies may 
find support from supply-constrained metals markets 
and OPEC+ production discipline, though success 
will depend on careful navigation of geopolitical 
developments and evolving trade policies. This 
environment demands sophisticated risk management 
and strategic positioning across asset classes.

How we measure strategic impact and value 
creation
We rely on a range of financial and non-financial 
measures to assess how well our strategy is creating 
value. 

These measures include analysing our financial 
performance, our ability to deliver sustainable value 
and returns to our shareholders, our progress in 
maintaining a diverse and inclusive workforce, our 
contribution to broader society, and our environmental 
impact. Further details on these measures are set out 
on the following pages.
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Key Performance Indicators
Business performance
Our results for the year are shown in the consolidated income statement, with the key performance 
indicators (KPIs) reflected below:

Financial KPIs
2024 2023

Income after credit impairments $569.4m $608.2m

Net profit after tax $156.5m $187.1m

Total assets $26.6bn $23.2bn

Return on equity 8.3% 10.6%

Total capital adequacy ratio 18.1% 21.1%

2024 saw our fifth consecutive year of over $100.0 million in pre-tax profits, which indicates the significant 
progress we have made in developing a financially resilient and sustainable business. This has been 
achieved throughout a challenging period that has required us to constantly adapt and manage our risks 
appropriately.
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Commodities 
The Commodities franchise delivered $180.0 million 
of revenues in 2024 compared to $174.1 million in 
the prior year. 

Global commodity markets were influenced by a 
complex mix of geopolitical tensions, monetary policy 
decisions, and economic uncertainties. Persistent 
conflicts in key regions, the Federal Reserve’s 
cautious approach to rate cuts, and a strong US 
dollar significantly impacted market dynamics. 
China’s economic challenges, particularly in the real 
estate sector, dampened global growth expectations. 
The US presidential election and the ongoing global 
energy transition added further complexity to the 
market landscape.

Our Commodities business managed these 
challenges well, delivering a solid overall 
performance supporting our clients to navigate the 
volatile market conditions. The Precious Metals 

business delivered consistent year-on-year results, 
and we grew our Base Metals franchise. Our 
Energy desk continued to diversify the client base, 
broadening the scope of products related to the 
energy transition. A market-wide reduction in hedging 
demand for energy weighed on performance; 
however, the business is well-placed to capitalise 
when demand recovers.

Fixed Income and Currencies 
FIC’s income after credit impairments was $318.3 
million in 2024, compared to $361.8 million in 
2023. The 2023 result was supplemented by a 
$44.9 million credit provision release as a result of a 
recovery on a Russian counterparty exposure which 
had been closed out and impaired in 2022.

With half of the world’s population participating 
in general elections in over sixty countries, 2024 
inevitably saw significant activity in all of ICBCS’s key 
markets.
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The FX, Rates and Credit trading business was an important driver of FIC 
outperformance
In 2024, the FX, Rates and Credit trading business generated $196.1 million of 
revenues. 

At a macro level, the business successfully navigated continued conflict and 
election driven volatility as well as anticipated rate cutting cycles. In Emerging 
Markets (EM) specifically, the year started with both Nigeria and Egypt allowing 

their currencies to devalue, as well as Ghana and Zambia emerging from 
default. Combined with a US rate cutting cycle, these events were the 

catalyst for inflows into many of our key Frontier EM markets. 

The second quarter saw a rally in our South African Rand business, 
with the markets reacting positively to the effectiveness of South 

Africa’s new coalition government. China was the focus in the third 
quarter, due to slowing growth concerns and tariff rhetoric from 

the Republican US Presidential candidate. The expectation of 
lower Chinese rates triggered the unwind of RMB funding trades 
and a resultant rally in Chinese Government Bonds. In the final 
quarter of the year, most Emerging Markets jumped on the 
bull-market bandwagon created by the landslide victory in 
the US Presidential election. Notably, Nigeria issued its long-
awaited Eurobond, which was oversubscribed.

The FIC Structured Solutions and DCM business also 
exceeded its 2024 target 
The FIC Structured Solutions and Debt Capital Markets 
(DCM) business also outperformed its 2024 target 
whilst continuing to expand and deepen their core client 
base. Origination focus remains on Shareholders, EM 
sovereigns, EM financial institutions and select syndicate 
financing transactions.

Of the $122.2 million of revenues generated in 2024, 
approximately $100 million emanated from transactions 

with EM clients, notably in Sub-Saharan Africa, Central Asia, 
Turkey and increasingly LATAM, with the balance generated 

from select syndicate financing transactions, which provide 
useful risk diversification and access to new clients.

The portfolio was once again risk managed successfully, ending 
the period without incurring any credit losses while maintaining its 

net interest accrual. DCM’s results improved as the year progressed, 
as the rate cutting environment brought issuers back to the market. 
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Capital resources 
At the end of the reporting period, our equity capital resources totalled $1,943.7 million  
(2023: $1,870.9 million), and total capital resources qualifying for prudential purposes amounted to 
$2,086.1 million (2023: $2,039.1 million).

We remain strongly capitalised at 31 December 2024, with a total capital adequacy ratio of 18.1%  
(2023: 21.1%), a tier 1 capital ratio of 16.0% (2023: 18.5%), a common equity tier 1 (CET1) ratio of 14.6% 
(2023: 16.9%) and risk weighted assets of $11,500.1 million (2023: $9,653.2 million). We maintain capital 
resources in excess of the minimum regulatory requirement.

Liquidity
Throughout 2024, the Bank maintained a liquidity surplus above the Individual Liquidity Guidance (ILG) 
requirements covering a regulatory stress period of 30 days, and the Bank’s Internal Stress Test (IST) 
requirements, which covers the risk drivers over a 91-day survival horizon. The Bank had sufficient stable 
funding and was compliant with the regulatory Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR).

As at 31 December 2024, the Bank had the following liquidity and funding surpluses; ILG, $2,028 million 
(2023: $2,217 million), constraining IST, $3,524 million (2023: $2,749 million) and NSFR, $2,652 million 
(2023: $3,147 million).

Under the regulatory Liquidity Coverage Ratio (‘LCR’) and NSFR, we maintained an excess over the regulatory 
requirement. As at 31 December 2024, our LCR position was 180% (2023: 183%) and our NSFR position 
was 143% (2023: 159%).

Credit rating
Our credit rating is premised on support from ICBC as parent, as well as consideration of our own capital and 
liquidity position, our corporate strategy, and future profitability. 

Moody’s and Fitch Ratings’ long-term credit ratings at  
31 December 2024 remain unchanged at Baa1 and A– 
respectively, and whilst Moody’s outlook remains stable, Fitch’s 
outlook has been downgraded one notch to negative, amidst 
increasing concerns over China’s economic prospects. 

Non-Financial and Sustainability Information Statement
Risk and Control 
We take a prudent approach to risk management, with the Bank’s risk appetite calibrated to our financial 
resources. We operated within our Board approved risk appetite statement throughout 2024, and 
additionally introduced a metric covering stop loss breaches to the risk appetite statement. Our principal 
risks are detailed in note 37, which also includes further information on relevant frameworks and policies.

Culture and Employee Engagement 
Culture is important to us and the Group continues to measure, manage and monitor culture against a 
monitoring framework. This dashboard combines quantitative metrics (including an employee survey) and 
qualitative overlays. This allows management to track trends and focus their efforts. 

Technology

In 2024, our technology investments positively contributed to the Bank’s overall business performance. 
We made substantial progress in several strategic initiatives, including continuing with the consolidation of 
our Global Markets trading business into a unified, robust trading and risk management platform. We also 
significantly enhanced the Bank’s cybersecurity maturity and strengthened the resilience of our technology 
infrastructure. Additionally, we ensured continued compliance with all relevant regulatory regimes, optimised 
our technology delivery processes for greater efficiency and quality, and implemented an Artificial Intelligence 
(AI) governance framework to responsibly integrate AI tools into our operations.
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Human rights
We are committed to respecting human rights, and operate in accordance with the Universal Declaration 
of Human Rights. We promote human rights across our organisation through our employment policies. The 
Board approved our annual Modern Slavery Statement. 

Bribery and corruption
We require all employees to comply with the applicable anti-bribery and corruption laws in all jurisdictions in 
which we operate.

Financial crime and anti-money laundering
Our financial crime and anti-money laundering policies are designed to ensure that we comply with all 
necessary regulations and requirements. This includes having appropriate controls in place to mitigate the 
risk of financial crime.

Sustainability
In 2024 ICBCS revised its vision and positioning statement:

ICBC Standard Bank is committed to supporting clients in achieving their energy transition and 
sustainability goals, while managing its related risks and opportunities to maintain its position as a 
resilient and profitable business. Aligned with its commercial strategy, financial targets, and risk appetite, 
ICBCS will provide the capital and liquidity needed for the sustainable growth of emerging markets and 
developing economies. It will also facilitate investment and trading in critical transition minerals and 
metals, renewable energy, and the circular economy. ICBCS will uphold responsible banking and sourcing 
practices, maintain a diverse and inclusive workforce, and support local communities.

 
The directors have presented climate-related financial disclosures required by Section 414CA and 414CB of 
the Companies Act 2006, in the sustainability report, which follows this report.

Our people
Fostering Equity, Diversity and Inclusion (ED&I)
As a Bank with global stakeholders, we celebrate our heritage, experiences, and cultural diversity through 
our international workforce, representing over 40 nationalities across three operating regions. We focus on 
creating an inclusive, transparent environment where everyone can succeed whilst being themselves.

We’ve made significant strides in our talent programmes, maintaining strong retention rates, and remain 
committed to fostering a vibrant, multigenerational workplace. Our ED&I vision, “Be Yourself, Succeed 
Together,” is to ensure all employees have equal opportunities and a safe space to celebrate their 
differences. 
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Our ED&I strategy focuses on:

Transparency, Accountability and Reporting

•	 Track and report progress towards Bank-wide goals through the Balanced Scorecard reporting;

•	 Enhance and embed ED&I reporting across the Bank by providing regular updates on gender and 
ethnicity representation;

•	 Ongoing tracking of Gender Pay Gap progression through regulatory submissions and internal 
assurance processes;

•	 Regulatory adaptation: Interpret regulatory reporting directives and embed in systems and reporting 
processes.

Culture of Inclusion

Diverse Talent Acquisition, Retention and Development

•	 Consider diversity in all appointments whilst prioritising meritocracy;

•	 Invest in the junior talent pipeline through our flagship Summer Internship programme and 
continuously support graduate programme cohorts;

•	 Continue delivering the Elevating Women in Leadership (EWiL) programme, which focuses on 
advocacy, career coaching, and personal impact training; 

•	 Continuing actions and events through the Women in Technology, Client Management Unit and 
Operations (WITCO) forum;

•	 Ensure the Employee Value Proposition is authentic and includes the delivery of an integrated 
wellbeing strategy;

•	 Implement recommendations from Recruitment Inclusivity Review to drive diversity outcomes in 
talent acquisition processes.

•	 Continue our commitment through people management principles, policies, training and family 
benefits programme; 

•	 Celebrate culture and diversity events;

•	 Foster external partnerships that facilitate greater awareness and perspective;

•	 Monitor and maintain staff morale through culture and engagement initiatives.
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Supporting Development and our Employee Value Proposition
Our Learning and Talent Development strategy focuses on upskilling and reskilling our leaders, managers 
and employees to support personal growth and future-proof the Bank’s workforce. We offer development and 
talent programmes to help employees advance in their roles and careers, addressing skills gaps in a rapidly 
evolving workplace.

We promote a learning culture through a mix of in-person and online training in leadership, career 
development, management, core competencies, professional qualifications, and mandatory training. We 
also leverage the UK Government’s Apprenticeship Levy scheme for funding where appropriate. Regular 
mandatory training ensures regulatory compliance, and employees have access to over 17,000 courses 
through a digital library. 

Succession planning is integrated into our framework to identify and develop future leaders, ensuring 
business continuity and long-term growth.

Our EVP showcases opportunities and experiences at the Bank, attracting the right candidates and 
communicating our employer brand. By integrating our ED&I strategy into our EVP, we emphasise our 
commitment to a diverse and inclusive culture where all employees feel valued and respected.

Attracting and Retaining Talent
Since early 2023, the labour market has stabilised, leading to a reduction in voluntary attrition rates to an 
average of 7.8% globally and 7.6% in London, down from 8.4% and 8.7% respectively. Strategic investments 
in retention levers such as hybrid working support, competitive benefits structures, employee recognition 
schemes, fixed pay investments, performance incentives and enhanced learning opportunities, have 
significantly contributed to this improvement. These efforts have increased retention rates, ensuring a stable 
and skilled workforce. Specific analyses for high attrition functions and hard-to-fill roles have further tailored 
retention strategies.
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Our Corporate Responsibility
Promoting Social Responsibility
ICBCS’s Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) commitment aims to foster a corporate conscience globally. 
We have a dual-focus approach to charity partnerships, with a Corporate Partnership managed from London 
and employee-elected charities in each region. Our community initiatives include clothes drives, food 
donations, fundraising activities, and local appeals, with proceeds distributed across our partnerships to 
maximise impact. Regional partnerships include ‘Shooting Star Children’s Hospices’ in London, ‘The Hope 
Programme’ in New York, and the ‘Singapore Heart Foundation’.

We collaborated with ‘Calling London’ for a clothes drive and ‘Olio’ for food donations. Our strategic 
partnership with the ‘Adopt-a-School Foundation’ in South Africa supports a social welfare project at ‘Modilati 
Secondary School’. We also support the ‘City of London Lord Mayor’s Appeal’ to address homelessness and 
mental health.

In 2023, we implemented a Volunteering Policy, allowing employees to dedicate a paid day to a charity of 
their choice, fostering a culture of giving. Our participation in the Business Insights Programme, now in its 
sixth year, includes hosting London students for a business project and leadership presentation.
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Tax
We adopt a prudent approach in all tax matters, following the principles outlined in our publicly available Tax 
Strategy and adhering to HMRC’s Code of Practice on Taxation for Banks. Our Tax Strategy is owned by the 
Board and reviewed annually. 

We are committed to:

•	 Accurate and timely tax compliance and tax risk management

•	 A principled approach towards legitimate and responsible tax planning

•	 A belief in open, transparent and honest tax authority engagement

•	 A resolve to co-operate fully with all anti-tax evasion and tax transparency initiatives.

Our organisation has zero tolerance for tax evasion and will implement disciplinary procedures for any 
staff that do not uphold good practice in this area. We have successfully implemented a reporting regime 
for the Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act (FATCA) and the Common Reporting Standard (CRS), along 
with a comprehensive control framework in respect of the UK Corporate Criminal Offence for failure to 
prevent facilitation of tax evasion. In order to help identify malpractice, we operate internally a confidential 
Whistleblowing policy, which includes all tax matters.

We pay the required tax, and fulfil our filing obligations in accordance with local requirements, across all of 
the jurisdictions in which we operate. Our total tax contribution for 2024 was $122.6 million (2023: $132.5 
million) of which $58.7 million (2023: $67.0 million) was borne by the Group with the remainder being 
primarily payroll taxes collected on behalf of our employees. In Singapore employees self-assess and pay 
their own income taxes to the local authority. This is illustrated in the diagrams below:

Taxes borne by ICBCS

$58.7 million

Employment Taxes collected by ICBCS

$63.9 million

$2.2m 
Business 
Rates

$4.0m 
VAT

$17.8m 
Corporation 
Tax

$22.1m 
Employment 
Tax

$12.6m 
Withholding 
Tax

$0.3m 
China

$60.5m 
UK

$3.1m 
USA

Principal governance of tax is through the Executive Committee feeding into the Board sub-committees and 
ultimately, to the Board of Directors.
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Directors’ statement on Companies Act 2006 Section 172
The Directors have fulfilled their duty to promote the Company’s success, considering stakeholder 
engagement and the matters set out in section 172 (1) (a) to (f) of the Companies Act 2006.

The Directors consider the likely long-term consequences of their decision making and during the year the 
Board reviewed and set strategic priorities over a four-year period, approving a business plan that addresses 
capital and funding requirements while considering potential macroeconomic risks. 

The Board is committed to high standards of business conduct, including human rights, anti-bribery, anti-
money laundering and financial crime. They also approved values and frameworks to maintain these 
standards. 

Stakeholder engagement 
The Company believes it is important to consider a broad range of stakeholders when undertaking day-to-
day business to ensure the best outcomes for all parties. There were no changes to the Board’s group of 
stakeholders during the year. A summary of the Board’s stakeholder oversight and engagement during the 
year is set out below.

Shareholders 
The Shareholders’ Agreement (SHA) governs the relationship with shareholders alongside the Articles of 
Association. The SHA outlines matters reserved for Board and shareholder decisions, and administrative 
procedures like Board composition, meeting administration, business plan and budget preparation, capital 
requests, and shareholder communications. Shareholders’ interests are represented at the Board by 
shareholder appointed Directors. The Chief Executive keeps the Board updated on communications and 
developments with shareholders.

Ongoing shareholder engagement ensures that the strategy, risk appetite and annual business plan takes 
consideration of shareholder feedback and views on strategic direction, specifically ensuring that the 
services and products provided over the life of the business plan are complementary and enhance the wider 
shareholder groups’ capabilities. 

As described earlier in the report, as part of the 2024 Board strategy sessions, the Directors agreed on 
an update to the Company’s purpose to ensure appropriate alignment to the shareholders’ objectives and 
capabilities. 

In agreeing the Bank’s strategy and risk appetite, the Board considers the shareholders’ views; for example, 
our strategy includes assisting ICBC to play a key role in Renminbi internationalisation, and to help Standard 
Bank to connect with high quality international investors. 
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Clients
The Board agrees that meeting the needs of clients is at the 
centre of what we do, and is committed to ensuring that we 
deliver the best solutions, services and products. The Directors 
agreed as part of the 2024 Board strategy sessions that a 
stronger focus on clients would deliver a beneficial revenue mix 
over the medium to long term. 

The focus on clients informs the compliance plan and related 
monitoring activities, which are regularly reviewed by the Board 
Risk Management Committee (BRMC). Policies and procedures 
are in place to support the right outcomes, including client 
communications and disclosures, trade and order execution, 
suitability and appropriateness, conflicts of interest, client 
assets, data protection, information security and financial crime. 
BRMC receives regular reports from the Chief Compliance Officer 
in respect of all compliance matters and provides review and 
challenge of policies and procedures.

As part of our commitment to ensure we maintain an appropriate 
level of continuity of service for our clients, the Board reviewed 
and approved the operational resilience self-assessment in line 
with regulatory requirements. 

Regulators 
The Board maintains an open dialogue with UK and international 
regulatory authorities. Regulatory considerations are integral 
to the Group’s operations and Board decisions. The Chairman 
and Chief Executive meet periodically with UK regulators and 
communicate additionally as needed. The Board reviews key 
regulatory correspondence to ensure management addresses 
priorities promptly. Executive management update the Board on 
compliance status, material incidents, future developments, and 
prudential matters. 

Suppliers

Our approach to supplier management is designed to ensure 
fair and balanced relationships. We engage with suppliers 
through a dedicated team to ensure the Bank has the necessary 
information it requires, to appropriately manage relationships at 
inception and throughout the life of the service. 

During the year, the Bank updated its supplier risk management 
framework to comply with the latest regulatory outsourcing 
guidelines, and the Board reviewed supplier management 
information and were briefed on relevant risks.

We continued to meet our obligations regarding responsible 
payment practices and reporting during the year, with reports 
approved by executive directors.
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Employees
The Board is responsible for the development of the Group’s culture, believing a diverse and engaged 
workforce drives better outcomes for all stakeholders. Directors receive regular updates on headcount, 
culture measures, engagement initiatives, and people metrics, including breaches and risks. The Board 
and the Remuneration and People Committee (Remco) focus on gender and broader diversity, with specific 
management performance target metrics.

Remco reviews and challenges the remuneration policy to ensure it is appropriate for all employees, including 
executives, aligning competitive remuneration with strategic goals. Remco reviewed the Bank’s performance 
against a balanced scorecard and provided oversight to ensure that the outcomes were performance linked. 
During the year, Remco reviewed succession plans and a talent assessment, particularly for leadership roles 
to promote skilled employee continuity. 

As part of our ongoing efforts to engage in direct staff feedback, a number of independent non-executive 
directors attended breakfast meetings with a range of employee groups, which provided opportunities for 
directors to gain additional perspectives to help inform their decision making. 

During 2024, the Bank continued to run an employee network to provide support for women in departments 
where we seek to appeal to a wider demographic. 

Throughout 2024, the Chief Executive held quarterly in-person town hall sessions to update the workforce on 
key business developments, employee initiatives and progress against strategic priorities. 

The Group is committed to providing employees with additional qualifications and seeks to offer opportunities 
to individuals who may not consider financial services an accessible career. 

Community 
Our commitment to the community is affirmed in the Bank’s corporate social responsibility framework and 
the Board continued to support our contribution to society. During the year we proactively participated in 
various community initiatives including organising clothes donations and fundraising activities, and provided 
employees with volunteering leave.

We have ongoing partnerships to support local charities in the UK, Singapore and New York, and continue to 
support a South African school through the ’Adopt a School Foundation’ programme.
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How we manage risk
The Board is primarily responsible for the governance 
of risk and compliance with legal and regulatory 
obligations. The Board has delegated authority 
to the Board Risk Management Committee to 
provide independent and objective oversight of risk 
management and compliance across the Bank. 

Day-to-day responsibility for risk management is 
delegated by the Board to the Executive Committee. 
The Chief Risk Officer and the Chief Compliance 
Officer are responsible for the management of risk 
and compliance respectively, including the design, 
implementation and monitoring of frameworks and 
processes. 

Importantly, accountability for risk management resides 
at all levels across the organisation, as set out by our 
three lines of defence model, as further described in 
note 37.2. 

Frameworks, policies, and procedures are in place to 
manage each major risk type. These set out minimum 
requirements for management of risk, and promote 
consistency of risk management methods. 

Our principal risks are detailed in note 37.3. This is not 
an exhaustive list of all potential risks facing the Group, 
but rather those which management believes may have 
a significant impact on its business performance and 
future prospects.



THE CHAIR’S REVIEW 
AND OUTLOOK
I am delighted to present my first annual report since I was appointed Chair of 
the ICBC Standard Bank Board of Directors in October 2024. I would like to 
take the opportunity to recognise my predecessor, Andrew Simmonds, 
who stepped down after five years as Chair, and nine years in total 
on the Board. Andrew made a significant contribution in overseeing 
governance arrangements and guiding the management team in the 
transitional period since change in control in 2015.

Against a backdrop of continuing economic and geopolitical 
uncertainty, 2024 has seen us achieve our fifth consecutive year of 
strong profitability, as well as distributing our first dividend payment of 
$49.9 million to Shareholders – a significant milestone for the Group. 
A further dividend payment of $41.8 million has been approved and will 
be distributed to the Group’s Shareholders in March 2025.

In 2025, we will focus on fulfilling our purpose to serve our clients 
globally as the Commodities and Financial Markets platform of 
ICBC and Standard Bank. To achieve this, we have a clear client-
led strategy and a pragmatic four-year plan that delivers year-on-
year revenue growth. Whilst we can look ahead with optimism, 
we maintain a prudent approach to capital and liquidity, which 
positions us appropriately to navigate our markets. From a 
people perspective, we aspire to be a sustainable, diverse and 
inclusive organisation where our people thrive and realise their 
potential.

On behalf of the Board, I would like to thank our executive 
team, led by Wenbin Wang, and all ICBCS colleagues for their 
efforts during the year. 

The ICBC Standard Bank Plc Strategic Report 2024 was 
approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf by 
the Chair.

By order of the Board 

 

Simon Davies 
Chairman

28 February 2025 
20 Gresham Street 
London EC2V 7JE 
 
Public company limited by shares  
Registered in England and Wales No. 2130447

2024 has seen us achieve 
our fifth consecutive year of 
strong profitability, as well as 
distributing our first dividend 
payment of $49.9 million to 
shareholders – a significant 
milestone for the Group.
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2. Sustainability report
This report focuses on ICBCS’s sustainability strategy and how we are managing sustainability-related risks 
and opportunities, with a focus on climate-related risks and opportunities in 2024. Its content is informed 
by the required disclosures of The Companies (Strategic Report) (Climate-related Financial Disclosure) 
Regulations 2022, coupled with consideration given to the recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-
Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) and International Sustainability Standards Board’s (ISSB) International 
Financial Reporting Standard’s (IFRS) Sustainability Disclosure Standards S1 and S2.

Regulatory Landscape 

Governing Body Regulation/
Recommendation

Action

Task Force on  
Climate-related 
Financial Disclosures 
(TCFD):

TCFD Recommendations The TCFD is a global organisation formed to develop a set of 
recommended climate-related disclosures that companies 
and financial institutions can use to better inform investors, 
shareholders and the public of their climate-related financial 
risks.

The TCFD recommends climate-related disclosures related to 
governance, strategy, risk management, and metrics and targets.

At COP28, the TCFD was officially disbanded, with the ISSB 
taking over the TCFD’s responsibilities for corporate disclosure of 
climate targets, risks and opportunities.

United Kingdom (UK) 
Legislation:

The Companies (Directors’ 
Report) and Limited Liability 
Partnerships (Streamlined 
Energy and Carbon Report) 
Regulations 2018 (SECR)

The Companies (Strategic 
Report) (Climate-related 
Financial Disclosure) 
Regulations 2022

SECR requires UK energy use disclosures in the form of 
Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Emissions for electricity consumption, 
gas combustions and fuel consumption.

The Companies Act requires non-financial disclosures in the 
strategic report to include sustainability disclosures with a 
focus on climate-related disclosures related to governance, risk 
management, strategy, resilience, and metrics and targets.

The purpose of these disclosures is to help support investment 
decisions as the UK moves toward a lower carbon economy.

Prudential Regulation 
Authority (PRA):

PRA Supervisory Statement 
SS3/19 – 

Enhancing banks’ and insurers’ 
approaches to managing the 
financial risks from climate 
change

The PRA expects firms to develop and embed a strategic 
approach to managing the financial risks from climate change.

The PRA expects firms to consider engaging with the TCFD 
framework and other initiatives in developing their approach to 
climate-related financial disclosures.

International 
Sustainability 
Standards Board 
(ISSB):

IFRS S1 – General 
requirements for disclosure of 
sustainability-related financial 
information

IFRS S2 – Climate-related 
disclosures

The aim of the ISSB is to create a consistent global baseline and 
methodology for investor focused sustainability reporting that 
local jurisdictions can build upon.

The Standards bring together and will replace existing 
frameworks and standards, including the TCFD 
recommendations.

In June 2023, ISSB issued its first two sustainability reporting 
standards; S1 and S2. Further thematic reporting guidance will 
be issued over time.

The standards are yet to be formally adopted within UK 
regulation. Based on latest guidance, the Government aims to 
make the UK-endorsed ISSB standards available in Q1 2025.

ICBCS has performed a review and gap assessment of the 
disclosure requirements.
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Governing Body Regulation/
Recommendation Action

Financial Conduct 
Authority (FCA):

Sustainability Disclosure 
Requirements (SDR)

Sustainability Disclosure Requirements (SDR) is the framework 
by which various standards become regulation. The FCA 
are currently consulting on ISSB, TPT and D&I standards to 
determine how they will incorporate them into SDR.

The Government aims to make the UK-endorsed ISSB standards 
available in Q1 2025.

Subject to a positive endorsement decision by the Government, 
and following a consultation process, the FCA will be able to 
use the UK Sustainability Reporting Standards to introduce 
requirements for UK-listed companies to report sustainability-
related information. 

Transition Plan 
Taskforce (TPT):

Disclosure Framework The Transition Plan Taskforce (TPT) was created to develop 
a voluntary ‘gold standard’ transition plan framework and 
guidance building on ISSB and TCFD.

Aiming to enable robust, consistent and action orientated 
transition plans as well as informed recommendations for UK’s 
regulatory requirements.

The final disclosure framework was released in October 2023 
with specific sector guidance published in April 2024.

As of June 2024, the IFRS Foundation has assumed 
responsibility for the TPT’s disclosure-specific materials 
developed by the Transition Plan Taskforce.

ICBCS has performed a review and gap assessment of the 
disclosure requirements.

Task Force on Nature-
related Financial 
Disclosures (TNFD):

TNFD Recommendations The TNFD’s recommendations are designed to help 
organisations to report and act on evolving nature-related issues 
with the ultimate aim of supporting a shift in global financial 
flows away from nature-negative outcomes and toward nature-
positive outcomes.

The TNFD recommends nature-related disclosures related to 
governance, strategy, risk and impact management and metrics 
and targets.

ICBCS is monitoring the development of these recommendations 
at this stage.

 
As we continue our journey with regards to sustainability and complying with the associated regulations and 
disclosure requirements, we set out our alignment to the current TCFD recommendations on the following 
pages:

•	 Governance: 		  page 22

•	 Strategy: 			   page 23

•	 Risk Management: 		  page 35

•	 Metrics and Targets: 	 page 40
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Governance 
We have implemented a robust governance framework for oversight and management of sustainability, 
including climate-related risks and opportunities.

The Board takes overall responsibility for risk management, legal and regulatory compliance, and review and 
monitoring of sustainability-related risks and opportunities. Through delegated authority from the Board, the 
Board Risk Management Committee (BRMC) and Board Audit Committee (BAC) provide independent and 
objective oversight of risk management, compliance and reporting.

ICBCS Board
Key Responsibilities

• Setting strategic direction and risk appetite for sustainability including climate change;
• Independent oversight ensuring sustainability strategy is implemented, a robust governance process is followed and any 

material sustainability (including climate change) risk or disclosure issues escalated by BRMC or BAC are addressed;
• Agree and monitor sustainability-related targets and metrics; and
• Held quarterly.

Sustainability Working Group

Key Responsibilities

• Central co-ordination from executive office across all 
sustainability initiatives including climate change;

• Monitor and review the development and implementation 
of agreed sustainability-related opportunities and 
climate-related risks mitigation;

• Annual review of sustainability-related (including 
climate-related) risks that could impact the current 
business model / strategy and sustainability-related 
(including climate-related) opportunities identified;

• Review of sustainability-related policies and frameworks 
and submit to Executive Committee for approval; and

• Held monthly.

Risk Management Committee

• Reviewing the environmental risk appetite and submit for 
approval by the Executive Committee;

• Oversight of overall risks (including climate change) and 
monitor adherence to agreed risk appetite by receiving 
reports on the development of programmes and any 
risks identified through our current risk management 
processes. (See climate-related risk management table 
in the risk management section);

• Review the climate change scenarios and stress 
tests; and

• Held monthly.

Executive Committee

Key Responsibilities
• Integrate Board views into sustainability and ensure 

appropriate progress is made;
• Formulate the sustainability strategy, approval of risk 

appetite and proposal of metrics and targets ahead 
of the Board;

Board Risk Management 
Committee

Board Remuneration 
and People Committee

Board Audit
Committee

Key Responsibilities

• Independent oversight by receiving 
updates on environmental 
(including climate change) risk 
issues and trends from the risk 
management committee and 
escalation of material issues to 
Board;

• Review outputs of scenario 
analysis or stress testing and the 
impact on the business model;

• Review progress towards meeting 
regulatory expectations; and

• Held quarterly.

• Independent oversight of 
sustainability-related accounting 
and disclosures and escalation of 
material issues to Board;

• Review and approve disclosures as 
part of annual report process; and

• Held quarterly.

• Independent oversight of policies 
and practices related to people 
and corporate social responsibility;

• Agree and monitor specific targets 
and metrics related to equality, 
diversity and inclusion; and

• Held quarterly.

• Regularly monitor sustainability metrics and 
information; and

• Review quarterly.
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In the latter part of 2023, we formed a Sustainability Working Group to establish a cross-functional forum 
aimed at embedding sustainability throughout the organisation and overseeing all related initiatives. Led by 
the executive office, the Working Group became fully operational in 2024 and comprises seven workstreams 
led by the accountable executives listed below.

Accountable Executives

Chief Executive 
Offi cer

Board Oversight
ICBCS Board

Oversight
Strategy and governance

Chief Financial 
Offi cer

Board Oversight
Board Audit Committee

Oversight
Accounting and disclosures

Chief Risk 
Offi cer

Board Oversight
Board Risk Management 

Committee
Oversight

Climate Risk Management

Head of Human 
Resources

Board Oversight
Board Remuneration and 

People Committee

Oversight
People and corporate social 

responsibility

Chief
Compliance Offi cer

Board Oversight
ICBCS Board through 

strategy and governance

Oversight
Controls and processes

Head of 
Commodities
Board Oversight

ICBCS Board through 
strategy and governance

Oversight
Business strategic risks and 

opportunities

Head of Client 
Management Unit

Board Oversight
ICBCS Board through 

strategy and governance

Oversight
Client and supplier 

on-boarding and monitoring

The above represents the main Board committees that are responsible for sustainability, however, as we 
further integrate sustainability practices into our businesses, there are other executive committees that will 
consider sustainability-related risks and opportunities when executing their functions, for example the credit 
committee may refer transactions related to restricted activities to the transaction approval committee to 
consider any reputational risks.

Strategy
Our approach
In 2023, ICBCS set out its approach to sustainability and how we will support the energy transition through 
supporting our clients. In 2024, we integrated consideration of sustainability-related risks and opportunities 
into our overarching business strategy and day-to-day practices.

Towards the end of 2024, we held a dedicated Board discussion on our approach in light of relevant 
corporate sustainability trends, including regulatory developments and climate litigation risk. This culminated 
in an updated sustainability vision that has been integrated into our overall strategy, shown below

Our sustainability strategy has been agreed after careful consideration of various factors, including:

•	 our emerging markets client base

•	 our focus on trading and structured finance
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•	 our regulatory requirements

•	 our risk appetite

•	 our financial targets and commercial strategy

•	 our direct operational footprint

•	 our stakeholders’ expectations

An integrated and proportionate sustainability strategy

To fulfil our Purpose..

Overall

To serve our clients globally as the Commodities and Financial Markets platform of ICBC and 
Standard Bank.

Sustainability

ICBC Standard Bank is committed to supporting clients in achieving their energy transition and 
sustainability goals, while managing its related risks and opportunities to maintain its position as a 
resilient and profitable business

How..

Support client transition through sustainable opportunities whilst considering our risk appetite and 
economic returns.

Commodities

Renewable structured finance deals

Lower carbon intensity energy, and metals critical 
to the energy transition

‘Recycling’ sector and clients

FIC

Support of social and economic development of 
Emerging Markets and Developing Economies

ICBC Standard Bank will uphold responsible banking and sourcing practices, maintain a diverse and 
inclusive workforce, and support local communities

We must..

Maintain our profitability to build a sustainable 
business model.

Manage our exposures prudently in consideration 
of current and future sustainability related risks.

By..

Specialisation Integration Simplification
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Sustainability stakeholder impact assessment
Our stakeholders are critical to our success and as such we regularly consider their expectations of our 
business. We engage with our different stakeholders to better understand these expectations and to discuss 
how we are meeting them. 

Policy and regulation
• Considering sustainability factors 

is assumed as part of a company’s 
fiduciary duty and expectations are 
increasing

• Implementation of UK Companies 
Act, International Sustainability 
Standard Board (ISSB), FCA and PRA 
regulations and disclosures

• Impending enhanced regulation 
from Transition Planning Taskforce 
(TPT) and Sustainability Disclosure 
Requirements (SDR)

Risk materiality
• Increasing recognition that 

sustainability factors, specifically 
climate-related factors, can affect 
risk and return

• Real life examples of exposure to 
climate-related events e.g. weather 
events, fires, floods

Reputational risk and external 
stakeholders
• Media

• Insurance providers

• Political and non-governmental 
organisation (NGO) pressure

• Third party ratings

Client expectations
• Growing demands from clients 

and counterparties with regards 
to greater transparency and 
understanding on the approach to 
sustainability, which allows them 
to assess with who and how they 
partner as a basis for ongoing 
business relationships

Market
• Being engaged with 

sustainability is 
important in order to 
remain competitive in 
our market

Employees expectations
• Talent attraction and 

retention 

• Individual views of 
creating a positive 
impact and making 
conscious decisions 
related to sustainability
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Our progress
Sustainability is integrated into our overall strategic assessment, conducted annually during our planning 
cycle. Given the cross-functional nature of the sustainability working group and the involvement of executives 
that are key in setting our business strategy, it provides a direct platform to influence and shape the evolution 
and integration of our sustainability strategy.

The workstreams have achieved the following successes in 2024:

•	 Key process improvements such as enhanced due diligence standards, horizon scanning and client and 
supplier screening as well as more extensive use of the scenario analysis results;

•	 Sustainability policy creation and governance has been strengthened, indicated by the refinement of 
the environmental policy as well as the drafting of the greenwashing and operational scope emissions 
policies, that will be ratified in 2025;

•	 A sustainability transaction framework has been drafted, to assess and clarify the impact of structured 
financing deals. This work will continue into 2025;

•	 Operational scope emissions (scope 1, 2 and select scope 3) calculations, previously performed by a 
third party, were brought in house. Data collection is collated, verified and managed on a quarterly basis 
with final calculations and disclosures performed annually; and

•	 Initiation of the process of calculating financed emissions. To assist us, we engaged a third party to 
conduct a gap assessment focusing on asset classification and scoping, data sourcing and processing, 
and model design considerations. Based on the assessment results, we used our 2023 year-end balance 
sheet to define our lending book, identify applicable counterparties, and gather the relevant data needed 
to calculate our emissions. Given the nature of our counterparties, we will use proxies to calculate our 
emissions and, in 2025, we will obtain the necessary proxy data and complete the calculations. 



ICBC Standard Bank | Consolidated Annual Report

SU
ST

AI
N

AB
IL

IT
Y 

R
EP

O
R

T

27

Identifying and assessing sustainability-
related risks and opportunities 
In identifying and assessing sustainability-related risks 
and opportunities, our business lines consider:

•	 Stakeholders’ expectations;

•	 Market dynamics for primary sectors;

•	 Geographies/countries in which we operate;

•	 Regulatory requirements and government policies;

•	 Exposures to physical and transition risks;

•	 Credit risk appetite;

•	 Social risks; and

•	 Opportunities for new products and services related 
to financing the energy transition and circular 
economy.

To enhance our management of sustainability-
related risks, we have integrated a comprehensive 
sustainability questionnaire into the client onboarding 
process. This ensures that new clients are assessed 
against our environmental risk policy and risk appetite. 
Additionally, it helps us understand our clients’ stance 
and maturity on various sustainability factors, such 
as environmental impact, social responsibility, and 
governance practices.

In addition, client and counterparty credit appetite 
are subject to climate risk-related evaluation through 
a scoring mechanism and consideration is given to 
the tenor of exposures, and exposure to physical and 
transition risk. 

Key considerations
Given the nature of our business as a financial services 
company with a small operational footprint, our direct 
sustainability impact is not material, yet we remain 
aware of the indirect impacts we have through our 
clients’ activities. Our indirect impact will shift based on 
changes in client behaviour.

In our environmental policy, we have classified certain 
activities into three groups. These activities are more 
sensitive from a climate risk perspective and could 
cause increased exposure to the Bank, from both a 
financial and non-financial perspective.
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Prohibited Activities
We will not directly facilitate new activities with any of our current or prospective clients:

Sector Activity Climate change impact

Mining Mountain top removal The practice releases air pollutants 
such as nitrogen oxide and sulphur 
dioxide contributing to water and soil 
acidification. Deforestation also results in 
soil degradation, loss of carbon sinks and 
biodiversity loss. 

Mining, trading or processing dedicated 
to coal

As well as the impacts associated with 
mining operations, coal mining causes 
mine drainage, resulting in heavy metals 
dissolving and seeping into ground and 
surface water. The practice often leads 
to significant release of fugitive coalbed 
methane, mainly at underground operations.

Energy Arctic circle drilling and exploration Drilling and exploration in this region is 
particularly sensitive as temperatures in 
the region have warmed at more than twice 
the global average, sea-level rise and ocean 
warmth is accelerating causing biodiversity 
loss. Melting permafrost also releases 
trapped methane, the most potent heat 
trapping gas, into the atmosphere.

Coal-fired power plants Upon burning, coal produces a number 
of gaseous by-products, including carbon 
dioxide, nitrogen oxide, sulphur dioxide and 
methane gas. 

Tar sands drilling and exploration The extraction process is more challenging 
than with conventional crude leading to 
higher emissions. Air pollution results from 
an increase in nitrogen oxide and sulphur 
doxide release.

Agri-Commodities Deforestation and/or burning tropical 
rainforest in order to produce agri-
commodities

The main impacts of deforestation include 
reduced biodiversity, loss of carbon sinks, 
release of emissions, disrupted water cycles 
and soil degradation.

Production or trading in palm oil The palm oil industry has grown rapidly and 
is a major driver of deforestation, resulting 
in biodiversity loss, illegal logging, forced 
resettlement of communities and pollution.

Fisheries Commercial drift net / bottom trawling 
fishing

Marine sediments are the largest pool of 
organic carbon on the planet therefore 
commercial bottom trawling causes a 
significant release of emissions contributing 
to ocean acidification and destruction of 
marine habitat.
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Restricted Activities
We may restrict a transaction or exposure through tenor, notional or concentration limits. The transaction 
approval committee consider any reputational risks, with the credit committee determining the final level of 
exposure and any restrictions.

Sector Activity Restriction

Mining Mining of uranium and thorium ores 
Mining or manufacturing of fertilizers/
nitrogen compounds/chemicals

Transaction by transaction basis (No 
exposure to this activity at  
31 December 2024).

Energy Oil and Gas including fracking (excluding 
prohibited activities)

Total exposure < 25% of credit economic 
capital.

Industrials Manufacture of cement  
Manufacture of paper and pulp

Transaction by transaction basis (No 
exposure to this activity at  
31 December 2024).

Consumer Logging Transaction by transaction basis (No 
exposure to this activity at  
31 December 2024).

Monitored Activities
No restrictions are placed on monitored activities, however due to the activities being sensitive to 
environmental (including climate) risks, exposure will be reported quarterly and monitored against overall 
exposure levels.

Sector Activity

Mining and Metals Manufacturing and processing of metals and minerals (excluding metal traders).
All activities related to mining (excluding prohibited and restricted activities).

Power and 
Infrastructure

Power generation (excluding coal and renewable).
Energy transmission.

Industrials Chemicals.
Automobiles. 
Manufacturing (excluding group 1 and 2 lists). 
Airlines.

Consumer Agricultural activities including cultivation, processing, distribution and wholesale.

These activities are monitored on a quarterly basis and presented at the Risk Management Committee for 
review, and thereafter they are presented at the Board Risk Management Committee.
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Risks and Opportunities identified
Our balance sheet generally consists of assets with shorter (i.e. less than one-year) tenors. Our planning 
cycle is a four-year cycle. On this basis, we have assessed our sustainability-related risks and opportunities 
as short term (less than one year), medium term (between one year and four years) and long term (greater 
than four years).

The tables below indicate our current view and potential time horizons over which the strategy could be 
impacted by climate related risks: 

Climate-related risks identified over short, medium and long term

Physical risks

Severity of change

Acute Chronic

Climate-related events •	 Increased severity of extreme 
weather events such as 
hurricanes, wildfires and 
flooding;

•	 Heat stress – acute periods of 
extreme temperatures; and

•	 Water stress – acute periods of 
severe water shortage.

•	 Changes in precipitation 
patterns and extreme variability 
in weather patterns;

•	 Rising mean temperatures; and

•	 Rising sea levels.

Time horizon Short, medium and long Long

Actual/potential impacts on 
business model and strategy

•	 Short lived extreme weather 
impacts;

•	 Disruptions to operations, 
transportation, supply chains, 
etc.; and

•	 Damage to physical assets and 
impacts on insurance pricing 
and availability.

•	 Impacts due to slow insidious 
change such as increasing 
temperature or water stress; 
and

•	 Degradation or limitations on 
resource availability e.g. labour, 
natural resources, etc. 

Risk types impacted Credit, market, liquidity,  
operational 

Credit, operational
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Transition risks 

Risk driver

Policy and Legal Market and Economic Technology Reputation

Description •	 Increased pricing 
of GHG emissions;

•	 Enhanced 
reporting 
obligations;

•	 Regulation of 
products and 
services; and

•	 Exposure to 
litigation.

•	 Changing 
customer 
behaviour;

•	 Increased cost of 
materials; and

•	 Uncertain market 
signals.

•	 Substitution of 
products and 
services with lower 
emissions options;

•	 Unsuccessful 
investment in new 
technologies; and

•	 Costs to transition 
to lower emissions 
technology.

•	 Consumer 
preference shifts;

•	 Stigmatisation of 
sector; and

•	 Stakeholder 
concern.

Time horizon Short – long Short – long Short – long Short – long

Actual/
potential 
impacts on 
business 
model and 
strategy 

•	 Clients in high 
carbon industries 
such as oil and 
gas could see 
higher production 
costs and reduced 
demand for 
their products 
through emission 
pricing schemes, 
resulting in 
assets becoming 
stranded, impaired 
and written-off; 
and

•	 Such clients are 
also likely to be 
more exposed to 
climate-related 
litigation and 
scrutiny around 
their transition 
plans.

•	 Market sentiment 
towards carbon 
intensive assets 
could change 
suddenly due to 
policies such as 
carbon taxes;

•	 Sharp declines 
in clean energy 
costs could see 
consumers move 
away from carbon-
intensive products 
and businesses; 
and

•	 Clients in high 
carbon industries 
could see sudden 
declines in price / 
valuation of their 
assets, increasing 
the probability 
of default (PD) 
or assets being 
stranded.

•	 The market share 
and pricing power 
of fossil fuel 
companies may be 
reduced leading to 
falls in valuation 
and increase in 
PD; and

•	 Clients in 
industries with 
high energy 
consumption 
such as those in 
steel or chemical 
production will 
incur significant 
costs to transition 
to lower-carbon 
alternatives, 
impacting margins 
and profitability.

•	 Clients or entire 
industries may 
suffer declines in 
revenues or higher 
costs to comply 
with regulation or 
may be seen as 
being too slow to 
transition their 
business to a low-
carbon model;

•	 These issues 
could threaten 
the viability of 
such clients or 
industries; and

•	 We could in-turn 
suffer reputational 
damage from 
association with 
such clients and/
or industries.

Risk types 
impacted

Credit, market, 
liquidity, operational 

Credit, market, 
liquidity, operational

Credit, market, 
operational

Credit, market, 
liquidity, operational
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The tables below indicate our current view and potential time horizons for identified opportunities:

Sustainability-related opportunities over short, medium and long term

Commodities

Opportunity Renewable structured 
finance deals

Financing of lower 
carbon products

Financing of metals 
critical to the energy 

transition 

Description •	 Seek to prioritise 
solar, wind, batteries, 
transmission 
infrastructure and 
other deals with 
strong sustainability 
credentials and within 
risk appetite. 

•	 Build out of derivatives 
in lower carbon 
products;

•	 Increase in physical 
financing of lower 
carbon products; and

•	 Build out more 
comprehensive 
Liquefied natural gas 
(LNG) /gas product 
suite

Focus on metals critical 
to the energy transition 
(copper, cobalt, nickel, 
lithium);

•	 	Seek to increase 
trading and financing of 
critical metals; and

•	 	Execute plan for 
product evolution (Ni 
matte and MHP, copper 
concentrates, and 
lithium). 

Time horizon Short – long Short – medium Short – medium

Actual/
potential 
impacts on 
business model 
and strategy

•	 Increase the pipeline 
and diversity of energy 
product offerings;

•	 Develop expertise as 
sector evolves; and

•	 Changes to 
geographical and 
customer portfolio.

•	 Facilitate client’s 
transition to lower-
carbon fuels.

•	 Low impact on 
business model as 
expansion of current 
business lines.
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FIC

Opportunity Supporting economic and social development 
 in emerging markets 

Description •	 Create access to and liquidity in emerging markets by developing capital 
markets, international debt mobilisation and investment; and

•	 Continued financing of emerging market sovereigns, state owned 
enterprises and financial institutions in support of the development.

Time horizon Short – long

Actual/potential impacts 
on business model and 
strategy

•	 Potential increased coverage and exposure to emerging and developing 
regions and countries; and

•	 Increase regional expertise capabilities.
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Resilience
Given our largely short-dated 
trading focus, we can be agile 
in mitigating some aspects of 
climate-related risks as well as 
capturing relevant opportunities as 
markets develop. In the medium 
to long term the requirement for 
carbon-based working capital 
solutions may decline. The impacts 
to business planning and strategy 
will be regularly evaluated as 
sustainability and climate-related 
events evolve.

Our scenario analysis capabilities 
continue to strengthen, though 
remain largely focused on 
stressing the current portfolio 
positions. Under the current 
scenarios explored, we consider 
our business model and strategy 
resilient. Further resilience will 
be tested in future as our model 
matures. For further details on our 
scenario analysis refer to scenario 
analysis section.
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Risk Management 
Our approach is to treat climate-related risk as a cross-cutting risk 
that manifests through, or impacts on, other risk types such as credit, 
market and operational risk.

Climate-related risks can crystallise through either physical or 
transition risk events. The transmission channels from a climate-
related risk that then manifest as a financial or non-financial risk are 
wide ranging, with an event potentially having a consequential impact 
on multiple risk types.

We define climate risk in our risk taxonomy in the following way:

Climate-related risks refer to risks (credit, market, operational, etc) 
posed by the exposure of the Bank or financial sector to physical and 
transition risks caused by, or related to, climate change.

Physical risks can be either: 

•	 Acute risks arising from climate and weather-related events such 
as hurricanes, floods, wildfires and droughts; and

•	 Chronic risks arising from longer term shifts in climate and 
weather patterns such as rising mean temperatures, rising sea 
levels and ocean acidification.

Transition risks relate to financial risks which may result from the 
process of adjustment to a lower-carbon and more circular economy. 
A range of factors could influence this adjustment including:

•	 policy and regulation;

•	 disruptive technology and business models;

•	 shifting societal sentiment; and

•	 legal case law.

The principal risk type frameworks and policies include specific 
climate-related considerations. A policy that covers climate-related 
risk (as a subset of environmental risk) is reviewed and updated 
annually. As a cross-cutting risk, our existing risk governance 
framework is utilised to manage climate-related risk. For example, 
if a counterparty is considered to be particularly vulnerable to 
climate-related risk through the credit assessment process, this will 
be factored in when determining the appropriate credit rating and 
appetite towards the counterparty. 
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Climate-related risk management

The table below illustrates how climate-related risk is embedded within key processes of our existing  
risk framework. 

Risk type Definition Climate impact Key risk management processes

Credit risk Risk of loss arising out of failure of 
counterparties to meet their financial or 
contractual obligations when due.

A counterparty could be exposed either 
through physical risks to its operations and 
assets or transition risk to its sector(s) of 
operation.

Economic impacts may affect their cash 
flows, leading to a higher PD and/or loss 
given default (LGD).

•	 Climate-related impacts assessed as part of credit analysis through a scorecard;

•	 The internal credit rating may be adjusted as a result of the scorecard output;

•	 Scenario analysis undertaken on the credit portfolio (see scenario analysis section); and

•	 Sustainability assessment undertaken at client on-boarding stage for corporate counterparties.

Market risk Risk associated with the change in market 
value, earnings (actual or effective) 
or future cash-flows of a standalone 
underlying financial instrument.

Market value loss due to societal, legal and 
technological response to climate change 
resulting in investor perception of profitability 
and a consequent revaluation.

Physical risk channels can also result in 
market value loss due to weather impacts 
particularly affecting commodities and 
property.

•	 Climate-related stress tests implemented and run alongside other macroeconomic stress scenarios.

Liquidity risk Risk that a firm, although solvent, does 
not have available sufficient financial 
resources to enable it to meet its 
obligations as they fall due.

Commodity prices could change significantly 
leading to margining.

Depositors impacted by climate-related risks 
may withdraw funding to meet their cash flow 
needs.

•	 Climate-related factors considered within the internal stress scenario.

Operational risk Risk of loss suffered as a result of 
inadequacy of, or a failure in, internal 
processes, people and systems or from 
external events.

Physical risk increased through severe 
weather events affecting our own (or 
suppliers) operations and assets could lead 
to financial loss as assets are impacted or 
liabilities arise.

Liability claims may increase from parties 
who have suffered climate-related losses and 
seek to recover those losses from those they 
deem responsible.

•	 Climate-related considerations embedded within new product approvals, risk and control self-
assessment and business continuity scenarios; 

•	 Operational risk scenario analysis impact of climate change on relevant scenarios; and

•	 The Physical Commodities Risk Assurance function includes a modelled projection of certain perils 
such as flood risk on storage facilities as part of the on-boarding assessment.

Supplier risk Risk of a supplier failing such that the 
Group is impacted by no longer receiving 
the relevant service. 

Suppliers, and their chains, could be 
impacted or disrupted as a result of climate-
related events impacting their ability to 
provide the relevant services.

•	 	The supplier risk methodology includes climate-related considerations as part of a wider environmental 
risk consideration during the supplier on-boarding process.
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Climate-related risk management

The table below illustrates how climate-related risk is embedded within key processes of our existing  
risk framework. 

Risk type Definition Climate impact Key risk management processes

Credit risk Risk of loss arising out of failure of 
counterparties to meet their financial or 
contractual obligations when due.

A counterparty could be exposed either 
through physical risks to its operations and 
assets or transition risk to its sector(s) of 
operation.

Economic impacts may affect their cash 
flows, leading to a higher PD and/or loss 
given default (LGD).

•	 Climate-related impacts assessed as part of credit analysis through a scorecard;

•	 The internal credit rating may be adjusted as a result of the scorecard output;

•	 Scenario analysis undertaken on the credit portfolio (see scenario analysis section); and

•	 Sustainability assessment undertaken at client on-boarding stage for corporate counterparties.

Market risk Risk associated with the change in market 
value, earnings (actual or effective) 
or future cash-flows of a standalone 
underlying financial instrument.

Market value loss due to societal, legal and 
technological response to climate change 
resulting in investor perception of profitability 
and a consequent revaluation.

Physical risk channels can also result in 
market value loss due to weather impacts 
particularly affecting commodities and 
property.

•	 Climate-related stress tests implemented and run alongside other macroeconomic stress scenarios.

Liquidity risk Risk that a firm, although solvent, does 
not have available sufficient financial 
resources to enable it to meet its 
obligations as they fall due.

Commodity prices could change significantly 
leading to margining.

Depositors impacted by climate-related risks 
may withdraw funding to meet their cash flow 
needs.

•	 Climate-related factors considered within the internal stress scenario.

Operational risk Risk of loss suffered as a result of 
inadequacy of, or a failure in, internal 
processes, people and systems or from 
external events.

Physical risk increased through severe 
weather events affecting our own (or 
suppliers) operations and assets could lead 
to financial loss as assets are impacted or 
liabilities arise.

Liability claims may increase from parties 
who have suffered climate-related losses and 
seek to recover those losses from those they 
deem responsible.

•	 Climate-related considerations embedded within new product approvals, risk and control self-
assessment and business continuity scenarios; 

•	 Operational risk scenario analysis impact of climate change on relevant scenarios; and

•	 The Physical Commodities Risk Assurance function includes a modelled projection of certain perils 
such as flood risk on storage facilities as part of the on-boarding assessment.

Supplier risk Risk of a supplier failing such that the 
Group is impacted by no longer receiving 
the relevant service. 

Suppliers, and their chains, could be 
impacted or disrupted as a result of climate-
related events impacting their ability to 
provide the relevant services.

•	 	The supplier risk methodology includes climate-related considerations as part of a wider environmental 
risk consideration during the supplier on-boarding process.
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Climate scenario analysis
Our approach to quantifying impacts of climate-related scenario analysis continues to evolve. We expect to 
further strengthen our approach, in particular through modelling a cumulative impact of the scenarios over a 
specified time horizon. Given this, outputs are not currently being used to actively inform business decisions 
but have been used during the year to inform business resilience analyses performed.

We use scenarios provided by Oxford Economics’ Global Climate Service (OE), enabling assessment of 
physical and transition risks over short, medium and long-term horizons.

Assumptions per 
Oxford Economics

Scenarios

Net Zero  
(early action)

Low Demand  
(late action)

Climate Catastrophe  
(limited action)

Narrative Net zero emissions are 
achieved through early 
policy action, technological 
advances and global 
coordination.

The impact on the economy 
is modest, with higher 
investment helping to offset 
carbon taxes.

Governments impose strict 
climate policy in response 
to rising physical risk. 
However, the failure to 
advance the supply side 
transformation forces the 
world to reduce energy 
demand to meet climate 
goals.

Increased government 
action helps reduce energy 
demand and enhance 
energy efficiency.

Governments fail to meet 
their policy pledges and 
the concentration of 
greenhouse gases in the 
atmosphere intensifies.

Global temperatures warm 
by 2.3ºc by 2050, resulting 
in severe physical damages 
that accelerate over time.

Nature of transition Smooth Disruptive Incomplete

Carbon price 
(2050, World mean, 
$/tCO2)

880 1,100 46

Carbon tax revenue 
recycling 50% 50% 0-50%

Cumulative green 
energy investment 
($ trn)

132 93 43

Oil price (2050 $/b) 29.6 29.1 116.9

Innovation Medium Medium Low

Carbon capture Medium None None

Physical risk Low Low Extreme

Global warming 
(2050, mean) 1.6ºc 1.6ºc 2.3ºc

Source: Oxford Economics Q4 2024 Global Climate Service.
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Conducting climate scenario analysis raises several challenges. The time horizons being assessed are 
beyond normal business planning horizons, introducing significant levels of uncertainty. Data gaps remain 
a challenge and necessitate a greater use of proxies and assumptions. The utilisation of a static balance 
sheet does not factor in how counterparties may adapt or evolve. The need to be forward-looking with climate 
scenario analysis also means a probability distribution from past shocks is not possible.

In order to assess the impact of climate change on our business, we leverage predictive capabilities delivered 
by OE. Historically being one of the leaders in economic forecasting, OE translates widely accepted climate 
scenario narratives into a set of macroeconomic projections, out of which we select the variables which are 
most relevant to our portfolio. Once we finalise a pool of risk drivers, we implement climate scenario analysis 
within our internally maintained economic capital calculation framework. This allows us to align industry 
accepted views on climate pathways with our internal assessment of portfolio risk. 

The outcome of such an exercise produces the entire distribution of possible losses conditional on pre-
specified scenarios, a pool of risk drivers and the magnitudes of their shocks, over specific one-year time 
horizons for each scenario i.e. year 1, 5, 10, etc. The flexibility of this approach allows calculation of a wide 
variety of financial KPIs. However, Expected Loss (“EL”), is taken as the most relevant measure of future 
riskiness and severity of each scenario.

We have conducted a scenario analysis exercise based on a static balance sheet using the December 
2024 portfolio. The magnitude of shocks was taken from the years 2025, 2027, 2029, 2034, 2039, 2044 
and 2050 of the chosen OE scenarios, which cover a range of different policy and regulatory pathways, 
temperature outcomes and time horizons.

The size of the bubble below indicates the peak EL across all of the years, with the Low Demand (late 
action) scenario producing the largest losses. Climate Catastrophe demonstrated increasing losses over the 
time horizons assessed. As a scenario that is focused on limited action, and therefore a high physical risk 
scenario, damages would be expected to accelerate over time and outside of the periods assessed.

Peak Annual Expected Loss by Climate Scenario

Physical Risks

Tr
an

si
tio

n 
Ri

sk
s

Net Zero

Low Demand

Climate 
Catastrophe

Peak EL of 
$83m 

in 2034

Peak EL of 
$114m 
in 2034

Peak EL of 
$72m 

in 2050
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Metrics and Targets
We remain committed to transitioning towards a lower carbon economy. Given the complexity and relative 
trade-offs in our markets and products, we are currently focused on establishing a baseline for our activities. 
In line with our risk appetite and efforts to manage climate-related risks, we will monitor our progress and 
aim to set targets in the future. 

We have identified the following sectors with elevated climate risk (as noted in the table below) as a metric 
and continue to monitor our exposure to these sectors.

Credit exposure at year end to sectors with elevated climate risk 

Sector 2024 
($m)

2023 
($m) YoY % change

Agriculture 6.5 47.6 -86.3%

Airlines 51.1 17.8 >100%

Automobiles 121.6 181.0 -32.8%

Chemicals 41.5 55.6 -25.4%

Coal1 18.8 23.0 -18.3%

Manufacturing2 25.2 33.2 -24.1%

Metals3 466.6 358.9 30.0%

Mining 267.2 175.2 52.5%

Oil and Gas4 935.4 1,212.9 -22.9%

Power Generation5 108.3 73.3 47.7%

Elevated climate risk exposures as % of total exposures 24.5% 26.6% -7.8%

Notes:
Credit exposure represents lending and derivative (measured as potential future exposure at 95% confidence interval) expo-
sure. 
1	 Represents exposure to power generation from coal-fired power plants.
2	 Represents exposure to manufacturers other than automobiles and metals.
3	 Represents exposure to manufacturing of metals including smelting. It does not include metal traders.
4	 Represents exposure across the value chain i.e. upstream, midstream and downstream.
5	 Represents exposure to all other forms of power generation excluding coal.

In accordance with the Companies (Directors’ Report) and Limited Liability Partnerships (Energy and Carbon 
Report) Regulations 2018 and relevant regulatory requirements, we disclose our Streamlined Energy and 
Carbon Reporting below.

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting 
We monitor our energy use and proactively identify ways to generate energy efficiencies. This includes 
complying with the UK Government’s policy on Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting.

The 2024 footprint has been produced in line with the Greenhouse Gas Protocol Corporate Accounting 
and Reporting Standard (GHG Protocol), and we use the operational control approach to report operational 
emissions. This means we account for 100% of emissions from operations over which we have operational 
control (ICBCS and its subsidiaries).
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The below summary reflects the emissions across our UK and Global operations year on year.

Summary
2024 

UK
2024 

Global
2023 

UK
2023 

Global

Scope 1 emissions1 / tCO2e 76 88 76 100

Scope 2 emissions, location-based / tCO2e 345 711 367 734

Scope 3 emissions / tCO2e 2,788 3,644 3,933 4,952

Total gross emissions /tCO2e 3,209 4,443 4,377 5,786

Energy consumption2: emissions / kWh 2,069,380 2,989,588 2,148,224 3,194,708

Intensity ratio3: tCO2e / Average FTE 4.4018 5.1722 6.1643 6.8558

1	 tCO2e – tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent.
2	 Total Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions per kilowatt-hour (kWh). 
3	 Average full-time equivalent (FTE) headcount.
 
Scope 1 – All direct emissions from sources that are owned or controlled by ICBCS, for example, natural gas from boilers and 
fugitive emissions (gases accidentally released into the atmosphere) from air conditioning units.
Scope 2 – Indirect emissions from electricity purchased and used by the organisation. Emissions are created during the 
generation of purchased energy, for example, purchased electricity and district heating. This is calculated using an average 
emissions intensity for the grids on which the energy consumption occurs.
Scope 3 – All other indirect emissions from non-owned or controlled sources, including business travel (air, rail, grey fleet, and 
rental cars) and upstream leased assets (data centres). This does not include the emissions that we finance. 

We obtained activity data from the respective landlords and service providers. For business travel, we used 
the distance-based method (kilometres travelled) and cabin class where applicable. We converted the UK 
activity data into tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalents (tCO2e) by multiplying by external emissions factors 
obtained from the Department for Energy Security and Net Zero and Department for Business, Energy 
and Industrial Strategy – GHG Conversion Factors. For the global conversions we used the environmental 
guidelines of the applicable country.

Due to refining our data collection and validation process in 2024, which resulted in more accurate and 
granular data, we have made the following amendments to 2023:

•	 Scope 1 UK gas heating updated amounting to an increase of 5tCO2e;

•	 Scope 3 UK data centre updated amounting to an increase of 160tCO2e; and

•	 Scope 3 UK and global business travel updated amounting to an increase of 1,402tCO2e and 
1,076tCO2e respectively.

The intensity metric we have chosen to use is tonnes CO2e per average FTE headcount. For the UK 
operations we have used the UK average FTE of 729 (2023: 710). This gives a total intensity ratio of 4.4018 
tCO2e/FTE (2023: 6.1643 tCO2e/FTE). For global operations we have used an average FTE of 859 (2023: 
844).

The UK office refurbishment is set to commence in Q2 2025 with an expected completion of Q4 2026. We 
therefore only expect to realise the full benefit from energy saving initiatives in 2027.

We optimised travel efficiency from the UK, by consolidating multiple client engagements into singular trips, 
resulting in a large reduction in Scope 3 business travel.

Whilst our sustainability report focuses on climate-related disclosures, as an organisation, we have taken the 
more holistic view of sustainability which includes monitoring our ED&I related metrics as disclosed below.
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ED&I Related metrics
There are over forty nationalities (indicated in dark grey in the graph below) represented in the Bank across 
all three regions that we operate in. 

Our top five nationalities, representing 88% (2023: 85.5%) of permanent and fixed term employees, are 
shown below, with our highest representation being British followed by Chinese.

Nationalities

509
British

95
Chinese

55
Singaporean

45
Indian

23
American
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Age cohort split by gender and grade
Overall 33.9% (2023: 34.2%) of our permanent and fixed term employees are female. 19.4% (2023: 17.4%) 
at Director level and above and 32.2% (2023: 33%) at senior manager level.

The majority of our employees fall within the 31-50 age bracket with the largest differential between genders 
falling in the same bracket.

2024

Level Age Male Female Total1 Male % Female %

Director, Managing Director and 
Executive Managing Director

Under 30 0 0 0 0% 0%
31-50 101 27 128 79% 21%
50+ 57 11 68 84% 16%

Senior Manager
Under 30 0 2 2 0% 100%
31-50 102 56 158 65% 35%
50+ 33 6 39 85% 15%

Manager
Under 30 14 9 23 61% 39%
31-50 70 44 114 61% 39%
50+ 23 10 33 70% 30%

Staff
Under 30 60 50 110 55% 45%
31-50 64 52 116 55% 45%
50+ 22 13 35 63% 37%

Total
Under 30 74 61 135 55% 45%
31-50 337 179 516 65% 35%
50+ 135 40 175 77% 23%

546 280 826 66% 34%
1 Our demographic data is based on permanent and fixed term employees as at 31 December 2024.

2023

Level Age Male Female Total1 Male % Female %

Director, Managing Director and 
Executive Managing Director

Under 30 0 0 0 0% 0%
31-50 114 26 140 81% 19%
50+ 52 9 61 85% 15%

Senior Manager
Under 30 3 2 5 60% 40%
31-50 88 51 139 63% 37%
50+ 29 6 35 83% 17%

Manager
Under 30 10 4 14 71% 29%
31-50 80 57 137 58% 42%
50+ 20 5 25 80% 20%

Staff
Under 30 57 53 110 52% 48%
31-50 65 51 116 56% 44%
50+ 18 14 32 56% 44%

Total
Under 30 70 59 129 54% 46%
31-50 347 185 532 65% 35%
50+ 119 34 153 78% 22%

536 278 814 66% 34%
1 Our demographic data is based on permanent and fixed term employees as at 31 December 2023.
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3. Directors’ report
Introduction
The Directors of ICBC Standard Bank Plc (‘the Company’ or ‘ICBCS’) and its subsidiaries (together ‘the 
Group’) present their report and audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 in 
accordance with Section 415 of the Companies Act 2006. 

The review of the Group including its principal activities, risks and uncertainties are set out in the Strategic 
report on pages 1 to 19. The Strategic report contains information on certain matters which would otherwise 
be required in the Directors’ report, including under schedule 7 of the Large and Medium-sized Companies 
and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008, namely; financial instruments, future developments 
in the business of the Company and engagement with its stakeholders. The streamlined energy and carbon 
report is included in the Sustainability report.

Going concern basis 
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis as the Directors are satisfied that 
the Company and Group have adequate resources to continue in business for a period of at least 12 months 
from approval of the financial statements. In making this assessment, the Directors have considered a wide 
range of information relating to present and future conditions, the impact of forthcoming regulatory changes, 
the business plan for the next four years, and the ability and willingness of the shareholders to provide 
support as and when required. This assessment also considered the Group’s forecasts, which included a 
combined stress test on capital and liquidity. 

ICBC has a 60% controlling interest in the Company, with the 40% balance owned by SBG. The Company 
and Group maintain a strong capital and liquidity position. The demonstrable ongoing support by ICBC is an 
important aspect supporting the going concern assessment. 

ICBC has issued a statement of support in favour of the Company confirming its position as a long-term 
investment and as an integral part of ICBC’s overall operational strategy, which remains valid until ICBC 
ceases to be the controlling shareholder. ICBC confirms that it intends to financially support the Company 
in ensuring that it meets all financial obligations as they fall due, including the maintenance of a minimum 
capital adequacy level. Specifically, ICBC intends to provide funding and capital support to the Company and 
commits its intention to subscribe for certain ‘qualifying instruments’ as and when ICBC receives written 
notice from the Company that its capital and reserve funds amount to (or will foreseeably in the near-
term amount to) less than the minimum required amount of capital and reserve funds as determined in 
accordance with the rules and regulations of the Prudential Regulation Authority (or its successor).

The Group’s policies and processes for managing credit, liquidity and market risk, and the approach to 
capital management and allocation, and stress testing, are described in note 37 to the financial statements.
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Dividends 
In March 2024, a dividend payment of $49.9 million was paid on the ordinary shares of the Company. 

The Directors have approved a final dividend payment of $41.8 million in respect of the financial year ended 
31 December 2024, which will be paid in March 2025.

Internal control and financial reporting 
The Directors who held office at the date of approval of this report confirm that, as far as they are each 
aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Group’s auditors are unaware, and that the 
Directors have each taken all steps that they ought to have taken as directors to make them aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish that the Group’s auditors are aware of that information.

The Directors are responsible for reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls. Procedures 
have been designed and established for safeguarding assets against unauthorised use or disposition; 
for maintaining proper accounting records; and for the reliability of financial information used within the 
business or for publication. Such procedures are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure 
to achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material 
misstatement, errors, losses or fraud.

Such procedures for the ongoing identification, evaluation and management of the significant risks faced by 
the Group have been in place throughout the year and up to 28 February 2025, the date of approval of the 
consolidated annual report for the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Directors and senior management have adopted policies which set out the Board’s attitude to risk 
and internal control. Key risks are identified, reviewed and managed by the Board on an ongoing basis via 
procedures such as physical controls, credit and other authorisation limits and segregation of duties. 

The Board also receives regular reports on any risk matters that need to be brought to its attention. 
Significant risks identified in connection with the development of new activities are subject to consideration 
by the Board. For the period under review, the Directors are satisfied that the Group’s risk management 
processes operated effectively and that the Group has managed its risk in support of its strategy.

There are well established budgeting procedures in place and reports are presented regularly to the Board 
detailing the results of each principal business unit, variances against budget and prior year, and other 
performance data. 

The effectiveness of the internal control system is reviewed regularly by the Board and the Board Audit 
Committee, which also receive reports of reviews undertaken by the internal audit function and from the 
external auditors, including observations on identified internal control matters. In reviewing the internal 
control system, the Board also considers regulatory requirements and expectations.

Transactions with Directors and related parties 
There are no loans made to the Directors and details of related party transactions are included in note 33 to 
the financial statements.
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Directors’ liability 
insurance and indemnities 
The Group maintained directors’ and 
officers’ liability insurance during the 
twelve months ended 31 December 2024. 
The Company has entered into qualifying 
third-party indemnity arrangements for the 
benefit of all its Directors in a form and 
scope which comply with the requirements 
of the Companies Act 2006 and which 
remain in force.

Directors and directors’ 
interests 
The Directors who held office during 2024 
or who hold office at the date of this report 
are as follows:
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Current Directors:

Isabella da Costa Mendes 
Independent Non-Executive 

Director

Simon Davies 
Appointed as Chairman and 
Independent Non-Executive 
Director on 8 October 2024

Judith Eden 
Independent Non-Executive 

Director and Senior  
Independent Director

Andile Kenneth Fihla 
Non-Executive Director

David Hodnett 
Non-Executive Director

Fang Hu 
Non-Executive Director

Yabing Hu 
Non-Executive Director

Philip Hurley 
Executive Director

Binliang Jin 
President and Executive Director

Garry Jones 
Independent Non-Executive 

Director

Li Li 
Non-Executive Director

Yi Qiu 
Appointed as Executive Director 

on 12 September 2024

Wenbin Wang 
Chief Executive and  
Executive Director

Former directors
Andrew Simmonds – Resigned as Chairman and Independent Non-
Executive Director on 8 October 2024.

Shoujiang Wang – Resigned as Executive Director on 31 August 2024.

None of the Directors held any beneficial interest in the ordinary share 
capital of the Company during the year, or as at 31 December 2024.
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Branches
The Company has an operating branch in Singapore. 

Political donations
The Group did not make any political donations or incur any political expenditure during the year.

Auditor 
Deloitte LLP has indicated its willingness to continue as auditor of the Group for the year ended  
31 December 2025. Accordingly, a resolution is to be proposed at the next annual general 
meeting for the re-appointment of Deloitte LLP as auditor of the Group.

Employment of Disabled Persons
It is the Group’s policy to ensure that all employees and job applicants are 
given equal opportunities and that they do not face discrimination on 
disability or any other grounds. The Group is committed to providing support 
to disabled employees to enable them to work to maximum effect within 
any limits imposed by their disability, including ensuring appropriate 
opportunities for training, career development and promotion. Should 
an employee become disabled during their career with the Group, 
reasonable adjustments will be made where required.

Corporate Governance
The Group has applied the Wates Corporate Governance Principles 
for Large Private Companies for the year ended 31 December 2024. 
Where appropriate the Group additionally looks to follow corporate 
governance best practice in line with expectations of a regulated bank 
proportionate with its size and complexity. 

The following describes how the principles of the Wates Corporate 
Governance Code have been met. Additional information on the 
governance structure and processes underpinning the Group’s capital and 
risk management can be found in the Pillar 3 disclosure document. 

Principle 1 – Purpose and Leadership 
The Group’s purpose, as set by the Board, is to “serve our clients globally as the 
Commodities and Financial Markets platform of ICBC and Standard Bank”, and is 
underpinned by values of; Integrity, Openness, Prudence, Innovation and Excellence.

The purpose and values align directly with the desire to maintain a reputation for high standards 
of business conduct. Consistent with these values, the Board sets and oversees a culture, conduct and 
compliance agenda, which supports the way that the Group does business. 

An annual detailed strategic review and planning session is factored into the Board’s timetable, which 
provides the opportunity to assess and, if necessary, re-direct the Group’s strategic priorities. When making 
decisions on the strategic priorities, the Board considers the consequences in the long term with a view to 
growing and strengthening the sustainability of the business. The Group has a rolling four-year business plan 
which is updated, reviewed, and approved, by the Board at least annually. 
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The Directors receive a culture dashboard as part of the Chief Executive’s Board report and progress on 
culture and conduct are factored into the balanced scorecard review of the Bank’s performance by the 
Remuneration and People Committee on an annual basis.

Principle 2 – Board Composition 
The Board is led by an independent non-executive Chairman and there are a further eight non-executive 
directors, three of whom are also independent. The presence of four independent non-executive directors 
with extensive industry experience provides valuable challenge, which aids effective decision making. In 
addition, there are four executive directors including the Chief Executive. The Board agrees that to provide 
effective oversight of the Group’s business its members should collectively possess a broad range of 

backgrounds, skills, expertise, industry knowledge, and business and other experience. Two of the 
four Board committees are chaired by female independent non-executive directors and four 

nationalities are represented on the Board. 

The Board Remuneration and People Committee reviews proposed director 
appointments in accordance with suitability requirements and advises 

shareholders on proposed director appointments. There is a tailored induction 
programme for all new directors. 

Periodic Board skills self-assessments are carried out, which assist with 
identifying Board training areas and inform skills to be strengthened in 
future director appointments. 

During 2023 an externally led board effectiveness evaluation 
was undertaken with several actions agreed by the Board to be 
implemented to improve the governance framework, and in 2024 the 
remaining actions from this exercise were implemented. 

During the year, after serving on the Board for nine years, Mr Andrew 
Simmonds stepped down as the Chairman and was replaced by Mr 
Simon Davies. The Directors conducted a thorough externally-driven 
selection process to ensure the incoming Chairman possessed the 

requisite expertise, experience and skills to lead the Board.

Principle 3 – Director Responsibilities 
The Chairman is responsible for leading the development of, and 

monitoring the effective implementation of, policies and procedures for 
the induction, training and professional development of all Board members. 

In this regard, Board members participated in internal training and briefings 
during the year. Directors also supplement formal meetings and training with 

regular executive engagement meetings relevant to their roles. Directors are 
accountable for their continued professional development planning, linked to their 

roles and specific portfolios, and all Directors have access to the advice and services of the 
Company Secretary and may, if they wish, take professional advice at the Company’s expense.

The Board’s mandate, which is reviewed annually, includes the Board’s purpose, its authority, powers of 
delegation and terms of reference, and details its operations. The Board’s key responsibilities include to:
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•	 agree the Group’s objectives, and the strategies and plans for achieving these;

•	 ensure that an effective risk management process, including a robust and prudent risk appetite 
statement, exists and is maintained;

•	 assume ultimate responsibility for regulatory and legal compliance; 

•	 ensure that an adequate budget and planning process exists, that performance is measured against 
budgets and plans, and approve annual budgets for the Group; 

•	 articulate and maintain a culture of risk awareness and ethical behaviour for the Group to follow in 
pursuit of its business goals;

•	 ensure that reporting to the Board and its sub-committees is comprehensive across prudential 
requirements and the conduct of business;

•	 assume ultimate responsibility for the integrity of accounting and financial reporting systems, the 
approval of financial statements, oversight of capital and liquidity adequacy including approval of the 
Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP), Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process 
(ILAAP) and Recovery Plan (RP); 

•	 review and approve the Operational Resilience self-assessment and provide oversight of operational 
performance against impact tolerances; and

•	 oversee the Group’s responsibilities and response to Environmental (including climate change), Social 
and Governance matters, including setting strategic direction and risk appetite for sustainability related 
risks, monitoring strategy implementation, and providing oversight and approval of sustainability 
reporting and disclosures.

During 2024, the Board met for its scheduled quarterly Board and Board committee meetings. In addition, 
the Board held two strategy sessions in the third and fourth quarters of the year, where management’s 
strategic plans for 2025 and beyond were reviewed and discussed. These plans, once finalised, were 
incorporated into a four-year Business and Financial Plan which the Board approved in November 2024.

During the year, the Board delegated certain specific oversight and decision making to the following sub-
committees:

Board Audit Committee 
This independent non-executive board committee monitors the processes for identifying, evaluating and 
managing risks and controls. In particular, this includes the quality, integrity and reliability of financial and 
accounting control systems. The Committee’s other responsibilities are to review the scope of work of 
external and internal audit, to receive regular reports from internal audit and the external auditors and to 
review the financial statements focusing on accounting policies, and areas of management judgement and 
estimates. The Committee is also responsible for providing independent oversight of sustainability related 
disclosures (including as part of the Annual Report process). The Committee has scheduled quarterly 
meetings and ad-hoc meetings as required, and met five times during 2024. 

During 2024, the work of the Committee included:

•	 A review and endorsement of the Consolidated Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended  
31 December 2023, including consideration and challenge of the accounting treatment with respect to 
significant matters of judgement, major reporting items, significant transactions and accounting policy 
developments;

•	 Consideration of quarterly reports from the Chief Financial Officer including quarterly financial 
performance, significant transactions and matters of judgement, the reporting control environment and 
other notable financial items;

•	 Approval of the internal audit plan;
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•	 Reviewing completed internal audit assessments including reviewing and monitoring the closure of audit 
findings;

•	 Considered and confirmed the independence and effectiveness of internal audit; 

•	 Consideration of quarterly reports from the external auditor including their approach to the audit of key 
areas, such as physical commodities, IT systems and controls, valuations, day-1 profit recognition and 
the deferred tax asset; 

•	 Consideration of the external auditor’s management letter following completion of the annual audit and 
monitoring the completion of recommended actions; 

•	 Considered an evaluation of the external audit process, including the external auditors’ independence 
and effectiveness, and recommended the re-appointment of the external auditors; 

•	 The review and approval of non-audit services provided by the external auditors, in compliance with the 
non-audit services policy, to ensure that no conflicts of interest arise and independence is maintained; 
and 

•	 A review of the external auditor’s assurance report to the FCA on client assets for the year ended  
31 December 2023.

Membership: Judith Eden (chair), Isabella da Costa Mendes, Simon Davies and Garry Jones.

Andrew Simmonds served on this committee during the period until resigning as a director of the Company. 

Board Risk Management Committee 
This non-executive board committee provides an independent review and challenge to the Group’s risk 
and compliance policies and the composition of the risk portfolio, its concentrations and the risk-taking 
decisions of the Group, covering all aspects of risk including market, credit, conduct, country, liquidity, model, 
operational, climate, business and reputational risks. The Committee oversees the formulation of a robust 
and prudent risk appetite statement, its ongoing adherence and monitors the implementation of corrective 
actions in event of a breach. The Committee complements the Audit Committee which also oversees, 
inter alia, risk controls and their operation. The Committee has scheduled quarterly meetings and ad-hoc 
meetings as required, and met six times during 2024. 

During 2024, the work of the Committee included:

•	 Overseeing the setting and monitoring of risk appetite (including recommending the risk appetite 
statement to the Board for approval), in contemplation of the wider strategy, and the cascading of the risk 
appetite to the risk sub-types and limits; 

•	 Discussing the Groups’ risk profile, limits and potential mitigating actions in contemplation of the wider 
future strategy;

•	 Review of the Compliance Monitoring management information, including detailed analysis and 
discussions on the ongoing impact and implementation of sanctions on relevant jurisdictions;

•	 Review of the Bank’s stress testing and reverse stress testing scenarios;

•	 Review and challenge of the ICAAP, ILAAP, Recovery Plan and Solvent Wind Down analysis documents, 
with the Committee recommending the documents to the Board for approval;

•	 Consideration of the Bank’s Operational Resilience Self-Assessment, with the Committee recommending 
the Self-Assessment document to the Board for approval;

•	 Periodic reviews of the Bank’s environmental risk assessment including climate risk and monitoring of 
progress towards meeting regulatory expectations;

•	 Consideration on the wider implications of improvements to the Group’s model risk management 
following regulatory changes; 

•	 Consideration of lessons learned from cyber-attacks on third parties; 
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•	 Review of specific Emerging Markets risks and the impact to the Group’s market risk profile; 

•	 Reviewing the Group’s whistleblowing framework and reports; and 

•	 Reviewing the Group’s annual health and safety report. 

Membership: Isabella da Costa Mendes (chair), Simon Davies, Judith Eden, Andile Kenneth Fihla, David 
Hodnett, Yabing Hu, Garry Jones and Li Li. 

Andrew Simmonds served on this Committee during the period until resigning as a director of the Company. 

Board Remuneration and People Committee 
This non-executive board committee approves remuneration policy and long-term incentive schemes for staff, 
sets executive directors and other senior executives remuneration, and approves the Group’s annual salary 
and incentive review guidelines. The Committee acts in an advisory capacity to review and provide feedback 
to shareholders on proposed candidates for director appointments, including consideration of knowledge, 
skills and experience. The Committee has scheduled quarterly meetings and ad-hoc meetings as required, 
and met five times during 2024. 

During 2024, the work of the Committee included reviewing the Group’s:

•	 Headcount metrics and remuneration decisions across departments, whilst considering the impact of 
various factors such as employment market conditions and inflationary pressures; 

•	 Overall performance against an agreed Balanced Scorecard of performance metrics and the factoring of 
this into remuneration outcomes;

•	 Overall employee benefits package and comparison with external benchmarks; 

•	 Deferred remuneration awards due to vest to ensure that any matters which could warrant non-payment 
or clawback of prior payments are fully considered ahead of awards vesting; 

•	 People strategy and equity, diversity and inclusion (ED&I) plans, including the monitoring of progress 
against targets;

•	 Management’s proposed senior leadership changes and wider general succession plan for senior 
management; and

•	 Externally-driven process to select a new Board Chairman and discussing the proposed candidates’ 
experience, skills and overall suitability for the role. 

Membership: Garry Jones (chair), Simon Davies, Judith Eden, Andile Kenneth Fihla, Fang Hu and Li Li.

Andrew Simmonds served on this Committee during the period until resigning as a director of the Company.

Board IT Committee
This Committee assists the Board in discharging its duties in relation to oversight, at the strategic level, 
of the Group’s IT environment across technology execution, governance and resilience; cyber security and 
cyber resilience; technology investment; enterprise data management; regulatory interactions; and digital 
transformation and e-commerce.

During 2024, the work of the Committee included:

•	 Reviewing the Group’s technology strategy in line with ICBCS’ wider strategic aims;

•	 Overseeing progress on the Group’s significant technology-driven projects;

•	 Monitoring the Group’s technology headcount to facilitate strategic objectives; and

•	 Reviewing updates on technology governance and infrastructure stability. 
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The Committee complements the Board Audit and Board Risk Management Committees. The Committee met 
three times during 2024.

Membership: Garry Jones (chair), Isabella da Costa Mendes, David Hodnett, Yabing Hu, Philip Hurley, Yi Qiu 
and Wenbin Wang. 

Shoujiang Wang served on this Committee during the period until resigning as a director of the Company.

Executive Committee 
This Committee is responsible for the Group’s day-to-day management. Subject to the overall authority of the 
Board, the Committee meets regularly to develop business strategy, initiate and review strategic initiatives, 
review and recommend business plans to the Board, monitor financial performance against budget, monitor 
risk, and oversee key capital management and liquidity planning documents, and all matters related to 
regulatory responsibilities. The Committee reviews the viability early warning indicators on a monthly basis 
and ensures appropriate actions are taken. The Committee is responsible for formulating, for review and 
agreement by the Board, the Group’s response to Environmental (including climate change) and other 
Sustainability matters. 

The Committee has scheduled monthly meetings and additional ad-hoc meetings as required. 

The Committee comprises executive directors and other senior executives. Its members at the date of this 
report were Wenbin Wang (Chairman and Chief Executive), Philip Hurley (Chief Risk Officer), Binliang Jin 
(Alternate Chairman, President and Head of Global Markets), Yi Qiu (Deputy General Manager), Bradley 
Duncan (Chief Financial Officer), Pamela Hacker (Chief Operating Officer) and Matthew Zheng (Deputy 
General Manager). Other key business and functional heads are also standing attendees. Shoujiang Wang 
served on this Committee during the period until resigning as a director of the Company.

The Committee also reviews the key activities of the major sub-committees supporting the Executive 
Committee in fulfilling its responsibilities during the year, including: the Asset and Liability Management 
Committee, Risk Management Committee, Regulatory Compliance Committee, Counterparty Risk 
Management Committee, New Products and Significant Transactions Approval Committee, Transaction 
Acceptance Committee, Investment and Change Committee and Asia and New York Regional Management 
Committees.
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Principle 4 – Opportunity and Risk 
The Directors consider the long-term strategic opportunities as part of the annual strategic review and 
planning cycle. The Board sets the Group’s risk appetite statement and delegates responsibility to the Chief 
Executive and executive management team for pursuing business opportunities in line with the agreed 
business strategy, within the risk appetite. Opportunities identified by executive management which are 
outside of usual strategy and risk appetite are escalated to the Board for further review and consideration. 

New business opportunities are subject to rigorous internal governance and approval processes supported 
by specialist executive sub-committees including the New Products and Significant Transactions Approval 
Committee, Counterparty Risk Management Committee and the Transaction Acceptance Committee, with 
oversight from the Executive Committee. 

The Board has ultimate responsibility for the oversight of risk, capital planning, liquidity management and 
regulatory and legal compliance (including conduct risk) and delegates certain responsibilities to the Board 
Risk Management Committee and Board Audit Committee, as summarised earlier in this report. 

The principal risks to which the Group is exposed together with the mitigating actions are set out in note 37 
to the Group’s annual financial statements. This note also includes further information on risk management, 
including the governance structure of the risk management framework, stress testing and detailed risk 
category descriptions and analysis. 

Principle 5 – Remuneration
As described above, the Board delegates oversight of remuneration policy and practice to the Board 
Remuneration and People Committee. The Group’s remuneration policy statement is included within its 
consolidated annual report and covers the remuneration governance process, principles and strategy, and 
the application of policies in relation to discretionary incentive awards, deferral and adjustment. 

Principle 6 – Stakeholder Relationships and Engagement
In consideration of the Directors’ responsibilities under section 172(1) of the Companies Act 2006 the Board 
has defined the Group’s key stakeholders as shareholders, employees, regulators, clients, suppliers, and 
community. Details on stakeholder relationships and engagement are included in the Strategic report. 
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities
The Directors are responsible for preparing the annual report, including the financial statements, in 
accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law, 
the Directors are required to prepare the Group and Company financial statements in accordance with 
international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 

Under company law, the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that 
they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and the Company and of the profit or loss of 
the Group for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are required to:

•	 properly select and apply accounting policies;

•	 present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, 
comparable and understandable information;

•	 provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in international 
accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 are insufficient 
to enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the 
entity’s financial position and financial performance; and

•	 make an assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and 
explain the Company’s transactions, and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position 
of the Company and the Group, and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the 
Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group 
and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

A copy of the financial statements is placed on our website. The Directors are responsible for the 
maintenance and integrity of the Company’s website. Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and 
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Responsibility statement of the Directors in respect of the annual financial report
The Directors confirm that to the best of their knowledge:

•	 the financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with international accounting 
standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006, give a true and fair view of 
the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Group and Company; 

•	 the Strategic report and Directors’ report include a fair review of the development and performance of 
the business and the position of the Group and Company, together with a description of the principal 
risks and uncertainties that they face;

•	 the annual report and financial statements, taken as a whole, are fair, balanced and understandable and 
provide the information necessary for shareholders to assess the Company’s and the Group’s position, 
performance, business model and strategy.

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by:

Paul Hanson  
Secretary						       
28 February 2025				  

20 Gresham Street 
London EC2V 7JE

Public company limited by shares 
Registered in England and Wales No. 2130447
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4. Remuneration policy statement

Introduction 
This statement provides stakeholders with an understanding of our remuneration philosophy and practices 
as at February 2025.

At the core of our strategy is the value we place on our people as a primary differentiator. Highly skilled and 
experienced people, both business generators and enablers, are essential in delivering sustainable growth 
for shareholders within prudent risk boundaries.

The primary objective of our remuneration strategy is to implement designs and practices that only reward 
value delivered on a pay for performance basis within the context of control management and sustainability, 
adjusted appropriately for risk assumed.

A second objective is to be competitive in remuneration in the global marketplace for skills. We seek to 
reward all our people in a manner that is fair, both to the individual and to shareholders, while avoiding a 
bonus-centric culture that distorts motivations and may encourage excessive risk-taking.

Promoting effective teamwork is a third vital component of our remuneration strategy. Remuneration scheme 
designs and performance evaluation processes must motivate strong and sustained performance within 
teams.

Within this wider strategic context, the Board Remuneration and People Committee (Remco) seeks to design 
and implement structures and practices that are specifically tailored to our business strategy.

Principles that underpin the remuneration strategy 
The key principles that underpin our remuneration strategy and determine individual reward are as follows: 

•	 We reward sustainable, long-term business results and no remuneration schemes are linked by formula 
to revenue generation.

•	 Individual rewards are determined according to Group, business unit and individual performance, based 
on financial and non-financial factors, including behaviour. Wherever available and relevant, external 
market information is used to inform remuneration decisions.

•	 The Bank aims to adhere to ICBC Head Office guidance on staff cost management which encourages 
institutions within the ICBC Group to better optimise cost resources allocation, monitor staff cost 
and improve cost efficiency, whilst also factoring in local market dynamics and a pay for performance 
philosophy. 

•	 The focus is on total reward, being fixed and variable remuneration. We seek to be competitive in 
both elements, but annual incentives are not a function of a guaranteed package. The intention is to 
provide both total compensation, and its composition, at market-competitive levels, drawing on relevant 
information from various sources, including external advisers.

•	 We operate a deferred discretionary incentive arrangement, the purpose of which is to strengthen the 
retention effect of incentive remuneration and also to enable us to comply with regulatory requirements, 
including those in relation to deferrals, malus and clawback.

•	 Employees identified as material risk takers (MRTs), as categorised under the qualitative and quantitative 
criteria of the UK FCA/PRA remuneration regulations, are subject to deferral conditions for any 
discretionary incentive awarded.

•	 We do not discriminate between employees based on diversity or any protected characteristic. Gender 
pay gap reporting is submitted per legal requirements and the outputs are reviewed at Board level with 
any necessary action plans taken.
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•	 Remuneration designs comply with all legal, regulatory and risk adjustment requirements (including the 
ability to apply positive adjustments for exceptional behaviours) and promote risk management in line 
with our stated strategy and risk tolerance. A robust risk adjustment policy is adhered to at an individual 
and pool level. Discretionary incentive awards may be considered for risk and performance adjustment in 
the case of an adjustment event; this could include malus during the vesting period of a deferred portion 
of an award and, for MRTs, clawback after vesting of any portion of an award.

Remuneration Governance
Remco is responsible for determining the broad policy for executive remuneration, and approving the entire 
individual remuneration packages for each of the executive directors and senior managers as determined by 
the relevant regulatory criteria, and other senior executives, as appropriate. ICBC management assignees are 
additionally subject to final ICBC Group moderation and adjustment.

The Committee oversees the remuneration policy and remuneration packages for executive remuneration 
for MRTs and ensure that competitive reward strategies and programmes are in place to facilitate the 
recruitment, motivation and retention of high-performing staff at all levels in support of realising corporate 
objectives and safeguarding shareholder interests.

As an integral part of growing and fortifying our human capital, Remco regularly reviews the remuneration 
policies, structures and practices, to ensure the principles behind the reward strategy and the elements of 
the strategy itself, are effective and in accordance with regulatory requirements.

Stakeholders are enabled to make a reasonable assessment of reward practices, and members of Remco 
have unrestricted access to information that informs their independent judgements on the possible effects 
that remuneration may have on compliance with risk, regulatory and behavioural controls.

Remco annually approves the incentive pool and oversees the principles applied in allocating this pool to 
business units and individual employees. The allocated pools are shaped by a combination of shareholder, 
Group and business unit profitability, and multi-year financial metrics, taking account of capital utilised, risks 
assumed and an evaluation of the business area’s future development and growth prospects.

Remco includes representatives from Board Audit and Board Risk Management Committees, including 
independent non-executive directors, who bring their relevant experience to the process. The Committee 
membership includes individuals who have experience in evaluating risk and are able to operate 
commercially and sustainably in a competitive environment, whilst maintaining transparency on 
remuneration designs with employees and with shareholders.
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5. Independent auditor’s report to the members of  
ICBC Standard Bank Plc

1. Opinion
In our opinion:

•	 the financial statements of ICBC Standard Bank Plc (the ‘Company’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’) give 
a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2024 
and of the Group’s profit for the year then ended;

•	 the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom adopted 
international accounting standards and IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB); 

•	 the Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom 
adopted international accounting standards and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the 
Companies Act 2006; and

•	 the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 
2006.

We have audited the financial statements which comprise:

•	 Consolidated balance sheet

•	 Consolidated income statement

•	 Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

•	 Consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity

•	 Consolidated statement of cash flows

•	 Company balance sheet

•	 Company statement of changes in shareholders’ equity

•	 Company statement of cash flows; 

•	 the material accounting policies; and

•	 the related notes 1 to 40.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the Group financial statements 
is applicable law, United Kingdom adopted international accounting standards and IFRS Accounting 
Standards as issued by the IASB. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation 
of the Company financial statements is applicable law and United Kingdom adopted international accounting 
standards as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

2. Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) 
and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. 

We are independent of the Group and the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’s 
(the ‘FRC’s’) Ethical Standard as applied to public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. The non-audit services provided to the Group and 
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Company for the year are disclosed in note 30.6 to the financial statements. We confirm that we have not 
provided any non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical Standard to the Group or the Company.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.

3. Summary of our audit approach
Key audit matters The key audit matters that we identified in the current year were:

•	 Valuation of level 3 financial instruments; 
•	 Recognition of the UK deferred tax asset (DTA).
Within this report, key audit matters are identified as follows:

Newly identified

Increased level of risk

Similar level of risk

Decreased level of risk

Materiality The materiality that we used for the Group financial statements was $13.6m which was determined on the basis 
of 0.7% of net assets of the Group.

Scoping Our audit was focused on the London entity of the Group, which accounts for 96% of the Group revenue and 98% 
of the Group net assets. 

Significant changes 
in our approach

No significant changes were noted in our approach except that we removed recognition of Day 1 profit or loss 
(P&L) arising from significant trades as a key audit matter.  We no longer consider this a key audit matter given the 
overall reduction in frequency of high dollar value Day 1 P&L trades in the financial year.

4. Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the Group’s and Company’s ability to continue to adopt the 
going concern basis of accounting included:

•	 obtaining and reviewing the Group’s going concern paper with reference to the most recent ICAAP, ILAAP 
and financial forecasts, challenging the reasonableness of management’s assessment;

•	 involving our regulatory specialists in the review of the ICAAP and ILAAP forecasts;

•	 assessing the assumptions supporting the forecast and the results from the stress tests;

•	 performing back-testing of management’s forecasts to assess the reliability of management’s forecasting 
process;

•	 considering scenario analysis and stress testing bearing in mind the current macroeconomic conditions; 

•	 with involvement of our regulatory specialists, reading regulatory correspondence in relation to prudential 
regulatory matters, including the most recent Capital Supervisory Review and Evaluation Process 
(‘C-SREP’) and Total Capital Requirement (‘TCR’), in order to identify any matters that may have a material 
impact on the Group’s capital resources and/or requirements for the forecast period; and

•	 considering the appropriateness of the disclosures within the financial statements along with 
management’s plans to mitigate the effect of any significant events or conditions.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or 
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group’s and Company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are 
authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in 
the relevant sections of this report.
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5. Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our 
audit of the financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of 
material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) that we identified. These matters included those which 
had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing 
the efforts of the engagement team.

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in 
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

5.1. Valuation of level 3 financial instruments 
Key audit matter 
description

Financial assets and financial liabilities classified as level 3 are those where significant unobservable 
inputs have been used in the valuation techniques to measure the fair value.

The Group’s trading and financing activities result in certain positions where prices or inputs are not readily 
available due to market illiquidity and have limited price transparency. As disclosed in note 24 to the 
financial statements, as at 31 December 2024, the Group had assets and liabilities measured at fair value 
amounting to $16,224.1m (2023: $14,885.8m) and $16,974.2m (2023: $12,458.3m) respectively, of 
which level 3 financial assets and financial liabilities were $237.0m (2023: $279.6m) and $335.8m (2023: 
$423.1m) respectively.

Unlike other financial instruments whose values or inputs are readily observable, the valuation of financial 
instruments classified as level 3 is inherently subjective and often involves the use of proprietary valuation 
models. This degree of subjectivity may also give rise to potential fraud through management intentionally 
manipulating fair values or incorporating management bias in determining fair values. 

Performing our audit procedures to evaluate the appropriateness of these unobservable inputs involved a 
high degree of auditor’s judgement, professionals with specialist skills and knowledge, and an increased 
extent of testing.

The valuation of level 3 financial instruments as a key source of estimation uncertainty is disclosed in note 
25.3 to the financial statements, with a wide range of reasonable outcomes. The financial statements 
(notes 23 and 25) disclose the sensitivity estimated by the Group.

How the scope of our audit 
responded to the key audit 
matter

We performed the following audit procedures, to address the complexities associated with the valuation of 
level 3 financial instruments.

We obtained an understanding of and tested the Group’s relevant controls addressing the risk of material 
misstatement related to the valuation of level 3 financial instruments including:

•	 model risk management controls, which are designed to review a model’s theoretical soundness and 
the appropriateness of its valuation methodology and calibration techniques developed by business 
units;

•	 independent price verification controls, which are designed to detect mispricing through independent 
repricing of transactions by a separate team, and comparison of those independent valuations to the 
fair values used in the Group’s books and records; and

•	 proxy evaluation control, which is designed to evaluate the adequacy of proxies selected by 
management in cases where observable inputs are not available.

We also performed the following substantive procedures on a sample of level 3 financial instruments:

•	 with the support of our valuation specialists, we independently valued a sample of level 3 positions 
utilising Deloitte approved pricing tools, where possible. Where management’s inputs were used in our 
valuation, we performed audit procedures to assess their reasonableness, suitability, and reliability; 

•	 assessed the appropriateness of the modelled fair value determined by management with reference to 
level 3 positions exited in January and early February 2025;

•	 assessed the methods and data used by management to identify whether there was evidence of 
management bias; 

•	 assessed the appropriateness of fair value levelling conclusions and agreed them to the disclosures 
for level 3 assets and liabilities measured at fair value including disclosures in note 25.

Key observations We concluded that the valuation of level 3 financial instruments and the related disclosures including 
sensitivity are appropriate.
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5.2. Recognition of UK deferred tax asset (DTA)  
Key audit matter 
description

In accordance with IAS 12 ‘Income Taxes’ a DTA shall be recognised to the extent that it is probable that 
future taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences or the carry 
forward of unused tax losses and unused tax credits, can be utilised.

During the current year, the Group recognised a UK DTA of $12.4m (2023: $7.3m) arising from unused 
historical tax losses and other temporary differences. The Group forecasted its future taxable profits and 
recognised UK DTA to the extent it was probable that those profits would be available to utilise against the 
unused tax losses. As at 31 December 2024, the Group had gross unused UK tax losses and UK other 
temporary differences of $680.0m (31 December 2023: $767.9m).

Due to the magnitude of the amount of DTA related to unused tax losses and other temporary differences 
and the significant judgement involved in determining an estimate of probable future taxable profits against 
which these unused tax losses and other temporary differences can be utilised, performing our audit 
procedures involved a high degree of auditor’s judgement and an increased extent of testing.

Information related to deferred tax asset is disclosed within note 12 to the financial statements. Accounting 
policy and information related to key judgement and estimates can be found within note 2 to the financial 
statements.

How the scope of our audit 
responded to the key audit 
matter

We performed the following procedures to challenge management’s judgements involved in the recognition 
of DTA:

•	 we obtained an understanding of the relevant controls related to the recognition of the deferred tax 
asset;

•	 assessed the effectiveness of the budgeting process by comparing past budgets to actual results;

•	 reviewed year-on-year budgets, challenging management’s assumptions regarding future profitability 
and budget consistency with other budgets used in going concern assumptions and capital planning;

•	 simulated management’s budgets, incorporating historical results to assess the reasonableness of 
future profit projections;

•	 assessed management’s applied “haircuts” to future profit projections used to determine probable 
profits for DTA recognition;

•	 challenged the rationale for the DTA recognition period by assessing the appropriateness of the look-
forward period against the Group’s budget cycle, considering recent profitability;

•	 with our tax specialist’s involvement, assessed management’s DTA calculation against the 
requirement of IAS 12; and 

•	 tested disclosures related to the recognition of deferred tax asset.

Key observations We concluded that deferred tax asset recognised and the associated disclosures are appropriate.
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6. Our application of materiality
6.1. Materiality
We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the financial statements that makes it probable 
that the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced. We use 
materiality both in planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating the results of our work.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as 
follows:

Group financial statements Company financial statements

Materiality $13.6m (2023: $13.0m) $12.9m (2023: $12.8m)

Basis for determining 
materiality

0.7% of net assets (2023: 0.7% of net assets) Company materiality is determined based on 0.7% 
of net assets, which is then capped at 95% of 
Group materiality

Rationale for the benchmark 
applied

We have considered net assets to be the most 
appropriate benchmark as the capital position 
is of importance to the key users of the financial 
statements. These key users include regulators 
and shareholders. The benchmark selected is also 
consistent with that used for comparable entities in 
the Group’s industry.

We considered it appropriate to maintain the same 
benchmark as that for the Group as the Company 
is the most significant member of the Group and 
its solo capital position is of importance to the key 
users of the financial statements, who are common 
with those for the Group.

Net Assets 
$1,944m

Group
materiality

Group materiality $13.6m

Component performance 
materiality range 
$9.0m to $9.5m

Audit Committee reporting 
threshold $0.67m

6.2. Performance materiality
We set performance materiality at a level lower than materiality to reduce the probability that, in aggregate, 
uncorrected and undetected misstatements exceed the materiality for the financial statements as a whole.

Group financial statements Company financial statements

Performance materiality 70% (2023: 70%) of the Group materiality 70% (2023: 70%) of the Company materiality

Basis and rationale for 
determining performance 
materiality

In determining performance materiality, we considered the following factors:

a.	 our risk assessment, including our assessment of the Group’s overall control environment; please 
see section 7.2 where we summarise controls, we relied on for our 2024 audit;

b.	 increase in our understanding of the Group’s business processes based on the fact that this is our 
fourth year of audit; and

c.	 our past experience of the audit, which has indicated a relatively low number of misstatements 
identified in prior period.
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6.3. Error reporting threshold
We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to the Committee all audit differences in excess of 
$0.67m (2023: $0.64m), as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting 
on qualitative grounds. We also report to the Audit Committee on disclosure matters that we identified when 
assessing the overall presentation of the financial statements.

7. An overview of the scope of our audit
7.1. Identification and scoping of components
ICBC Standard Bank Plc specialises in global markets traded products including commodities, fixed income, 
and currencies, with a focus on frontier and emerging market jurisdictions. The Group’s operations are 
mainly based in London with a branch in Singapore, a wholly owned subsidiary in China, Standard Resources 
(China) Limited and a wholly owned subsidiary in New York, ICBC Standard NY Holdings Inc. We performed 
audit of the entire financial information of London entity, ICBC Standard Bank plc, which accounts for 96% 
(2023: 99%) of the Group’s revenue, 99% (2023: 94%) of the Group’s profit before tax and 98% (2023: 96%) 
of the Group’s net assets. As regards other components, we have performed analytical review procedures at 
the group level. All work was performed by the group audit team.

Revenue

4%

96%

Profit before tax

1%

99%

Net Assets

2%

98%

 

7.2. Our consideration of the control environment
We tested relevant IT and business controls related to the following areas of audit, addressing the related 
risks of material misstatements:

•	 valuation of financial instruments measured at fair value (please see section 5.1 in relation to valuation 
of level 3 financial instruments);

•	 existence and completeness of physical commodities; and

•	 existence and completeness of financial instruments.

Where deficiencies in the control environment were identified, our risk assessment procedures included 
an assessment of those deficiencies to determine the impact on our audit plan. Where relevant, the audit 
plan was adjusted to mitigate the unaddressed risk. Where we were able to identify and test appropriate 
mitigating controls over affected financial statement line items, our testing approach remained unchanged.

Audit of the entire financial information Review at group level
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7.3. Our consideration of climate-related risks 
During 2024, the Group performed an assessment of its current business model and the potential 
opportunities while focusing on transitional opportunities. The Group’s sustainability strategy work is 
integrated into the overall strategy assessment which is performed annually during the planning cycle. During 
2024, the Group produced climate related financial disclosures (CFD) in line with the requirements of The 
Companies (Strategic Report) (Climate Related Financial Disclosures) Regulations 2022 as included on page 
20 of the Annual Report as ‘Sustainability Report’. 

As disclosed on pages 35 to 37 of the Sustainability Report, the Group has embedded climate related risk 
into its existing risk framework for credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk, operational risk and supplier risk. 
Given the short-term nature of its balance sheet, the Group has assessed sustainability-related risks and 
opportunities as short term (less than one year), medium term (between one year and four years) and long 
term (greater than four years).

Based on the Group’s ongoing assessment of the risks arising from climate change, we have performed our 
qualitative risk assessment and did not identify any additional risk of material misstatement. Also, with the 
involvement of our specialist, we read the disclosures in the sustainability report to consider whether they 
are in line with the requirements of the Companies (Strategic Report) CFD regulations 2022 and consistent 
with our understanding of the financial statements and knowledge obtained during the audit.

8. Other information
The other information comprises the information included in the annual report other than the financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information 
contained within the annual report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent 
otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to 
determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, 
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

9. Responsibilities of directors
As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such 
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or 
the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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10. Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s 
website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

11. Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting 
irregularities, including fraud
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design 
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of 
irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, 
including fraud is detailed below. 

11.1. Identifying and assessing potential risks related to irregularities
In identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement in respect of irregularities, including fraud and 
non-compliance with laws and regulations, we considered the following:

•	 the nature of the industry and sector, control environment and business performance including the 
design of the Group’s remuneration policies, key drivers for directors’ remuneration, bonus levels and 
performance targets;

•	 results of our enquiries of management, internal audit, the compliance function and the audit committee 
about their own identification and assessment of the risks of irregularities, including those that are 
specific to the Group’s sector; 

•	 any matters we identified having obtained and reviewed the Group’s documentation of their policies and 
procedures relating to:

	– identifying, evaluating and complying with laws and regulations and whether they were aware of any 
instances of non-compliance;

	– detecting and responding to the risks of fraud and whether they have knowledge of any actual, 
suspected or alleged fraud; and

	– the internal controls established to mitigate risks of fraud or non-compliance with laws and 
regulations;

•	 the matters discussed among the audit engagement team and relevant internal specialists, including tax, 
valuations, IT and prudential risk specialists regarding how and where fraud might occur in the financial 
statements and any potential indicators of fraud.

As a result of these procedures, we considered the opportunities and incentives that may exist within the 
organisation for fraud and identified the greatest potential for fraud in the following area: valuation of  
level 3 financial instruments. In common with all audits under ISAs (UK), we are also required to perform 
specific procedures to respond to the risk of management override.

http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities
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We also obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that the Group and the 
Company operates in, focusing on provisions of those laws and regulations that had a direct effect on the 
determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The key laws and regulations 
we considered in this context included the UK Companies Act.

In addition, we considered provisions of other laws and regulations that do not have a direct effect on the 
financial statements but compliance with which may be fundamental to the Group’s ability to operate or 
to avoid a material penalty. These included the regulation and supervisory requirements of the Prudential 
Regulation Authority (‘PRA’) and the Financial Conduct Authority (‘FCA’).

11.2. Audit response to risks identified
As a result of performing the above, we identified valuation of level 3 financial instruments as a key audit 
matter related to the potential risk of fraud. The key audit matters section of our report explains the matter in 
more detail and also describes the specific procedures we performed in response to that key audit matter. 

In addition to the above, our procedures to respond to risks identified included the following:

•	 reviewing the financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentation to assess 
compliance with provisions of relevant laws and regulations described as having a direct effect on the 
financial statements;

•	 enquiring of management, the audit committee, and in-house and external legal counsel concerning 
actual and potential litigation and claims;

•	 performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate 
risks of material misstatement due to fraud;

•	 reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance, reviewing internal audit reports and 
reviewing correspondence with HMRC, PRA and FCA; and

•	 in addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, testing the appropriateness of 
journal entries and other adjustments; assessing whether the judgements made in making accounting 
estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and evaluating the business rationale of any significant 
transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course of business.

We also communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all engagement 
team members including internal specialists and remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-
compliance with laws and regulations throughout the audit.
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

12. Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 
2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

•	 the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the 
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

•	 the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal 
requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the Company and their environment 
obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the strategic report 
or the directors’ report.

13. Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Capital Requirements 
(Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013
In our opinion the information given in note 1 to the financial statements for the financial year ended 
31 December 2024 has been properly prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the Capital 
Requirements (Country-by Country Reporting) Regulations 2013.

14. Matters on which we are required to report by exception
14.1. Adequacy of explanations received and accounting records
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

•	 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

•	 adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Company, or returns adequate for our audit have 
not been received from branches not visited by us; or

•	 the Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

14.2. Directors’ remuneration
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are also required to report if in our opinion certain disclosures of 
directors’ remuneration have not been made.

We have nothing to report in respect of this matter.
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15. Other matters which we are required to address
15.1. Auditor tenure
Following the recommendation of the audit committee, we were appointed by the shareholders on 26 April 
2021 to audit the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 and subsequent financial 
periods. The period of total uninterrupted engagement including previous renewals and reappointments of 
the firm is four years, covering the years ended 31 December 2021 to 31 December 2024.

15.2. Consistency of the audit report with the additional report to the Audit Committee
Our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to the audit committee we are required to provide in 
accordance with ISAs (UK).

16. Use of our report
This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 
of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s 
members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. 
To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the 
company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we 
have formed.

Tom Millar, FCA (Senior statutory auditor) 
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP 
Statutory Auditor

 
London, United Kingdom 
28 February 2025 
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6. Consolidated balance sheet
at 31 December 2024

2024 2023
Note $m $m

Assets 

Cash and balances with central banks 3 2,674.1 2,635.9 

Due from banks and other financial institutions 4 3,727.2 2,248.4 

Financial assets held for trading 5 1,211.9 1,278.5 

Non-trading financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 6 689.0 2,856.6 

Derivative financial assets 7 3,911.2 3,383.2 

Reverse repurchase agreements 8 3,526.8 2,936.0 

Loans and advances to customers 9 1,303.0 771.3 

Financial investments 10 3,176.9 2,052.8 

Property and equipment 11 70.3 66.9 

Current tax assets 7.6 11.8 

Deferred tax assets 12 13.3 8.0 

Other assets 13 6,289.1 4,997.7 

Non-financial assets held for trading – Commodities inventory 6,127.7 4,792.2 

Other 161.4 205.5 

Total assets 26,600.4 23,247.1 

Liabilities and equity

Liabilities 24,656.7 21,376.2 

Financial liabilities held for trading 15 938.0 1,634.7 

Non-trading financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 16 6,975.3 3,744.0 

Derivative financial liabilities 7 4,194.9 3,782.3 

Due to banks and other financial institutions 17 4,731.3 6,553.2 

Repurchase agreements 18 1,080.4 853.1 

Due to customers 19 1,431.0 1,077.1 

Current tax liabilities 0.8 2.4 

Subordinated debt 20 248.6 247.6 

Other liabilities 21 5,056.4 3,481.8 

Precious metal payables 4,748.6 3,140.6 

Other 307.8 341.2 

Equity

Equity attributable to shareholders 1,943.7 1,870.9 

Share capital 27 1,083.5 1,083.5 

Other equity instruments 28 160.0 160.0 

Reserves 700.2 627.4 
   

Total liabilities and equity 26,600.4 23,247.1 

The accounting policies and notes on pages 78 to 177 should be read as part of the financial statements.

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf on 28 February 2025.

W Wang, Chief Executive S Davies, Chairman
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7. Consolidated income statement
for the year ended 31 December 2024

2024 2023
Note $m $m

Net interest income 163.9 153.9 

Interest income 30.1 613.4 524.7 

Interest expense 30.2 (449.5) (370.8)

Non-interest revenue 30.3 408.2 404.1 

Net fees and commission 44.1 38.6 

Fees and commission income 68.9 65.7 

Fees and commission expenses (24.8) (27.1)

Net trading revenue 257.0 314.0 

Net gain on non-trading financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 107.1 51.5 

Total operating income 572.1 558.0 

Credit impairment (charges) / recoveries 30.4 (2.7) 50.2 

Income after credit impairments 569.4 608.2 

Operating expenses (382.4) (397.6)

Staff costs 30.5 (248.5) (247.8)

Other operating expenses 30.6 (130.8) (145.9)

Indirect taxation 30.7 (3.1) (3.9)

Profit before taxation 187.0 210.6 

Income tax charge 31 (30.5) (23.5)

Profit attributable to equity shareholders 156.5 187.1 

The accounting policies and notes on pages 78 to 177 should be read as part of the financial statements.
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8. Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2024

2024 
$m

2023
$m

Profit attributable to equity shareholders 156.5 187.1 

Other comprehensive income:

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss1

Foreign currency translation reserve (0.7) (0.7)

Cash flow hedging reserve (22.8) 13.5 

Effective portion of changes in fair value 1.6 18.3 

Net amount transferred to profit or loss (24.4) (4.8)

Changes in fair value of debt instruments measured at FVOCI 0.9 0.9 

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss1

Gains attributable to own credit risk 1.0 0.3 

Other comprehensive (losses) / income for the year (21.6) 14.0 

Total comprehensive gains attributable to equity shareholders 134.9 201.1 

1	 No income tax is recognised in other comprehensive income.
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9. Consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ 
equity
for the year ended 31 December 2024

Ordinary 
share 

capital
$m

Other equity 
instruments

$m

Cash flow 
hedging 
reserve

$m

FVOCI 
reserve

$m

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve

$m

Net 
investment 

hedge 
reserve1

$m

Own credit 
reserve

$m

Retained 
earnings

$m

Total 
equity2

$m

Balance at 1 January 2023 1,083.5 160.0 8.0 (1.0) (2.5) (1.7) (1.3) 437.0 1,682.0 
Total comprehensive gains / 
(losses) for the year  –  – 13.5 0.9 (0.7)  – 0.3 187.1 201.1 

Coupon payment on other 
equity instruments  –  –  –  –  –  –  – (12.2) (12.2)

Balance at 31 December 2023 1,083.5 160.0 21.5 (0.1) (3.2) (1.7) (1.0) 611.9 1,870.9 

Balance at 1 January 2024 1,083.5 160.0 21.5 (0.1) (3.2) (1.7) (1.0) 611.9 1,870.9 
Total comprehensive gains / 
(losses) for the year  –  – (22.8) 0.9 (0.7)  – 1.0 156.5 134.9 

Dividend payment on ordinary 
share capital  –  –  –  –  –  –  – (49.9) (49.9)

Coupon payment on other 
equity instruments  –  –  –  –  –  –  – (12.2) (12.2)

Balance at 31 December 2024 1,083.5 160.0 (1.3) 0.8 (3.9) (1.7)  – 706.3 1,943.7 

1 	 No net investment hedges were entered into during 2023 or 2024.
2 	 Equity attributable to ordinary shareholders excludes other equity instruments and is $1,783.7 million at 31 December 2024  

(2023: $1,710.9 million).
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10. Consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2024

Note 2024
$m

2023
$m

Cash flows used in operating activities
Profit before taxation 187.0 210.6 
Adjusted for:
Non-cash items included in profit before tax (48.1) 15.6 
Amortisation of intangible assets 8.7 9.6 
Depreciation of property and equipment 14.8 17.5 
Non-cash flow movements on fair value hedges (2.8) (2.2)
Incentive charges 69.4 72.9 
Net credit impairment charges / (recoveries) 2.7 (50.2)
Provisions for leave pay 0.3 0.3 

232.0 274.1 
Changes in operating funds (73.7) (2,387.8)

(Increase) in income-earning assets 32.1  (2,780.4) (4,382.4)
Increase in interest bearing and non-interest bearing liabilities 32.2  2,706.7 1,994.6 

Corporation and withholding tax paid 32.3  (30.2) (37.0)
Cash flows from / (used in) operating activities 128.1 (2,150.7)

Cash flows used in investing activities
Capital expenditure on intangible assets (11.5) (5.1)
Capital expenditure on property and equipment (4.9) (1.8)
Cash flows used in investing activities (16.4) (6.9)

Cash flows used in financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of subordinated debt 20 100.0  – 
Repayment of subordinated debt 20 (100.0)  – 
Dividend payment on ordinary share capital 30.11 (49.9)  – 
Coupon payment on other equity instruments 28 (12.2) (12.2)
Principal payments on leasehold liabilities (8.5) (10.4)

Cash flows used in financing activities (70.6) (22.6)

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 41.1 (2,180.2)
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (23.5) (65.8)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 32.4 2,744.4 4,990.4 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 32.4 2,762.0 2,744.4 

Cash flows used in operating activities include cash interest received of $586.1 million (2023: $505.7 
million) and cash interest paid of $470.3 million (2023: $336.2 million).						    
	

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation. 		
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11. Company balance sheet
at 31 December 2024

Note 2024
$m

2023
$m

Assets 
Cash and balances with central banks 3 2,674.1 2,635.9 
Due from banks and other financial institutions 4 3,664.4 2,187.3 
Financial assets held for trading 5 1,211.9 1,278.5 
Non-trading financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 6 689.0 2,856.6 
Derivative financial assets 7 3,911.2 3,383.2 
Reverse repurchase agreements 8 3,526.8 2,936.0 
Loans and advances to customers 9 1,303.0 771.3 
Financial investments 10 3,176.9 2,052.8 
Property and equipment 11 61.7 63.6 
Current tax assets 7.5 11.4 
Deferred tax assets 12 12.4 7.3 
Other assets 13 6,289.0 4,997.1 

Non-financial assets held for trading – Commodities inventory 6,127.7 4,792.2 
Other 161.3 204.9 

Investment in group companies 14 29.5 29.5 

Total assets 26,557.4 23,210.5 

Liabilities and equity
Liabilities 24,643.4 21,369.2 
Financial liabilities held for trading 15 938.0 1,634.7 
Non-trading financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 16 6,975.3 3,744.0 
Derivative financial liabilities 7 4,194.9 3,782.3 
Due to banks and other financial institutions 17 4,731.3 6,553.2 
Repurchase agreements 18 1,080.4 853.1 
Due to customers 19 1,431.0 1,077.1 
Current tax liabilities 0.7 2.3 
Subordinated debt 20 248.6 247.6 
Other liabilities 21 5,043.2 3,474.9 

Precious metal payables 4,748.6 3,140.6 
Other 294.6 334.3 

Equity
Equity attributable to shareholders 1,914.0 1,841.3 

Share capital 27 1,083.5 1,083.5 
Other equity instruments 28 160.0 160.0 
Reserves1 670.5 597.8 

Total liabilities and equity 26,557.4 23,210.5 

1	 The parent company recorded a profit after tax for the year of $155.7 million (2023: $184.8 million) (see note 30.10).

The accounting policies and notes on pages 78 to 177 should be read as part of the financial statements.

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf on 28 February 2025.

W Wang, Chief Executive S Davies, Chairman
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12. Company statement of changes in shareholders’ equity
for the year ended 31 December 2024

Ordinary share 
capital

$m

Other equity 
instruments

$m

Cash flow 
hedging 
reserve

$m

FVOCI  
reserve

$m

Own credit 
reserve

$m

Retained 
earnings

$m
Total equity

$m

Balance at 1 January 2023 1,083.5 160.0 8.0 (1.0) (1.3) 404.8 1,654.0 
Total comprehensive gains / 
(losses) for the year  –  – 13.5 0.9 0.3 184.8 199.5 

Coupon payment on other 
equity instruments  –  –  –  –  – (12.2) (12.2)

Balance at 31 December 2023 1,083.5 160.0 21.5 (0.1) (1.0) 577.4 1,841.3 

Balance at 1 January 2024 1,083.5 160.0 21.5 (0.1) (1.0) 577.4 1,841.3 
Total comprehensive gains / 
(losses) for the year  –  – (22.8) 0.9 1.0 155.7 134.8 

Dividend payment on ordinary 
share capital  –  –  –  –  – (49.9) (49.9)

Coupon payment on other 
equity instruments  –  –  –  –  – (12.2) (12.2)

Balance at 31 December 2024 1,083.5 160.0 (1.3) 0.8  – 671.0 1,914.0 
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13. Company statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2024

Note 2024
$m

2023
$m

Cash flows used in operating activities
Profit before taxation 185.8 207.5 
Adjusted for:
Non-cash items included in profit before tax (48.1) 15.6 
Amortisation of intangible assets 8.7 9.6 
Depreciation of property and equipment 11.8 14.7 
Non-cash flow movements on fair value hedges (2.8) (2.2)
Incentive charges 64.6 67.2 
Net credit impairment charges / (recoveries) 2.7 (50.2)
Provisions for leave pay 0.3 0.1 

223.0 262.3 
Changes in operating funds (72.4) (2,395.8)

(Increase) in income-earning assets 32.1  (2,777.7) (4,399.3)
Increase in interest bearing and non-interest bearing liabilities 32.2  2,705.3 2,003.5 

Corporation and withholding tax paid 32.3 (30.0) (35.1)
Cash flows from / (used in) operating activities 120.6 (2,168.6)

Cash flows used in investing activities
Capital expenditure on intangible assets (11.5) (5.1)
Capital expenditure on property and equipment (3.3) (1.8)
Cash flows used in investing activities (14.8) (6.9)

Cash flows used in financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of subordinated debt 20 100.0  – 
Repayment of subordinated debt 20 (100.0)  – 
Dividend payment on ordinary share capital 30.11 (49.9)  – 
Coupon payment on other equity instruments 28 (12.2) (12.2)
Principal payments on leasehold liabilities (6.5) (8.2)

Cash flows used in financing activities (68.6) (20.4)

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 37.2 (2,195.9)
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (18.3) (67.1)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 32.4 2,719.7 4,982.7 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 32.4 2,738.6 2,719.7 

Cash flows used in operating activities include cash interest received of $584.7 million (2023: $504.9 
million) and cash interest paid of $470.0 million (2023: $336.0 million).

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation. 
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14. Material accounting policies
The material accounting policies applied in the presentation of the annual financial statements are set out 
below. 

1. Basis of preparation 
Both the Company financial statements and the consolidated financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies 
Act 2006 and in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and interpretations 
(IFRICs) as issued by the IASB and adopted in the United Kingdom (UK). In publishing the Company financial 
statements here together with the ICBC Standard Bank Plc consolidated (Group) financial statements, the 
Company has taken advantage of the exemption in Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 not to present 
its separate income statement and related notes that form part of these financial statements. 

The annual financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for certain 
financial instruments, and certain non-financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value, as further 
explained in the respective accounting policies below. 

Going concern
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis as the Directors are satisfied that 
the Company and Group have adequate resources to continue in business for a period of at least 12 months 
from approval of the financial statements. In making this assessment, the Directors have considered a wide 
range of information relating to present and future conditions, the impact of forthcoming regulatory changes, 
the business plan for the next four years and the ability and willingness of the shareholders to provide 
support as and when required. This assessment also considered the Group’s forecasts, which included a 
combined stress test on capital and liquidity. 

ICBC has a 60% controlling interest in the Company, with the 40% balance owned by SBG. The Company 
and Group maintain a capital and liquidity position in excess of prudential requirements. The demonstrable 
ongoing support by ICBC is an important aspect supporting the going concern assessment. 

ICBC has issued a statement of support in favour of the Company confirming its position as a long-term 
investment and as an integral part of ICBC’s overall operational strategy, which remains valid until ICBC 
ceases to be the controlling shareholder. ICBC confirms that it intends to financially support the Company 
in ensuring that it meets all financial obligations as they fall due, including the maintenance of a minimum 
capital adequacy level. Specifically, ICBC intends to provide funding and capital support to the Company and 
commits its intention to subscribe for certain ‘qualifying instruments’ as and when ICBC receives written 
notice from the Company that its capital and reserve funds amount to (or will foreseeably in the near-
term amount to) less than the minimum required amount of capital and reserve funds as determined in 
accordance with the rules and regulations of the Prudential Regulation Authority (or its successor).

Changes in accounting policies 
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous year. The IASB has issued a 
number of minor amendments to IFRSs that are effective 1 January 2024. These amendments have not had 
a significant impact on the Group.
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2. Basis of consolidation 
The Group consolidates the annual financial statements of investees which it controls. The Group controls an 
investee when it has:

•	 power over the investee;

•	 exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

•	 the ability to use its power to affect the amount of the returns from its involvement with the investee.

The annual financial statements of the investee are consolidated from the date on which the Group acquires 
control up to the date that control ceases. Control is assessed on a continuous basis.

Intragroup transactions and balances, and any unrealised gains and losses arising from intragroup 
transactions, are eliminated on consolidation. 

The accounting policies of subsidiaries that are consolidated by the Group conform to the Group’s accounting 
policies.

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less accumulated impairment losses (where applicable) 
in the separate financial statements. The carrying amounts of these investments are reviewed annually and 
impaired when necessary. 

3. Foreign currency translations 
Functional and presentation currency 
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of 
the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency). The consolidated 
and separate financial statements are presented in US dollars, which is the Group’s presentation currency 
and Company’s functional currency, and all amounts are stated in millions of dollars ($ million), unless 
otherwise indicated.

Group entities
The results and financial position of all foreign operations that have a functional currency different from the 
Group’s presentation currency are translated into the Group’s presentation currency as follows: 

•	 assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rate on the reporting date; and

•	 income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates for the month, to the extent that such 
average rates approximate actual rates, otherwise income and expenses are translated at the exchange 
rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.

All resulting foreign exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income (OCI) and 
accumulated in a separate component of equity, the foreign currency translation reserve. 

When a foreign operation is disposed of or liquidated, the cumulative amount in the foreign currency 
translation reserve related to that foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss 
on disposal or liquidation. 
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Transactions and balances 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the respective functional currencies of Group entities at the 
exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from 
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies at year end exchange rates are recognised in the income statement, except when 
recognised in OCI as a qualifying cash flow hedge. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies that are measured at historical cost are translated into the appropriate functional currency 
using the exchange rate at the transaction date, and those measured at fair value are translated at the 
exchange rate at the date the fair value was determined. Exchange rate differences on non-monetary items 
are included in the income statement or OCI depending on where the gain or loss on the underlying item is 
recognised. 

The Group hedges the variability in cash flows attributable to foreign exchange risk on a portion of its 
budgeted sterling denominated expense base and applies cash flow hedge accounting to those highly 
probable forecast expenses. A portion of the gains/losses recognised on the hedging derivatives is recycled 
from OCI to profit or loss in the period in which the related costs are recognised in the income statement. 
The hedging instruments are executed over a period of time at a range of different exchange rates and the 
unhedged portion of the budgeted sterling expense base is translated at spot exchange rates in accordance 
with the policy set out above. In order to provide consistency, the sterling based expenses in the individual 
line items are translated at a budget planning rate. Any differences between the costs translated at the 
budget planning rate and the rates achieved through hedging and spot translation of the sterling based costs 
are recognised in other expenses in the income statement.

Foreign exchange gains and losses on debt securities classified as fair value through OCI, and debt and 
equity securities classified as fair value through profit or loss are reported in profit or loss. 

4. Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents disclosed in the statement of cash flows consist of unrestricted cash balances 
with central banks, together with other highly liquid short-term placements with deposit-taking institutions 
available on demand. These balances are subject to insignificant changes in fair value and are reported at 
amortised cost.

5. Financial instruments 
Initial recognition and measurement 
Financial instruments include all financial assets and financial liabilities. These instruments are typically held 
for liquidity, investment, trading or hedging purposes. All financial instruments are initially recognised at fair 
value plus or minus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial 
asset or financial liability, except those carried at fair value through profit or loss where transaction costs are 
recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

The Group initially recognises loans and advances, repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements at 
amortised cost, deposits, and subordinated liabilities on the date on which they are originated. All other 
financial instruments, including regular way purchases and sales of financial assets, are recognised on the 
trade date, being the date that the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Subsequent measurement 
Subsequent to initial measurement, financial instruments are measured either at fair value or amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, depending on their classifications as follows: 
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Financial assets
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (IFRS 9) has three classification categories for financial assets as follows: 

i	 Amortised cost;

ii	 Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); and 

iii	 Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). 

The classification is based on the business model under which the financial asset is managed and the terms 
of its contractual cash flows, in particular, whether they represent solely payments of principal and interest 
(SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding.

Business model assessment
The Group assesses the objective of a business model in which an asset is held at a portfolio level as that 
best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to management. In determining 
the business model, all relevant evidence that is available at the date of the assessment is used, including:

i	 How the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Group’s key management 
personnel;

ii	 Risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within it) and, in 
particular, how those risks are managed; 

iii	 How managers of the business are compensated (for example, whether compensation is based on the 
fair value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected);

iv	 The stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice. In 
particular, whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual interest revenue, maintaining 
a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of the 
liabilities that are funding those assets or realising cash flows through the sale of the assets; and

v	 The frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and expectations 
about future sales activity. 

SPPI assessment
In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest on the 
principal amount outstanding, the Group considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes 
assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount 
of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making the assessment, the Group 
considers: 

•	 Contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows; 

•	 Leverage features; 

•	 Prepayment and extension terms; 

•	 Terms that limit the Group’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse asset 
arrangements); and 

•	 Features that modify consideration of the time value of money, e.g. periodic resets of interest rates. 

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset at initial 
recognition and ‘interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money, for the credit risk 
associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic 
lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin.
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The Group has applied the following policies for the classification categories under IFRS 9: 

Amortised cost
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met:

i	 The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to 
collect contractual cash flows; and

ii	 The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Fair value through other comprehensive income
A financial asset is measured at FVOCI if both of the following conditions are met:

i	 The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and 

ii	 The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

For debt securities measured at FVOCI, gains and losses are recognised in OCI, except for the following, 
which are recognised in profit or loss in the same manner as for financial assets measured at amortised 
cost:

•	 Interest income using the effective interest method;

•	 Expected credit losses and reversals; and 

•	 Foreign exchange gains/losses.

When debt securities measured at FVOCI are derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised 
in OCI is reclassified to current period profit or loss.

Fair value through profit or loss
All financial assets that are not measured at amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVTPL.

The Group may also irrevocably elect to designate a financial asset as measured at FVTPL on initial 
recognition if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch, which would otherwise 
arise.

Financial assets at FVTPL comprise:

•	 Items held for trading;

•	 Items that are managed, and whose performance is evaluated, on a fair value basis;

•	 Derivative instruments;

•	 Items specifically designated as FVTPL on initial recognition; and

•	 Debt instruments with contractual terms that do not represent solely payments of principal and interest 
on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets and liabilities held for trading are those assets and liabilities that the Group acquires or 
incurs principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term, or holds as part of a portfolio of 
identified financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual 
pattern of short-term profit-taking. Derivatives are carried on the balance sheet as assets when their fair 
value is positive and as liabilities when their fair value is negative.
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Financial liabilities
The Group classifies its financial liabilities, other than financial guarantees and loan commitments, as 
measured at amortised cost or FVTPL.

Financial liabilities that are neither held-for-trading nor designated at fair value through profit or loss are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

A financial liability may be designated at fair value through profit or loss if: 

i	 It eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch; 

ii	 A host contract contains one or more embedded derivatives; or

iii	 If a group of financial liabilities or financial assets and liabilities is managed and their performance 
is evaluated on a fair value basis in accordance with a documented risk management or investment 
strategy.

Where a financial liability is designated at fair value through profit or loss, the movement in fair value 
attributable to changes in the Group’s own credit quality is presented separately in OCI with no subsequent 
reclassification to the income statement, unless the treatment of the effects of changes in the liability’s 
credit risk would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss, in which case all gains or losses 
on the liability (including the effects of changes in the credit risk of that liability) are recorded in profit or loss. 

Reclassification of financial instruments
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except in the period after the 
Group changes its business model for managing those financial assets. There have been no reclassifications 
of financial assets in the current or prior year.

Financial liabilities are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition.

Fair value
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date (i.e. an exit price). The fair value of 
financial instruments is generally measured on an individual basis. However, in cases where the Group 
manages a group of financial assets and liabilities according to its net market or credit risk exposure, the fair 
value of the group of financial instruments is measured on a net basis but the underlying financial assets 
and liabilities are presented separately in the financial statements, unless they satisfy the IFRS offsetting 
criteria.

The fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is generally its transaction price, that is, the 
fair value of the consideration paid or received. However, sometimes, the fair value will be based on other 
observable current market transactions in the same instrument, without modification or repackaging, or on 
valuation techniques such as discounted cash flow models or option pricing models whose variables include 
only data from observable markets. 

When such valuation models with observable market data for all significant inputs or comparison with other 
observable current market transactions in the same instrument indicate that the fair value differs from the 
transaction price, this initial difference, commonly referred to as day-one profit or loss, is recognised in profit 
or loss immediately. 

If significant unobservable market data is used as inputs to the valuation models or where the fair value of 
the financial instrument is not evidenced by comparison with other observable current market transactions in 
the same instrument, the resulting difference between the transaction price and the model value is deferred. 
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The timing of recognition of deferred day-one profit or loss is determined individually. It is either amortised 
over the life of the transaction, deferred until the instrument’s fair value can be determined using market 
observable inputs, or realised through settlement, depending on the nature of the instrument and availability 
of market observable inputs. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, the fair values of financial assets and liabilities are based on quoted 
market prices or dealer price quotations for financial instruments traded in active markets and where those 
quoted prices represent fair value at the measurement date. If the market for a financial asset is not active 
or the instrument is unlisted, the fair value is determined using other applicable valuation techniques. These 
include the use of recent arm’s-length transactions, discounted cash flow analyses, option pricing models 
and other valuation techniques commonly used by market participants. Where discounted cash flow analyses 
are used, estimated future cash flows are based on management’s best estimates and a market related 
discount rate at the reporting date for a financial asset or liability with similar terms and conditions. The 
fair values of derivative financial instruments are adjusted where appropriate to reflect credit risk (via credit 
valuation adjustments (CVAs), debit valuation adjustments (DVAs) and funding valuation adjustments (FVAs)), 
market liquidity and other risks.

Impairment of financial assets 
At each reporting date, the Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECL) for the following 
financial instruments:

•	 All financial assets measured at amortised cost;

•	 Debt instruments measured at FVOCI;

•	 Certain loan commitments issued; and 

•	 Certain financial guarantee contracts issued.

ECLs are an unbiased probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the present value of all cash 
shortfalls) over the expected life of the financial instrument determined by evaluating a range of possible 
outcomes and future economic conditions. Cash shortfalls represent the difference between the cash flows 
due to the Group in accordance with the contractual terms of an instrument and the cash flows it expects to 
receive, including the recoverable amount of any collateral and other credit enhancements that are integral 
to the contractual terms of the instrument, that may result from foreclosure, less costs of obtaining and 
selling the collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable.

At initial recognition, an impairment allowance (or provision in the case of loan commitments and financial 
guarantees) is required for the portion of the lifetime ECL (see below) resulting from default events that are 
possible within 12 months after the reporting date (12-month ECL). 
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The Group subsequently applies a three-stage approach to measuring ECLs based on the change in credit 
risk since initial recognition, as follows:

•	 Stage 1: For exposures where there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition and that are not credit impaired upon purchase or origination, the 12-month ECL is 
recognised. For instruments in stage 1, interest revenue is calculated by applying the effective interest 
rate to the gross carrying amount of the instrument;

•	 Stage 2: For exposures where there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition 
but that are not credit impaired, an allowance (or provision) is required for ECL resulting from all possible 
default events over the expected life of the financial instrument (lifetime ECL). For instruments in  
stage 2, interest revenue continues to be calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross 
carrying amount of the instrument; or

•	 Stage 3: For exposures where there is objective evidence of impairment, which are considered to be 
in default or otherwise credit impaired, an allowance (or provision) for lifetime ECL is also required. 
However, for instruments in stage 3, interest revenue is calculated by applying the effective interest rate 
to the amortised cost (net of the allowance or provision) rather than the gross carrying amount of the 
instrument.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk for 
exposures since initial recognition by comparing the risk of default occurring over the expected life of the 
instrument between the reporting date and the date of initial recognition. The assessment of whether an 
instrument is in stage 1 or stage 2 considers the relative change in the probability of default occurring over 
the expected life of the instrument, not the change in the amount of expected credit losses. 

An instrument is in stage 3 if it exhibits objective evidence of credit impairment, which includes consideration 
of the following:

•	 Known cash flow difficulties experienced by the borrower;

•	 A breach of contract such as default or delinquency in interest and/or principal payments;

•	 Breaches of loan covenants;

•	 It becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

•	 The Group, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, grants the borrower 
a concession that it would not otherwise consider.

A significant increase in credit risk generally occurs when any of the following situations arise within the 
Group’s internal credit rating system:

•	 A downward movement of three or more risk grades between RG01 and RG11 (equivalent to  
Standard & Poor’s risk ratings of AAA to BBB); 

•	 Any downward movement from risk grades RG01 to RG11 to a risk grade of RG12 or below  
(equivalent to Standard & Poor’s risk rating of BBB-); 

•	 A downward movement of two or more risk grades between RG12 and RG20 (equivalent to  
Standard & Poor’s risk ratings of BBB– to B-); or

•	 Any downward move to a risk grade of RG21 or below (equivalent to Standard & Poor’s risk  
rating of CCC+).

In addition, qualitative factors, such as watch list exposures, can also trigger a significant increase in credit 
risk and the credit risk on a financial asset is deemed to have increased significantly since initial recognition 
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and 
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise. 
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The assessment of credit risk and estimation of ECLs is based on a probability weighted base case (neutral) 
and two alternative plausible (optimistic and pessimistic) scenarios provided by an external economic 
forecasting service provider. It also takes into account the time value of money.

When calculating the weighted average ECL, the optimistic, neutral and pessimistic scenarios and their 
weightings are taken into account by the Group. These are updated on a quarterly basis and captured as a 
rating override as part of regular counterparty reviews. The scenarios used covered a baseline scenario (50th 
percentile) with 40% weighting, a mild upside scenario (15th percentile) with 30% weighting and a downside 
scenario (85th percentile) also with 30% weighting. 

The Group’s models for determining ECLs use three key input parameters, being probability of default (PD), 
loss given default (LGD) and exposure at default (EAD). ECLs are calculated by multiplying these three 
components. PD is the likelihood of default assessed on the prevailing economic conditions at the reporting 
date adjusted to take into account estimates of future economic conditions that are likely to impact the risk 
of default. LGD is a current assessment of the amount that will be recovered in the event of default and EAD 
is the expected balance sheet exposure at default. PD and LGD are linked to the risk grades and assigned at 
counterparty level.

The construction of point-in-time (“PIT”) PD curves involves adjusting S&P implied through-the-cycle (TTC) 
transition matrices into forward-looking probability of default curves using Moody’s expected default 
frequency (EDF) data – a forward looking model. A mapping is required to move between EDFs (with an 
implied Moody’s rating) and S&P ratings to construct the PIT PD curves consistently. This mapping is based 
on the Bank’s internal “Master Rating Scale”. LGDs are based on a workout model, which calculates an 
expected rate of recovery on financial instruments by assigning a defined loss rate for different default 
resolution paths, and weights these according to an assumed probability of each default event occurring. The 
default resolution events comprise: (i) cure events; (ii) restructure events; and (iii) liquidation events. The EAD 
is based on the balance sheet value of the exposure (including accrued interest) adjusted for the value of any 
collateral (which may be on– or off-balance sheet) held against that balance.

Exposures that have not deteriorated significantly since origination or which are less than 30 days past due, 
are considered to have a low credit risk. The loss allowance for these instruments is based on 12-month ECL.

An exposure will migrate through the ECL stages as asset quality deteriorates. If, in a subsequent period, 
asset quality improves and also reverses any previously assessed significant increase in credit risk since 
origination, then the loss allowance reverts from lifetime ECL to 12-month ECL.

The assessment of significant increases in credit risk since initial recognition is performed on either 
individual financial instruments or on a collective basis for a group or sub-group of financial instruments. 

When an asset carried at amortised cost is identified as impaired, a credit loss for the present value of all 
cash shortfalls discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate is recognised. The carrying 
amount of the asset in the statement of financial position is reduced by the amount of the loss and the loss 
is recognised as a credit impairment charge in the income statement.

In the case of debt instruments measured at FVOCI, the Group recognises the impairment charge in profit 
or loss, with the corresponding loss allowance recognised in other comprehensive income. There is no 
reduction in the carrying amount of the asset in the statement of financial position because these assets are 
carried at fair value.

For undrawn loan commitments, the Group recognises a provision in the statement of financial position for 
the present value of the difference between the contractual cash flows due to the Group if the commitment 
is drawn down and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive if the commitment is drawn down. The 
loss is recognised as an impairment charge in the income statement. The Group’s estimate of ECL on loan 
commitments is consistent with its expectations of drawdowns on that loan commitment, i.e. it considers the 
expected portion of the loan commitment that will be drawn down within 12 months of the reporting date 



ICBC Standard Bank | Consolidated Annual Report

M
AT

ER
IA

L 
AC

CO
U

N
TI

N
G

 P
O

LI
CI

ES

87

when estimating 12-month ECL, and the expected portion of the loan commitment that will be drawn down 
over the expected life of the loan commitment when estimating lifetime ECL.

For financial guarantee contracts issued, the Group is required to make payments only in the event of a 
default by the debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the 
Group recognises a provision in the statement of financial position for the present value of the expected 
payments required to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the Group 
expects to recover from the holder, the debtor or any other party. The loss is recognised in the income 
statement. 

When an asset is uncollectible, it is written off against the related provision. Such assets are written off 
after all the necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss has been determined. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off reduce the amount of the expense in the income 
statement.

Where the Group holds a financial guarantee or similar contract, it assesses whether it is an integral 
element of a financial asset that is accounted for as a component of that instrument or is a contract that is 
accounted for separately. Factors that the Group considers when making this assessment include whether 
the guarantee is:

•	 Implicitly part of the contractual terms of the debt instrument;

•	 Entered into at the same time as, and in contemplation of, the debt instrument; or

•	 Given by the parent of the borrower or another company within the borrower’s group.

If the guarantee is determined to be an integral element of the financial asset, the Group considers the 
effect of the protection when measuring ECL and any premium payable is treated as a transaction cost of 
acquiring the financial asset. If the guarantee is not determined to be an integral element of the financial 
asset, the Group recognises an asset representing any prepayment of premium for the guarantee and a right 
to compensation for credit losses.

Purchased or originated credit-impaired (POCI) financial assets include financial assets that are purchased 
or originated at a deep discount that reflects incurred credit losses. This population includes the recognition 
of a new financial instrument following a renegotiation where concessions have been granted for economic 
or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty that otherwise would not have been 
considered, and exposures that arise from a forced close-out in accordance with legal or regulatory 
requirements. At initial recognition, POCI assets do not carry an impairment allowance; instead, lifetime 
expected credit losses are incorporated into the calculation of the effective interest rate. All changes in 
lifetime expected credit losses subsequent to the assets’ initial recognition are recognised as an impairment 
charge.

Offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the balance sheet when the Group 
currently has a legally enforceable right to set-off the recognised amounts and there is an intention either to 
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. In certain situations, even 
though master netting agreements exist, the lack of management intention to settle on a net basis results in 
the financial assets and liabilities being reported gross on the balance sheet.

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted, or for gains and losses arising from 
a group of similar transactions. 
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Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting 
A derivative is a financial instrument whose value changes in response to an underlying variable, requires 
no initial net investment or an initial net investment that is smaller than would be required for other types of 
contracts that would be expected to have a similar response to changes in market factors, and is settled at 
a future date. Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which they are entered into and 
are subsequently remeasured at fair value as described under the fair value policy above. 

All derivative instruments are carried as financial assets when the fair value is positive and as financial 
liabilities when the fair value is negative, subject to offsetting principles as described under the heading 
‘Offsetting’. 

The method of recognising fair value gains and losses depends on whether or not the derivatives are 
designated as hedging instruments, and if so, the nature of the hedge relationship.

Derivatives that qualify for hedge accounting 
The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments in respect of foreign currency risk, interest 
rate risk and equity price risk.

When derivatives are designated in a hedge relationship, the Group designates them as: 

•	 hedges of the fair value of recognised financial assets or liabilities or unrecognised firm commitments 
(fair value hedges); or

•	 hedges of variability in cash flows attributable to a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable 
forecast transaction (cash flow hedges). 

At inception of the hedge relationship, the Group documents the relationship between hedged items and 
hedging instruments, as well as its risk management objectives and strategy for undertaking various hedging 
relationships. The Group also documents its assessment, both at inception of the hedge and on an ongoing 
basis, of whether the hedging instruments are effective in offsetting the exposure to changes in the fair value 
or cash flows of the hedged items attributable to the hedged risk. 

Fair value hedges 
Where a hedging relationship is designated as a fair value hedge, the hedged item is adjusted for the change 
in fair value in respect of the risk being hedged. Gains or losses on the remeasurement of both the derivative 
and the hedged item are recognised in the income statement. 

If the derivative expires, or is sold, terminated or exercised, or the hedging relationship no longer meets 
the criteria for fair value hedge accounting, then hedge accounting is discontinued. The adjustment to the 
carrying amount of a hedged item measured at amortised cost, for which the effective interest method is 
used, is amortised to the income statement as part of the hedged item’s recalculated effective interest rate 
over the period to maturity. 

Cash flow hedges 
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow 
hedges is recognised in OCI. The ineffective part of any changes in fair value is recognised immediately in the 
income statement. Amounts previously recognised in OCI and accumulated in equity are reclassified to the 
income statement in the periods in which the hedged item affects profit or loss. 

If the derivative expires, or is sold, terminated or exercised, or the hedging relationship no longer meets the 
criteria for cash flow hedge accounting, then hedge accounting is discontinued. The cumulative gains or 
losses recognised in OCI and accumulated in equity remain in equity until the forecast transaction affects the 
income statement. If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gains and losses 
accumulated in equity are immediately reclassified to the income statement. 
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Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting 
All gains and losses from changes in the fair values of derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting 
are recognised immediately in the income statement. 

Financial guarantee contracts 
A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the Group (as issuer) to make specified payments 
to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in 
accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt instrument. 

Financial guarantee contracts issued are initially recognised at fair value, which is generally equal to the 
premium received. Subsequent to initial recognition, the financial guarantee liability is measured at the 
higher of the ECL allowance determined in accordance with the accounting policies set out above and 
the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised in 
accordance with the revenue recognition policies set out below. 

Derecognition of financial instruments 
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from those assets has 
expired, or when the Group has transferred its contractual rights to receive cash flows from the assets and 
either: (i) substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred; or (ii) the Group has 
neither retained nor transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, but has transferred 
control. Any interest in transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the Group is recognised as a 
separate asset or liability. 

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset (or the 
carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset derecognised) and the sum of: (i) the consideration 
received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed); and (ii) any cumulative gain or 
loss that has been recognised in OCI, is recognised in the income statement.

The Group enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its balance sheet, but retains 
either all or a portion of the risks and rewards of those assets. If all or substantially all of the risks and 
rewards are retained, the transferred assets are not derecognised. Transfers of assets with the retention 
of all or substantially all of the risks and rewards include securities lending and sale and repurchase 
transactions (see below). 

In transactions where the Group neither retains nor transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of a financial asset, it derecognises the asset if control over that asset is transferred. Any rights 
and obligations retained in the transfer are recognised separately as assets and liabilities as appropriate. In 
transfers where control over the asset is retained, the Group continues to recognise the asset to the extent 
of its continuing involvement, determined by the extent to which it is exposed to changes in the value of the 
transferred asset. 

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished, that is, when the obligation is discharged, 
cancelled or expires. 

Where an existing financial asset or liability is replaced by another with the same counterparty on 
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing financial asset or liability are substantially modified, 
such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original asset or liability and the 
recognition of a new asset or liability, with the difference in the respective carrying amounts being recognised 
in profit or loss. Any fees received as part of the modification of a financial asset that are considered in 
determining the fair value of the new asset or that represent reimbursement of eligible transaction costs are 
included in the initial measurement of the new asset. Other costs or fees incurred as part of the modification 
of a financial instrument are recognised in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on extinguishment.
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In all other instances, the Group recalculates the gross carrying amount of the financial asset or liability using 
the original effective interest rate and recognises the resulting adjustment as a modification gain or loss in 
the income statement. Any costs or fees incurred and fees received as part of the modification adjust the 
gross carrying amount of the modified financial asset or liability and are amortised over the remaining term 
of the modified financial instrument.

Sale and repurchase and securities lending agreements
Securities sold subject to a commitment to repurchase at a fixed price or the purchase price plus a lender’s 
rate of return (repurchase agreements) are not derecognised from the balance sheet and a liability is 
recorded in respect of the consideration received. The liability to the counterparty is included under 
repurchase agreements. 

Securities purchased under a commitment to resell at a fixed price or the purchase price plus a lender’s rate 
of return (reverse repurchase agreements), are not recognised on the balance sheet. An asset is recorded in 
respect of the consideration paid, included under reverse repurchase agreements. 

Repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements are measured at amortised cost or at fair value through 
profit or loss. For the former, the difference between the purchase and sales price is treated as interest, 
recognised in net interest income, and is amortised over the life of the agreement using the effective interest 
method. For the latter, interest income and expense, and all gains and losses from changes in fair value are 
included in net gain/loss on non-trading financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. 

Contracts that are economically equivalent to repurchase or reverse repurchase agreements (such as sales 
or purchases of debt securities entered into together with total return swaps with the same counterparty) are 
accounted for similarly to, and presented together with, repurchase or reverse repurchase agreements.

Securities lent to counterparties are retained on the balance sheet and are classified and measured in 
accordance with the policy above. Securities borrowed are not recognised on the balance sheet unless sold 
to third parties. In these cases, the obligation to return the securities borrowed is recorded at fair value as a 
trading liability, with fair value changes recognised in the income statement. Income and expenses arising 
from the securities borrowing and lending business are recognised over the term of the transactions. 

6. Commodities and related transactions
Commodities that are principally acquired by the Group for the purpose of selling in the near future and 
generating a profit from fluctuations in price or broker-traders’ margin, are measured at fair value less costs 
to sell to the intended buyer and are reported as non-financial assets held for trading within other assets. All 
changes in fair value less costs to sell are recognised in net trading revenue in the period of change. 

Forward contracts to purchase or sell commodities that are either net settled or where physical delivery 
occurs and the commodities are held to settle another derivative contract, are recognised as derivative 
financial instruments and measured at fair value. All changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss in 
net trading revenue in the period of change. 

Commodities purchased under agreements to resell, at either a fixed price or the purchase price plus a 
lender’s rate of return that are in substance financing transactions are recorded as reverse repurchase 
agreements under trading assets. The difference between the purchase and sales price is treated as interest 
and is recognised in net trading revenue along with all other gains and losses from changes in fair value.

Commodities lent to counterparties are retained on the balance sheet and are classified and measured in 
accordance with the policies set out above. Commodities borrowed are not recognised on the balance sheet 
unless sold to third parties, in which case, the obligation to return the commodity borrowed is recorded at fair 
value as non-financial liabilities due to customers within other liabilities. Income and expenses arising from 
the Group’s commodity lending and borrowing business are recognised over the period of the transactions. 
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The Group enters into prepayment agreements whereby it earns either a fixed return or a variable return 
linked to commodity prices. The former are recorded as loans and advances, initially recognised at fair value, 
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The latter are recorded 
as non-trading financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, initially recognised at fair value, and 
subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss, with fair value changes recognised in net gain on 
non-trading financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

Precious metals can be held by the Group on an allocated or unallocated basis. Commodities held by the 
Group, which have been allocated to customers, are not recognised on the Group’s balance sheet.

7. Intangible assets 
Computer software 
Costs associated with developing or maintaining computer software and the acquisition of software licences 
are generally recognised as an expense as incurred. However, direct computer software development costs 
that are clearly associated with an identifiable and unique system, which will be controlled by the Group and 
have a probable future economic benefit beyond one year are recognised as intangible assets. Capitalisation 
is limited to development costs where the Group is able to demonstrate its intention and ability to complete 
and use the software, the technical feasibility of the development, the availability of resources to complete 
the development, the probable future economic benefits and the ability to reliably measure costs relating 
to the development. Development costs include employee costs for software development staff and an 
appropriate portion of relevant overheads. 

Expenditure subsequently incurred on computer software is capitalised only when it increases the future 
economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. Costs relating to the ongoing day-to-day 
maintenance of computer software are expensed immediately as incurred.

Direct computer software development costs recognised as intangible assets are amortised on a straight-
line basis at rates appropriate to the expected useful lives of the assets (two to five years) from the date the 
assets are available for use, and are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses. The carrying amount of capitalised computer software is reviewed annually and is written 
down when impaired. Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial 
year-end and adjusted, if appropriate. 
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8. Property and equipment 
Computer and office equipment, furniture, fittings and other tangible assets are measured at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Where significant parts of an item of property or equipment 
have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property and 
equipment. 

Costs that are subsequently incurred are included in the asset’s related carrying amount or are recognised 
as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the 
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. Expenditure that does not meet these criteria is 
recognised in profit or loss as incurred. Depreciation, impairment losses and gains and losses on disposal of 
assets are included in profit or loss. 

Property and equipment are depreciated to their estimated residual values on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful lives of the assets. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method applied are 
reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted, if appropriate. 

The estimated useful lives of tangible assets are typically as follows: 

Computer equipment	  			   2 to 5 years

Office equipment 				    5 to 7 years

Furniture and fittings 				    5 to 7 years

There has been no change to the estimated useful lives and depreciation methods from those applied in the 
previous financial year. 

Items of property and equipment are derecognised on disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected from their use or disposal. The gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss and is 
determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item.

9. Impairment of non-financial assets 
Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or that are not yet available for use are tested annually 
for impairment and additionally when an indicator of impairment exists. Intangible assets that are subject to 
amortisation and other non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment at each reporting date and tested 
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. 

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs 
to sell and value in use. Fair value less costs to sell is determined by ascertaining the current market value 
of an asset and deducting any costs related to the realisation of the asset. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that 
the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the 
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss 
only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have 
been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 
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10. Leases 
As lessee
At the inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract is or contains a lease. A contract 
is, or contains, a lease if it conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in 
exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified 
asset, the Group uses the definition of a lease in IFRS 16 Leases.

The Group recognises a right of use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date or on the 
effective date of the modification for the modification of an existing lease. The right of use asset is initially 
measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments 
made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs 
to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset to its original condition, less 
any lease incentives received.

The right of use asset is subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses, and is adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability. Depreciation is determined using 
the straight-line method from the commencement date to the end of the lease term, and the Group applies 
IAS 36 Impairment of Assets to determine whether the right of use asset is impaired and to account for any 
impairment loss identified. 

The Group presents the right of use asset in the balance sheet in the same line item within which the 
corresponding underlying assets would be presented if they were owned. The Group’s leases principally 
relate to properties and are accordingly included in property and equipment in the balance sheet.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 
commencement date or the date of modification, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if 
that rate can be determined, or the Group’s incremental borrowing rate appropriate for the right-of-use asset 
arising from the lease. 

The lease liability is subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is 
remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, or a 
change in the assessment of whether a purchase or extension option is reasonably certain to be exercised or 
a termination option is reasonably certain not to be exercised. 

The Group presents the lease liability in other liabilities in the balance sheet.

The Group has applied judgement to determine the lease term for some lease contracts in which it is a 
lessee that include renewal options or break clauses. The assessment of whether the Group is reasonably 
certain to exercise such options impacts the lease term, which could significantly affect the amount of lease 
liabilities and right of use assets recognised.

The Group has elected not to recognise right of use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-value assets 
and short-term leases, i.e. leases that, at the commencement date, have a lease term of 12-months or less. 
The Group recognises the lease payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight line 
basis over the lease term.

As lessor
When the Group acts as lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an 
operating lease.

To classify each lease, the Group makes an overall assessment whether the lease transfers substantially all 
of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this is the case, then the lease is 
a finance lease; if not then it is an operating lease. As part of this assessment, the Group considers certain 
indicators such as whether the lease is for the major part of the economic life of the asset.
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When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for its interests in the head lease and the sub-lease 
separately. It assesses the lease classification of a sub-lease with reference to the right of use asset arising 
from the head lease, not with reference to the underlying asset.

The Group is lessor in relation to sub-leases on certain of its properties. These are classified as operating 
leases under IFRS 16, with the lease asset recognised as part of the right of use asset for the related head 
lease. Lease payments received on these sub-leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight line basis 
over the lease term.

11. Provisions, contingent assets and contingent liabilities 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 
events, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. Provisions are determined by 
discounting the expected future cash flows required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. 

A provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the expected benefits to be derived by the Group from 
a contract are lower than the unavoidable costs of meeting its obligations under the contract. The provision 
is measured at the present value of the lower of the expected cost of terminating the contract and the 
expected net cost of continuing with the contract. Before a provision is established, the Group recognises any 
impairment loss on the assets associated with that contract. 

A provision for restructuring is recognised when the Group has approved a detailed and formal restructuring 
plan and the restructuring either has commenced or has been announced publicly. A restructuring provision 
includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are both necessarily entailed by 
the restructuring and not associated with the ongoing activities of the entity. Future operating losses are not 
provided for.

Contingent liabilities include certain guarantees, other than financial guarantees, and letters of credit. 
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the annual financial statements but are disclosed unless they are 
remote. 

Contingent assets are not recognised in the annual financial statements but are disclosed when it is 
probable that economic benefits will flow to the Group.
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12. Tax 
Direct taxation 
Direct taxation includes current and deferred tax. Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss 
except to the extent that they relate to items recognised directly in equity or in OCI, in which case they are 
recognised in the same statement in which the related item appears. The tax consequences of the Group’s 
dividend payments (including distributions on other equity instruments) are charged or credited to the 
statement in which the profit distributed originally arose.

Current tax represents the expected tax payable on taxable profits for the year, calculated using tax rates 
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustments to tax payable in respect of 
previous years. 

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. Deferred tax is calculated using the 
tax rates expected to apply to the temporary differences when they reverse, based on laws that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

The amount of deferred tax recognised is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of 
the asset or liability and is not discounted. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent it is probable that future taxable 
profits will be available against which the unused tax losses and other deductible temporary differences can 
be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent it is no 
longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. 

Current and deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset and 
they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different 
taxable entities in the same tax reporting group, and they intend to settle on a net basis or the tax assets and 
liabilities will be realised and settled simultaneously. 

The Group has determined that the global minimum top-up tax, which it is required to pay under Pillar Two 
legislation, is an income tax in the scope of IAS 12. The Group has applied a temporary mandatory relief 
from deferred tax accounting for the impacts of the top-up tax and accounts for it as a current tax when it is 
incurred. 

Indirect taxation 
Indirect taxes, including non-recoverable value added tax (VAT) and other duties for banking activities, are 
recognised in profit or loss as they arise and disclosed separately in the income statement.
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13. Employee benefits 
Post-employment benefits – defined contribution plans
The Group operates a number of defined contribution plans, with contributions based on a percentage of 
pensionable earnings funded by both employer companies and employees. The assets of these plans are 
generally held in separate trustee-administered funds. 

Contributions to these plans are recognised as an expense in the income statement in the periods during 
which services are rendered by employees. 

Short-term benefits 
Short-term employee benefits consist of salaries, accumulated leave payments, cash bonuses and any 
non-monetary benefits such as medical care contributions. Short-term employee benefit obligations are 
measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is provided. 

A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus plans or 
accumulated leave if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay these amounts as a 
result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

14. Deferred compensation
The Group operates an annual incentive arrangement that all eligible employees participate in, with a 
portion of that award being deferred for up to seven years through the quanto stock unit plan, the Deferred 
Performance Plan (‘the DPP’) and deferred cash awards, for employees with an incentive award above a set 
threshold or that meet certain other criteria. 

The quanto stock unit plan awarded qualifying employees quanto stock units denominated in US dollars for 
nil consideration. The value of units is based on the ICBC ordinary share price as quoted on the Hong Kong 
Stock Exchange and the awards are cash settled upon vesting or after a further retention period of six or 
twelve months. 

For awards granted on or after 1 March 2024, the quanto stock unit plan was replaced with the DPP, which 
replaced the quanto stock unit with an ICBCS Notional Share. This was initially anchored to ICBCS’s net 
asset value attributable to ordinary shareholders as at 31 December 2023, as defined in the consolidated 
statement of changes in shareholders’ equity, and is annually adjusted by ICBCS’s return on equity for the 
relevant performance year. As for quanto stock units, ICBCS Notional Shares are awarded to qualifying 
employees for nil consideration and will be cash settled upon vesting or after a further retention period of 
twelve months. The DPP and the quanto stock unit plan will run in parallel until the final quanto stock unit 
plan awards vest or the further retention period expires.

The deferred cash awards provide a conditional right to a pay-out of a fixed cash amount set on the grant 
date of the award and are similarly paid upon vesting or after a further retention period of six or twelve 
months.

Awards under the quanto stock unit plan and DPP, and deferred cash awards, which are granted following 
Board Remuneration and People Committee approval subsequent to year end, vest annually over periods of 
up to seven years dependent on the employee remaining in service for the period concerned. 

The period over which the expense for deferred cash and notional share awards under both the quanto stock 
unit plan and the DPP is recognised is based upon the period over which it is considered that employees’ 
services contribute to the awards. For past awards, the Group accrued the expense of the deferred cash 
and notional share awards over the period from the legal grant date to the date that the awards vest. In 
relation to awards granted from 1 January 2021, the Group, taking into account the changing understanding 
surrounding the awards, considered it appropriate to include the relevant performance period before the 
legal grant date in the vesting period for recognising the expense related to such awards. 
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The amount of the accrued liability for the deferred cash and notional share awards under both the quanto 
stock unit plan and the DPP is re-measured at the end of each reporting period, taking into account 
assumptions about potential leavers and the rights given to actual leavers during the year. Changes in the 
liability are accounted for through the income statement over the life of the awards. Changes in the liability 
for the quanto stock unit awards arising from ICBC share price movements have been materially hedged, 
applying cash flow hedging principles.

15. Revenue and expenditure 
Revenue described below represents the most appropriate equivalent of turnover for a bank and is derived 
substantially from the business of banking and related activities.

Net interest income 
Interest income and expense are recognised in the income statement on an accruals basis using the 
effective interest method for all interest-bearing financial instruments, except those classified at fair value 
through profit or loss. Under the effective interest method, interest is recognised at a rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument 
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. 
Direct incremental transaction costs incurred and origination fees received, including loan commitment 
fees, as a result of bringing margin-yielding assets or liabilities on to the balance sheet, are capitalised to 
the carrying amount of financial instruments that are not at fair value through profit or loss and amortised as 
interest income or expense over the life of the asset or liability as part of the effective interest rate. 

Where the estimate of payments or receipts on financial assets or financial liabilities are subsequently 
revised, the carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability is adjusted to reflect actual and revised 
estimated cash flows. The carrying amount is calculated by computing the present value of the estimated 
cash flows at the financial asset’s or financial liability’s original effective interest rate. Any adjustment to the 
carrying value is recognised in net interest income. 

Non-interest revenue 
Net fees, commission and revenue sharing arrangements 
Fee and commission income, including transactional fees, account servicing fees, sales commissions and 
placement fees are recognised as the related services are performed. Loan commitment fees for loans 
that are not expected to be drawn down are recognised on a straight-line basis over the commitment 
period. Loan syndication fees, where the Group does not participate in the syndication or participates at 
the same effective interest rate for comparable risk as other participants, are recognised as revenue when 
the syndication has been completed. Syndication fees that do not meet these criteria are capitalised as 
origination fees and amortised as interest income over the life of the loan as part of the effective interest 
rate. 

A contract with a customer that results in a recognised financial instrument in the Group’s financial 
statements may be partially in the scope of IFRS 9 and partially in the scope of IFRS 15 Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers (IFRS 15). If this is the case, the Group first applies IFRS 9 to separate and 
measure the part of the contract that is in the scope of that standard and then applies IFRS 15 to the 
residual.

The fair value of issued financial guarantee contracts on initial recognition is amortised as income over the 
term of the contract. 
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Fee and commission expenses included in net fee and commission income are mainly transaction and 
service fees relating to financial instruments, which are expensed as the services are received. Expenditure 
is recognised as fee and commission expenses where the expenditure is linked to the production of fee and 
commission income.

Net trading revenue 
Net trading revenue comprises all gains and losses from changes in the fair value of financial assets and 
liabilities held for trading (including derivative assets and liabilities not designated as hedging instruments) 
and commodities within non-financial assets held for trading, together with related interest income and 
expense, dividends, foreign exchange differences and, with effect from 1 January 2024, funding costs 
relating to trading activities previously reported in net gain on non-trading financial assets and liabilities 
at FVTPL. These were previously recognised in the income statement in the line item corresponding to the 
balance sheet category in which the related funding liability is included. From 2024, these have now been 
included in net trading revenue to better reflect the commercial position of the Bank whereby the funding 
costs are included in the same line item in the income statement as the revenue they generate and be 
consistent with reporting of interest expense on funding liabilities measured at amortised cost that primarily 
fund trading activities, which is similarly reported in net trading revenue. Prior year comparatives have not 
been restated. 

Gains/losses from non-trading financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss
Gains/losses from non-trading financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss includes all gains 
and losses from changes in the fair value of non-trading financial instruments designated and otherwise 
mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss, including interest income and expense (except 
as noted below), dividends and foreign exchange differences in respect of those financial instruments, and 
gains and losses from changes in the fair value of derivatives managed in conjunction with those financial 
instruments.

With effect from 1 January 2024, interest expense on certain funding liabilities (e.g. deposits) classified as 
non-trading financial liabilities at FVTPL has been reclassified to net trading revenue and net interest income 
to match the funding costs incurred by the Bank with the revenues generated by the assets funded by those 
liabilities. This better reflects the commercial position of the Bank and is consistent with reporting of interest 
expense on funding liabilities measured at amortised cost that primarily fund trading activities, which is also 
reported in net trading revenue. Prior year comparatives have not been restated.

Dividend income 
Dividends are recognised in profit or loss when the right to receipt is established, it is probable that the 
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be 
measured reliably. 
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16. Segment reporting 
An operating segment is a component of the Group engaged in business activities, whose operating results 
are reviewed regularly by management in order to make decisions about resources to be allocated to 
the segment and assess its performance. The Group’s identification of segments and the measurement 
of segment results are based on the Group’s internal reporting to management. Transactions between 
segments are priced at market-related rates.

17. Fiduciary activities (client money and client assets)
The Group engages in trust or other fiduciary activities that result in the holding or placing of assets on 
behalf of individuals, trusts, post-employment benefit plans and other institutions. These assets and the 
income arising directly thereon are excluded from these annual financial statements as they are not assets 
of the Group. Fee income earned and fee expenses incurred by the Group relating to its responsibilities from 
fiduciary activities are recognised in the income statement.

18. New standards and interpretations not yet adopted 
The IASB has issued Amendments to IAS 21 – Lack of Exchangeability, which is effective 1 January 2025, 
Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments (IFRS 9 and IFRS 7), which 
is effective 1 January 2026 and IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures, which is 
effective 1 January 2027. The Group has not early adopted either the amendments or IFRS 19 and they are 
not expected to have a significant impact on the Group when adopted.

The IASB has also issued IFRS 18 Primary Financial Statements, which is effective 1 January 2027. The 
Standard will not change recognition criteria or measurement bases, and the Group is currently assessing 
the impact of this standard on the presentation of information in the financial statements, in particular the 
income statement.
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15. Notes to the annual financial statements

1. Segment reporting
The Group’s Executive Committee has been determined to be the chief operating decision maker for the 
Group. The Group’s results comprise two reportable segments, namely Commodities and Fixed Income 
and Currencies (FIC). As described below, these divisions provide different products and services, and are 
managed and reported separately based on the Group’s management and internal reporting structure. 
Costs are allocated to business units based on relevant cost drivers (such as risk weighted assets, 
technology system utilisation and income generating headcount). Segment performance is evaluated based 
on operating profits or losses and is measured consistently with operating profits or losses in the Group’s 
financial statements. The central treasury balance sheet and net revenues are reflected in Other, with its 
interest income generated from the return on the Bank’s capital base and deployment of surplus liquidity. 
Income taxes are allocated to segments to the extent they relate to specific transactions (e.g. withholding 
taxes), but otherwise are managed on a group basis and included in Other. Information related to each 
reportable segment is set out below. The information is shown after eliminating transactions and balances 
between segments.

Operating Segments

Commodities The Commodities business unit provides trading, sales, lending and structuring expertise and has global presence 
across base metals, precious metals and energy. 

FIC The FIC business unit provides a comprehensive range of foreign exchange, money markets, interest rate and credit 
products, including structured lending. The segment is largely focused on emerging and frontier markets. 

Segment Results

2024 Commodities 
$m

FIC 
$m

Other 
$m

Total 
$m

Net interest income 33.0 59.8 71.1 163.9 
Net fees and commission 16.2 28.4 (0.5) 44.1 
Net trading revenue 125.5 130.9 0.6 257.0 
Net gain on non-trading financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit 
or loss 7.1 100.1 (0.1) 107.1 

Total operating income 181.8 319.2 71.1 572.1 
Credit impairment charges (1.8) (0.9)  – (2.7)
Income after credit impairments 180.0 318.3 71.1 569.4 
Operating expenses (164.4) (218.0)  – (382.4)
Profit before taxation 15.6 100.3 71.1 187.0 
Income tax charge  – (12.5) (18.0) (30.5)
Profit attributable to equity shareholders 15.6 87.8 53.1 156.5 

Included in operating expenses:
Depreciation 8.8 6.0  – 14.8 
Amortisation of intangible assets 4.2 4.5  – 8.7 
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1. Segment reporting (continued)
Segment Results (continued)

2023 Commodities 
$m

FIC 
$m

Other 
$m

Total 
$m

Net interest income 38.3 42.7 72.9 153.9 
Net fees and commission 9.8 29.8 (1.0) 38.6 
Net trading revenue 122.6 191.0 0.4 314.0 
Net gain / (loss) on non-trading financial assets and liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss 6.6 44.9  – 51.5 

Total operating income 177.3 308.4 72.3 558.0 
Credit impairment recoveries / (charges) (3.2) 53.4  – 50.2 
Income after credit impairments 174.1 361.8 72.3 608.2 
Operating expenses (163.7) (233.9)  – (397.6)
Profit before taxation 10.4 127.9 72.3 210.6 
Income tax charge  – (4.8) (18.7) (23.5)
Profit attributable to equity shareholders 10.4 123.1 53.6 187.1 

Included in operating expenses:
Depreciation 10.6 6.9  – 17.5 
Amortisation of intangible assets 4.4 4.9 0.3 9.6 

Segment assets and liabilities

2024 Commodities 
$m

FIC 
$m

Other 
$m

Total 
$m

Total assets 9,307.9 14,078.9 3,213.6 26,600.4 
Total liabilities 9,307.9 14,078.9 1,269.9 24,656.7 

2023
Total assets 7,406.6 12,364.6 3,475.9 23,247.1 
Total liabilities 7,406.6 12,364.6 1,605.0 21,376.2 
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1. Segment reporting (continued)
Geographical analysis
The geographical analysis has been compiled on the basis of the financial accounting records of the regional 
offices and has been prepared in accordance with the Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) 
Regulations 2013, under the framework of the Capital Requirements Directive IV (CRD IV).

Name
2024

Nature of 
activities

Geographical 
location

Turnover1

$m

Profit / 
(loss) 

before tax
$m

Corporation 
tax paid2

$m

Average 
number of 

employees
ICBC Standard Bank Plc Banking United Kingdom 515.4 182.2 15.7 729
ICBC Standard Bank Plc Singapore branch Banking Singapore 32.9 3.6 1.7 88 
ICBC Standard Resources (China) Limited Trading China 4.1 1.0 0.2 12 
ICBC Standard NY Holdings, Inc. group Broker/Dealer USA 19.7 0.2 0.1 30 
Total 572.1 187.0 17.7 859 

2023
ICBC Standard Bank Plc Banking United Kingdom 492.4 197.7 28.4 710 
ICBC Standard Bank Plc Singapore branch Banking Singapore 38.2 9.7 2.0 91 
ICBC Standard Resources (China) Limited Trading China 4.7 1.0 0.1 12 
ICBC Standard NY Holdings, Inc. group Broker/Dealer USA 22.7 2.2 1.8 31 
Total 558.0 210.6 32.3 844 

1	 Turnover is defined as accounting revenue, being total operating income, and at the entity level is recorded under the terms of the Group’s 
transfer pricing model for taxation.

2	 ICBC Standard Bank Plc corporation tax paid in 2024 includes US$1.0 million paid in relation to the USA permanent establishment  
(2023: US$2.0 million).

Summary balance sheet

Name
2024

Total  
assets

$m

Non-financial 
assets

$m

Total 
liabilities

$m

Non-financial 
liabilities

$m
ICBC Standard Bank Plc 26,494.4 6,364.5 24,634.1 5,034.7 
ICBC Standard Bank Plc Singapore branch 65.7 8.7 12.0 12.0 
ICBC Standard Resources (China) Limited 14.9 0.8 1.4 1.3 
ICBC Standard NY Holdings, Inc. group 44.9 12.1 15.1 15.1 
Other consolidation eliminations (19.5) (5.8) (5.9) (5.9)
Total 26,600.4 6,380.3 24,656.7 5,057.2 

2023
ICBC Standard Bank Plc 23,153.6 5,077.5 21,363.2 3,471.4 
ICBC Standard Bank Plc Singapore branch 61.7 6.9 10.8 10.8 
ICBC Standard Resources (China) Limited 16.0 2.2 2.4 2.0 
ICBC Standard NY Holdings, Inc. group 38.9 7.2 9.3 9.3 
Other consolidation eliminations (23.1) (9.4) (9.5) (9.3)
Total 23,247.1 5,084.4 21,376.2 3,484.2 

During the year, the Group received public subsidies of $33,200 under various employment initiatives 
operated by the Singapore government (2023: $10,000).
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2. Critical accounting judgements and estimates
In preparing the consolidated and Company financial statements, estimates and judgements are made that 
could affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within the next reporting period. Estimates and 
judgements are continually evaluated and are based on factors such as historical experience and current 
best estimates of uncertain future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

2.1 Determining fair value (estimate)
The fair value of financial instruments that are not quoted in active markets is determined using other 
valuation techniques. Wherever possible, models use only observable market data. Where required, 
these models incorporate assumptions that are not supported by prices from observable current market 
transactions in the same instrument and are not based on available observable market data. Such 
assumptions include recoverability, risk premiums, liquidity discount rates, credit spreads, volatilities and 
correlations. Changes in these assumptions could affect the reported fair values of financial instruments, 
including the related unrealised gains and losses recognised in income in the period. Additional disclosures 
on fair value measurements of financial instruments are set out in notes 23 to 25. 

2.2 Legal and regulatory matters (judgement)
From time to time, the Group is the subject of litigation, regulatory reviews and requests for information by 
various governmental and regulatory bodies arising from the Group’s business operations.

Provisions for legal and regulatory matters typically require a high degree of judgement based on the specific 
facts and circumstances relating to individual events and there can be a wide range of possible outcomes 
and uncertainties and, as a result, it is often not practicable to make meaningful estimates of the probability 
and amount of any outflows that may arise, even when matters are at a more advanced stage.

Notwithstanding the above, the Bank recognised provisions totalling $10.8 million in December 2023 in 
respect of legal matters, in accordance with accounting policy 11, primarily in relation to the estimated 
legal costs of defending certain claims as they progress through the courts or other stages of the litigation 
process. Further provisions of $2.8 million were recognised during 2024 for similar such costs, and  
$5.0 million was utilised in September 2024 following a provisional settlement being agreed amongst all 
parties in respect of one claim against the Bank, leaving a total provision in respect of such matters at 31 
December 2024 of $8.6 million. Additional disclosures on legal matters involving the Group are set out in 
note 29.3.

2.3 Deferred tax assets (judgement)
The accounting policy for the recognition of deferred tax assets is described in accounting policy 12. A 
deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against 
which the deductible temporary differences and unutilised trading losses can be utilised. Recognition relies 
on management’s judgements surrounding the probability and sufficiency of future taxable profits and future 
reversals of existing taxable temporary differences.

Recognition is based on the evidence available concerning conditions at the reporting date including 
significant management judgements with respect to projections of business revenues. Management’s 
judgement takes into account the impact of both negative and positive evidence, including historical financial 
results and projections of future taxable income, on which the recognition of the deferred tax asset is mainly 
dependent.
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2. Critical accounting judgements and estimates (continued)
2.3 Deferred tax assets (judgement) (continued) 

Recent profits in the Group are not deemed sufficient on their own to support recognition of the majority 
of deferred tax assets on the basis of estimated future taxable profits over the Group’s four-year planning 
horizon. This reflects uncertainties arising from the general macro-economic environment, market volatility 
created by various recent events including the on-going war in Ukraine, continued conflict in the Middle 
East and other geopolitical tensions, as well as the inherent volatility associated with the Group’s trading 
activities. Given these uncertainties, management has utilised a two-year look-ahead period to support the 
recognition of a deferred tax asset.

At 31 December 2024, the Group recognised a deferred tax asset of $13.3 million, including a UK deferred 
tax asset of $12.4 million, based on a two-year look-ahead of probable profits for 2025 and 2026 against 
which the associated deductible temporary differences and unutilised trading losses can be offset. As the 
UK deferred tax asset recognised is dependent on the judgement of probable future profits, to the extent 
the level of actual profits is greater than what has been determined to be probable, the level of deferred tax 
asset recognised could have been materially different. Gross unutilised trading losses carried forward and 
other temporary differences of $680.0 million, representing potential deferred tax assets of $170.0 million, 
have not been recognised by the Group.

Additional disclosure relating to the deferred tax asset is set out in note 12.
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3. Cash and balances with central banks
Group Company

2024 
$m

2023 
$m

2024 
$m

2023 
$m

Reserve Account with Bank of England1 2,674.1 2,635.9 2,674.1 2,635.9 

1	 This reserve account operates in the same way as a current account with an overnight contractual tenor.

4. Due from banks and other financial institutions
Group Company

2024 
$m

2023 
$m

2024 
$m

2023 
$m

Gross banks and other financial institutions 3,730.2 2,252.5 3,667.4 2,191.4 
Credit loss allowances (3.0) (4.1) (3.0) (4.1)

3,727.2 2,248.4 3,664.4 2,187.3 
Segmental industry analysis
Due from banks 2,751.4 1,008.1 2,688.6 947.0 
Other financial institutions 975.8 1,240.3 975.8 1,240.3 

3,727.2 2,248.4 3,664.4 2,187.3 
Included above are the following amounts with related parties
Balances with ultimate holding company (ICBC) and subsidiaries and branches 53.9 86.6 24.0 57.0 
Balances with shareholder with significant influence (SBG) and subsidiaries and branches 42.1 33.6 42.1 33.6 

96.0 120.2 66.1 90.6 

5. Financial assets held for trading
Group Company

2024 
$m

2023 
$m

2024 
$m

2023 
$m

Government, utility bonds and treasury bills 843.2 979.7 843.2 979.7 
Corporate bonds and floating rate notes 368.7 298.8 368.7 298.8 

1,211.9 1,278.5 1,211.9 1,278.5 

6. Non-trading financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Group Company

2024 
$m

2023 
$m

2024 
$m

2023 
$m

Debt instruments 685.7 2,852.8 685.7 2,852.8 
Unlisted equities 3.3 3.8 3.3 3.8 

689.0 2,856.6 689.0 2,856.6 
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7. Derivative instruments
7.1 Derivative assets and liabilities
All derivatives are classified as either derivatives held for trading or derivatives held for hedging.

Maturity analysis of net  
fair value Net fair 

value
Fair value 
of assets

Fair 
value of 

liabilities

Contract 
/ notional 

amount < 1 year 1–5 years > 5 years
Group 2024 $m $m $m $m $m $m  $m 
Gross derivatives held for trading

Foreign exchange derivatives (90.9) 0.1  – (90.8) 1,345.9 (1,436.7) 113,839.4 
Forwards (92.5) (1.1)  – (93.6) 1,307.8 (1,401.4) 110,006.2 
Options 1.6 1.2  – 2.8 38.1 (35.3) 3,833.2 

Interest rate derivatives (99.1) (114.2) 65.0 (148.3) 6,004.3 (6,152.6) 491,640.6 
Caps and floors  – 3.9  – 3.9 4.1 (0.2) 1,559.6 
Forwards 4.3  –  – 4.3 19.8 (15.5) 35,692.4 
Futures options  – 0.1  – 0.1 4.4 (4.3) 64,883.6 
Swaps (104.6) (116.8) 65.0 (156.4) 5,960.0 (6,116.4) 386,018.5 
Swaptions 1.2 (1.4)  – (0.2) 16.0 (16.2) 3,486.5 

Commodity derivatives 203.5 108.1  – 311.6 4,462.5 (4,150.9) 166,747.1 
Forwards 163.6 3.4  – 167.0 656.9 (489.9) 30,240.0 
Futures 48.4 98.4  – 146.8 3,730.4 (3,583.6) 131,893.6 
Options (0.7) (0.4)  – (1.1) 19.8 (20.9) 2,630.4 
Swaps (7.8) 6.7  – (1.1) 55.4 (56.5) 1,983.1 

Credit derivatives 2.1 (29.4) (1.3) (28.6) 106.3 (134.9) 1,193.4 
Credit default swaps  – (2.5) 0.2 (2.3) 4.5 (6.8) 538.5 
Total return swaps 2.1 (26.9) (1.5) (26.3) 101.8 (128.1) 654.9 

Total gross derivative assets / (liabilities)  
held for trading 15.6 (35.4) 63.7 43.9 11,919.0 (11,875.1) 773,420.5 

Gross derivatives held for hedging

Derivatives designated as cash 
flow hedges (0.5) 1.9  – 1.4 5.0 (3.6) 371.2 
Foreign exchange forwards (1.6) (0.2)  – (1.8) 1.7 (3.5) 358.5 
Equity options 1.1 2.1  – 3.2 3.3 (0.1) 12.7 

Derivatives designated as fair 
value hedges  – (4.2)  – (4.2) 1.3 (5.5) 212.2 
Interest rate swaps  – (4.2)  – (4.2) 1.3 (5.5) 212.2 

Total gross derivative assets / (liabilities) 
 held for hedging (0.5) (2.3)  – (2.8) 6.3 (9.1) 583.4 

Total gross derivative assets / (liabilities) 15.1 (37.7) 63.7 41.1 11,925.3 (11,884.2) 774,003.9 

Offset (Note 26) (324.8)  –  – (324.8) (8,014.1) 7,689.3  – 

Total derivative assets / (liabilities) (309.7) (37.7) 63.7 (283.7) 3,911.2 (4,194.9) 774,003.9 

Included above are the following amounts with related parties:

Balances with ultimate holding company (ICBC) and subsidiaries and branches 86.3 466.5 (380.2)

Balances with shareholder with significant influence (SBG) and subsidiaries and 
branches 32.6 250.1 (217.5)

The contract/notional amounts of derivatives indicate the nominal value of transactions outstanding at the 
balance sheet date. They do not represent amounts at risk.

The Company reported derivative assets of $3,911.2 million (2023: $3,383.2 million) and derivative 
liabilities of $4,194.9 million (2023: $3,782.3 million).
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7. Derivative instruments (continued)
7.1 Derivative assets and liabilities (continued)

Maturity analysis of net  
fair value Net fair 

value
Fair value 
of assets

Fair 
value of 

liabilities

Contract 
/ notional 

amount < 1 year 1–5 years > 5 years
Group 2023 $m $m $m $m $m $m  $m 
Gross derivatives held for trading

Foreign exchange derivatives (4.2) (4.9)  – (9.1) 1,245.7 (1,254.8) 85,941.4 
Forwards (5.5) (4.8)  – (10.3) 1,241.1 (1,251.4) 85,027.9 
Options 1.3 (0.1)  – 1.2 4.6 (3.4) 913.5 

Interest rate derivatives (176.3) (17.8) 65.7 (128.4) 6,807.9 (6,936.3) 450,605.0 
Caps and floors 0.2 2.8 (0.7) 2.3 3.2 (0.9) 990.9 
Forwards (0.2)  –  – (0.2) 3.4 (3.6) 7,216.8 
Futures options  – 0.1  – 0.1 2.6 (2.5) 67,499.8 
Swaps (164.6) (19.3) 66.4 (117.5) 6,790.4 (6,907.9) 373,192.3 
Swaptions (11.7) (1.4)  – (13.1) 8.3 (21.4) 1,705.2 

Commodity derivatives 4.7 6.9  – 11.6 1,892.5 (1,880.9) 111,465.6 
Forwards 49.1 16.6  – 65.7 582.7 (517.0) 25,729.5 
Futures 4.6 (5.1)  – (0.5) 1,183.3 (1,183.8) 80,214.3 
Options 1.1 (0.8)  – 0.3 22.7 (22.4) 1,683.1 
Swaps (50.1) (3.8)  – (53.9) 103.8 (157.7) 3,838.7 

Credit derivatives (13.1) (100.0) 0.1 (113.0) 70.7 (183.7) 1,749.6 
Credit default swaps 0.7 (3.6) 3.2 0.3 13.4 (13.1) 923.3 
Total return swaps (13.8) (96.4) (3.1) (113.3) 57.3 (170.6) 826.3 

Total gross derivative assets / (liabilities)  
held for trading (188.9) (115.8) 65.8 (238.9) 10,016.8 (10,255.7) 649,761.6 

Gross derivatives held for hedging

Derivatives designated as cash 
flow hedges 17.0 2.9 (0.1) 19.8 22.2 (2.4) 281.6 
Foreign exchange forwards 17.8 4.4  – 22.2 22.2  – 261.4 
Equity options (0.8) (1.5) (0.1) (2.4)  – (2.4) 20.2 

Derivatives designated as fair 
value hedges  – (6.0) 3.2 (2.8) 3.3 (6.1) 244.9 
Interest rate swaps  – (6.0) 3.2 (2.8) 3.3 (6.1) 244.9 

Total gross derivative assets / (liabilities) 
held for hedging 17.0 (3.1) 3.1 17.0 25.5 (8.5) 526.5 

Total gross derivative assets / (liabilities) (171.9) (118.9) 68.9 (221.9) 10,042.3 (10,264.2) 650,288.1 

Offset (Note 26) (177.2)  –  – (177.2) (6,659.1) 6,481.9  – 

Total derivative assets / (liabilities) (349.1) (118.9) 68.9 (399.1) 3,383.2 (3,782.3) 650,288.1 

Included above are the following amounts with related parties:

Balances with ultimate holding company (ICBC) and subsidiaries and branches 258.5 467.8 (209.3)

Balances with shareholder with significant influence (SBG) and subsidiaries and 
branches 22.6 342.0 (319.4)
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7. Derivative instruments (continued)
7.2 Use and measurement of derivative instruments
In the normal course of business, the Group enters into a variety of derivative transactions for both trading 
and hedging purposes. Derivative financial instruments are entered into for trading purposes on behalf of 
customers and for the Group’s own account, and for hedging foreign exchange, interest rate and equity 
exposures. Derivative instruments used by the Group in both trading and hedging activities include swaps, 
options, forwards, futures and other similar types of instruments based on foreign exchange rates, interest 
rates, credit risk and the prices of commodities and equities.						    

The risks associated with derivative instruments are monitored in the same manner as for the underlying 
instruments. Risks are also measured across the product range in order to take into account possible 
correlations.

The fair values of all derivatives are recognised in the balance sheet and are only offset to the extent that the 
Group currently has a legal right of set-off and there is an intention to settle on a net basis.

Swaps are transactions in which two parties exchange cash flows on a specified notional amount for a 
predetermined period. The major types of swap transactions undertaken by the Group are as follows:

•	 Interest rate swap contracts generally entail the contractual exchange of fixed and floating rate interest 
payments in a single currency, based on a notional amount and an interest reference rate;

•	 Cross currency interest rate swaps involve the exchange of interest payments based on two different 
currency principal balances and interest reference rates and generally also entail exchange of principal 
amounts at the start and/or end of the contract;

•	 Credit default swaps are the most common form of credit derivative, under which the party buying 
protection makes one or more payments to the party selling protection during the term of the swap in 
exchange for an undertaking by the seller to make a payment to the buyer following a credit event, as 
defined in the contract, with respect to a third party; and

•	 Total return swaps are contracts in which one party (the total return payer) transfers the economic risks 
and rewards associated with an underlying asset to another party (the total return receiver). The transfer 
of risks and rewards is effected by way of an exchange of cash flows that mirror changes in the value of 
the underlying asset and any income derived therefrom.

Options are contractual agreements under which the seller (writer) grants the purchaser the right, but 
not the obligation, either to buy (call option) or to sell (put option) by, or on a set date, a specified amount 
of a financial instrument or commodity at a predetermined price. The seller receives a premium from the 
purchaser for this right. Options may be traded over-the-counter (OTC) or on a regulated exchange.

Forwards and futures are contractual obligations to buy or sell a specified amount of a financial instrument 
or commodity on a future date at a specified price. Forward contracts are tailor-made agreements that 
are transacted between counterparties in the OTC market, whereas futures are standardised contracts 
transacted on regulated exchanges.

7.3 Derivatives held for trading
The Group trades derivative instruments on behalf of customers and for its own account. The Group 
transacts derivative contracts to address customer demands both as a market maker in the wholesale 
markets and in structuring tailored derivatives for customers. The Group also takes positions for its own 
account. Trading derivative products includes the following derivative instruments:
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7. Derivative instruments (continued)
7.3 Derivatives held for trading (continued)
7.3.1 Foreign exchange derivatives
Foreign exchange derivatives are used to hedge foreign currency risks on behalf of customers and for the 
Group’s own positions. Foreign exchange derivatives consist of forward contracts and options.

7.3.2 Interest rate derivatives
Interest rate derivatives are used to modify the volatility and interest rate characteristics of interest-earning 
assets and interest-bearing liabilities on behalf of customers and for the Group’s own positions. Interest 
rate derivatives primarily consist of caps and floors, forward rate agreements, futures options, swaps and 
swaptions.

7.3.3 Commodity derivatives
Commodity derivatives are used to address customer commodity demands and to take positions for the 
Group’s own account. Commodity derivatives primarily consist of forwards, futures, options and swaps.

7.3.4 Credit derivatives
Credit derivatives are used to hedge the credit risk exposure from one counterparty to another and manage 
the credit exposure to selected counterparties on behalf of customers and for the Group’s own positions. 
Credit derivatives primarily consist of credit default swaps and total return swaps.

7.4 Derivatives held for hedging
7.4.1 Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges
The Group designates certain derivative contracts as a hedge of the exposure to variability in cash flows 
attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or highly probable future 
transaction that could affect profit or loss (cash flow hedges), as follows:

•	 The income statement volatility associated with future highly probable sterling denominated expenses is 
hedged against the functional currency utilising forward exchange contracts.

•	 Equity options are used to mitigate risk of change in cash flows arising from changes in the long-term 
incentive liability, underpinned by the ICBC share price (note 30.8).

The former provides a hedge of the Group’s sterling cost base against the US dollar functional currency for 
exchange rate movements. The hedge ratio is determined by comparing the notional amount of the derivative 
against the forecasted operating costs that are to be hedged. For the purposes of hedge effectiveness 
testing, the Group compares changes in the fair value of the hedged item resulting from movements 
in exchange rates with changes in the fair value of the forward currency transactions used as hedging 
instruments, including the time value elements of those forwards. 

The latter provides a hedge of the Group’s employee share based payments liability against the equity share 
price movements of the underlying equity shares to which these relate. The hedge ratio is determined by 
comparing the notional amount of the derivative against the value of the share based payments liability to 
be hedged. For the purposes of hedge effectiveness testing, the Group compares changes in the fair value 
of the hedged item resulting from movements in the equity share price with changes in the fair value of the 
equity options used as hedging instruments. Only the intrinsic value of the options has been designated as 
a hedge and so effectiveness is measured by comparing changes in the liability and options using the spot 
equity price, ignoring time value. Consequently, any time value changes will be recognised immediately in 
profit or loss as ineffectiveness.
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7. Derivative instruments (continued)
7.4 Derivatives held for hedging (continued)
7.4.1 Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges (continued)
Possible sources of ineffectiveness in the Group’s cash flow hedging relationships include the following:

•	 Use of derivatives as the hedging instrument creates credit risk exposure to the derivative counterparties. 
This is mitigated by using highly rated derivative counterparties and margining arrangements;

•	 Differences in timing of settlements on the hedged item and hedging instrument. This is mitigated by 
matching the terms of the hedged item and hedging instrument as closely as possible;

•	 For hedges of the Group’s share based payments liability, excluding time value from the value of the 
options used to hedge the Group’s employee share based payments liability; and

•	 For hedges of the Group’s cost base, ineffectiveness will arise if the notional amount hedged exceeds the 
actual or budgeted cash flows. This is mitigated by only hedging 90% of the budgeted cost base.

Gains and losses on the effective portion of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges of forecast 
transactions are initially recognised directly in other comprehensive income in the cash flow hedging reserve, 
and are transferred to the income statement when the forecast cash flows impact the income statement.

For cash flow hedges, the following table contains information related to items designated as hedging 
instruments, hedged items and hedge ineffectiveness:

Group and Company Hedging instrument Hedged item

($’millions) Carrying amount1 Hedge ineffectiveness
Hedged risk Assets Liabilities Change in fair 

value used to 
calculate hedge 
ineffectiveness

Change in 
value of 
hedging 

instrument 
recognised 

in OCI

Hedge 
ineffectiveness 

recognised in 
profit or loss2

Amount 
recycled 
from OCI 

due to 
hedged 

item 
affecting 

profit or 
loss3,4

Change in 
value used for 

calculating 
hedge 

ineffectiveness

Cash flow 
hedge 

reserve5

2024
Foreign exchange risk 1.7 (3.5) (3.5) (3.5)  – (20.4) 3.5 (1.8)
Equity price risk 3.3 (0.1) 5.5 5.1 0.4 (4.0) (5.1) 0.5 
Total 5.0 (3.6) 2.0 1.6 0.4 (24.4) (1.6) (1.3)
2023
Foreign exchange risk 22.1  – 19.3 19.3  – (6.0) (19.3) 22.1 
Equity price risk  – (2.3) 0.3 (1.0) 1.3 1.2 1.0 (0.6)
Total 22.1 (2.3) 19.6 18.3 1.3 (4.8) (18.3) 21.5

1	 All hedging instruments are recorded in derivative financial assets or derivative financial liabilities on the balance sheet.
2	 All hedge ineffectiveness is recorded in net trading revenue.
3	 All amounts transferred from the cash flow hedging reserve into profit or loss are due to hedged items affecting profit or loss. No amounts 

have been recycled for items where hedge accounting had previously been applied for which hedged future cash flows are no longer 
expected to occur.

4	 Reclassification adjustments are recognised in the income statement in operating expenses, with those relating to foreign exchange risk in 
other operating expenses and those relating to equity price risk in staff costs.

5	 All amounts in the cash flow hedge reserve relate to continuing hedges. There are no amounts in the cash flow hedge reserve for hedging 
relationships for which hedge accounting is no longer applied.

At 31 December 2024, the Group held forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge its budgeted sterling 
costs with a nominal amount of £285.0 million ($357.4 million) (2023: £222.8 million/$284.0 million), a 
maturity of less than two years and an average US dollar/sterling exchange rate of 1.26 (2023: 1.17). 
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7. Derivative instruments (continued)
7.4 Derivatives held for hedging (continued)
7.4.2 Derivatives designated as fair value hedges
The Group’s fair value hedges consist of interest rate swaps that are used to mitigate the risk of changes in 
the fair value of financial instruments as a result of changes in market interest rates. In the prior year, the 
Group’s fair value hedges also included a cross currency swap used to mitigate the risk of changes in the fair 
value of a financial instrument due to changes in market interest and foreign currency exchange rates. 

The financial instruments designated in fair value hedge relationships comprise certain term loan facilities 
and subordinated debt issued by the Group. The hedge ratio for the Group’s fair value hedging relationships 
is determined by comparing the principal of the hedged item and the notional amount for the derivative. For 
the purposes of hedge effectiveness testing, the Group compares changes in the fair value of the hedged 
item resulting from movements in interest and foreign currency exchange rates with changes in the fair value 
of the interest rate and cross currency swaps used as the hedging instruments.	

Possible sources of ineffectiveness in the Group’s fair value hedging relationships include the following:

•	 Use of derivatives as the hedging instrument creates credit risk exposure to the derivative counterparties. 
This is mitigated by using highly rated swap counterparties and margining arrangements;

•	 Differences in timing of settlements on the hedged item and hedging instrument. This is mitigated by 
matching the terms of the hedged item and hedging instrument as closely as possible;

•	 Different amortisation profiles on the hedged item principal amounts and the swap notionals. This is 
mitigated by matching the terms of the hedged item and hedging instruments as closely as possible; and

•	 Use of different discounting curves when measuring the fair value of the hedged items and hedging 
instruments.

For qualifying fair value hedges, all changes in the fair value of the derivative and in the fair value of the 
hedged item in relation to the risks being hedged are recognised in the income statement.
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7. Derivative instruments (continued)
7.4 Derivatives held for hedging (continued)
7.4.2 Derivatives designated as fair value hedges (continued)
For fair value hedges, the following table contains information related to items designated as hedging 
instruments, hedged items and ineffectiveness:

Group and Company Hedging instrument Hedged item
($’millions) Carrying amount  

of hedging 
instruments1

Hedge ineffectiveness2,3 Carrying 
amount 

of the 
hedged 

item4

Accumulated amount 
of fair value hedge 
adjustment gains/
(losses) of hedged 

items5,6

Hedging instrument Assets Liabilities Gains/
(losses) on 

hedging 
instrument

Gains/
(losses) 

on hedged 
item

Ineffectiveness Assets Liabilities

2024
Interest rate swaps
Loans and advances to 
customers 1.3  – (1.8) 2.4 0.6 62.4  – (4.6)

Subordinated debt  – (5.2) 0.4 (0.5) (0.1) (146.6) 4.7  – 
Totals 1.3 (5.2) (1.4) 1.9 0.5 (84.2) 4.7 (4.6)
2023
Interest rate swaps
Loans and advances to 
customers 3.2 (0.2) (3.8) 4.0 0.2 93.4  – (7.9)

Due from banks and other 
financial institutions7  –  – (0.6) 0.2 (0.4)  –  –  – 

Subordinated debt  – (5.8) 2.1 (2.0) 0.1 (146.2) 5.1  – 
Totals 3.2 (6.0) (2.3) 2.2 (0.1) (52.8) 5.1 (7.9)

1	 All hedging instruments are recorded in derivative financial assets or derivative financial liabilities on the balance sheet.
2	 All hedge ineffectiveness is recorded in net trading revenue.
3	 Gains/(losses) on hedging instruments and hedged items are the amounts used to calculate hedge ineffectiveness.
4	 This represents the carrying value on the consolidated balance sheet and comprises amortised cost before allowance for credit losses, plus 

fair value hedge adjustments.
5	 This represents the accumulated fair value hedge adjustment and is a component of the carrying amount of the hedged item.
6	 There were no hedges discontinued during the current or prior year.
7	 Hedging instrument for item classified as due from banks and other financial institutions is a cross currency swap providing a hedge of 

interest rate and foreign currency risk.
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8. Reverse repurchase agreements

Group Company
2024 

$m
2023 

$m
2024 

$m
2023 

$m
Measured at amortised cost: 781.3 1,102.1 781.3 1,102.1 

Banks and other financial institutions 781.3 1,102.3 781.3 1,102.3 
Credit loss allowances  – (0.2)  – (0.2)

Measured at FVTPL: 2,745.5 1,833.9 2,745.5 1,833.9 
Banks and other financial institutions 2,745.5 1,833.9 2,745.5 1,833.9 

3,526.8 2,936.0 3,526.8 2,936.0 

Included above are the following amounts with related parties:
Balances with ultimate holding company (ICBC) and subsidiaries and branches  – 274.4  – 274.4 
Balances with shareholder with significant influence (SBG) and subsidiaries  
and branches 356.2 508.0 356.2 508.0 

356.2 782.4 356.2 782.4 

9. Loans and advances to customers

Group Company
2024 

$m
2023 

$m
2024  

$m
2023 

$m
Gross loans and advances to customers 1,307.9 774.9 1,307.9 774.9

Demand loans and advances 135.6 39.5 135.6 39.5
Term loans1 1,172.3 735.4 1,172.3 735.4

Credit loss allowances (4.9) (3.6) (4.9) (3.6)
       

1,303.0 771.3 1,303.0 771.3

Segmental industry analysis
Governments and public sector organisations 62.4 93.4 62.4 93.4 
Manufacturing 169.1 60.3 169.1 60.3 
Mining and gas extraction 495.9 361.9 495.9 361.9 
Wholesale 241.2 157.5 241.2 157.5 
Information and communication 129.3 89.5 129.3 89.5 
Construction 58.0 12.3 58.0 12.3 
Utilities 53.7  – 53.7  – 
Other 98.3  – 98.3  – 

1,307.9 774.9 1,307.9 774.9 

1	 To manage interest rate volatility on certain term loans, the Group entered into fair value hedges. Refer to note 7.4.2.

10. Financial investments
Group Company

2024 
$m

2023 
$m

2024  
$m

2023 
$m

Amortised cost:
Debt securities 1,638.2 1,312.2 1,638.2 1,312.2

Fair value through other comprehensive income:
Debt securities 477.3 631.7 477.3 631.7

Fair value through profit or loss:
Debt securities 1,061.4 108.9 1,061.4 108.9

3,176.9 2,052.8 3,176.9 2,052.8
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11 Property and equipment
11.1 Summary

2024 2023
Cost Accumulated

depreciation
Accumulated

impairment
Carrying

value
Cost Accumulated

depreciation
Accumulated

impairment
Carrying

value
Group $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m
Computer equipment 32.2 (27.7)  – 4.5 31.2 (27.6)  – 3.6 
Office equipment 6.1 (4.9)  – 1.2 6.4 (5.4)  – 1.0 
Furniture and fittings 11.2 (8.0)  – 3.2 18.3 (14.5)  – 3.8 
Right of use lease assets1 123.2 (56.8) (5.0) 61.4 119.8 (56.3) (5.0) 58.5 

172.7 (97.4) (5.0) 70.3 175.7 (103.8) (5.0) 66.9 

11.2 Movement
2023 2024

Carrying 
value Additions Disposals

Depreciation 
charge Impairment

Carrying 
value

Group $m $m $m $m $m $m
Computer equipment 3.6 3.1 – (2.2)  – 4.5 
Office equipment 1.0 0.6 – (0.4)  – 1.2 
Furniture and fittings 3.8 1.2 – (1.8)  – 3.2 
Right of use lease assets 58.5 13.3 – (10.4)  – 61.4 

66.9 18.2 – (14.8)  – 70.3 

2022 2023
Carrying 

value Additions Disposals
Depreciation 

charge Impairment
Carrying 

value
Group $m $m $m $m $m $m
Computer equipment 6.3 0.8 (0.3) (3.2)  – 3.6 
Office equipment 0.6 0.8  – (0.4)  – 1.0 
Furniture and fittings 5.2 0.2  – (1.6)  – 3.8 
Right of use lease assets 22.5 48.3  – (12.3)  – 58.5 

34.6 50.1 (0.3) (17.5)  – 66.9 

11.3 Summary
2024 2023

Cost Accumulated Accumulated Carrying Cost Accumulated Accumulated Carrying
depreciation impairment value depreciation impairment value

Company $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m
Computer equipment 31.3 (27.4)  – 3.9 29.3 (26.0)  – 3.3 
Office equipment 5.6 (4.9)  – 0.7 5.7 (4.7)  – 1.0 
Furniture and fittings 10.3 (7.7)  – 2.6 9.6 (6.6)  – 3.0 
Right of use lease assets1 115.4 (55.9) (5.0) 54.5 108.9 (47.6) (5.0) 56.3 

162.6 (95.9) (5.0) 61.7 153.5 (84.9) (5.0) 63.6 

1	 Right of use lease assets principally relate to leased properties.
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11 Property and equipment (continued)
11.4 Movement

2023 2024

Carrying
value Additions Disposals

Depreciation
charge Impairment

Carrying
value

Company $m $m $m $m $m $m
Computer equipment 3.3  2.6  – (2.0)  – 3.9 
Office equipment 1.0 0.1  – (0.4)  – 0.7 
Furniture and fittings 3.0 0.6  – (1.0)  – 2.6 
Right of use lease assets 56.3 6.6 – (8.4)  – 54.5 

63.6 9.9 – (11.8)  – 61.7 

2022 2023

Carrying
value Additions Disposals

Depreciation
charge Impairment

Carrying
value

Company $m $m $m $m $m $m
Computer equipment 5.9 0.7 (0.3) (3.0)  – 3.3 
Office equipment 0.6 0.8  – (0.4)  – 1.0 
Furniture and fittings 3.6 0.3  – (0.9)  – 3.0 
Right of use lease assets 18.4 48.3  – (10.4)  – 56.3 

28.5 50.1 (0.3) (14.7)  – 63.6 

12. Deferred tax assets
Group Company

2024 
$m

2023 
$m

2024 
$m

2023 
$m

Deferred tax asset recognised 13.3 8.0 12.4 7.3
Deferred tax asset not recognised 170.0 192.0 170.0 192.0

12.1 Movements in deferred tax balances

Group
Opening 
balance

Movement 
in asset 

recognised3

Movement  
in asset not 
recognised1

Closing 
balance

2024 $m $m $m $m
Total recognised deferred tax 8.0 5.3  – 13.3 

Capital allowances 1.7 0.4  – 2.1 
Share-based payments 0.4 0.2  – 0.6 
Other short-term temporary differences 0.1 0.2  – 0.3 
Unused tax losses 5.8 4.5  – 10.3 

Total unrecognised deferred tax2 192.0 (12.4) (9.6) 170.0 
Temporary differences not recognised 16.4 (2.1) 5.7 20.0 
Unused tax losses not recognised 175.6 (10.3) (15.3) 150.0 
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12. Deferred tax assets (continued)
12.1 Movements in deferred tax balances (continued)

Group
Opening 
balance

Movement 
in asset 

recognised3

Movement in 
asset not 

recognised1
Closing 

balance
2023 $m $m $m $m
Total recognised deferred tax 0.6 7.4  – 8.0 

Capital allowances 0.2 1.5  – 1.7 
Share-based payments 0.3 0.1  – 0.4 
Other short-term temporary differences 0.1  –  – 0.1 
Unused tax losses  – 5.8  – 5.8 

Total unrecognised deferred tax2 228.5 (7.3) (29.2) 192.0 
Temporary differences not recognised 24.1 (1.5) (6.2) 16.4 
Unused tax losses not recognised 204.4 (5.8) (23.0) 175.6 

Company
Opening 
balance

Movement 
in asset 

recognised3

Movement in 
asset not 

recognised1
Closing 
balance

2024 $m $m $m $m
Total recognised deferred tax 7.3 5.1  – 12.4 

Capital allowances 1.5 0.6  – 2.1 
Unused tax losses 5.8 4.5  – 10.3 

Total unrecognised deferred tax2 192.0 (12.4) (9.6) 170.0 
Temporary differences not recognised 16.4 (2.1) 5.7 20.0 
Unused tax losses not recognised 175.6 (10.3) (15.3) 150.0 

Company
Opening 
balance

Movement 
in asset 

recognised3

Movement in 
asset not 

recognised1
Closing 

balance
2023 $m $m $m $m
Total recognised deferred tax  – 7.3  – 7.3 

Capital allowances  – 1.5  – 1.5 
Unused tax losses  – 5.8  – 5.8 

Total unrecognised deferred tax2 228.5 (7.3) (29.2) 192.0 
Temporary differences not recognised 24.1 (1.5) (6.2) 16.4 
Unused tax losses not recognised 204.4 (5.8) (23.0) 175.6 

1	 Movement in asset not recognised represents the tax value of movements in the year in respect of tax losses and other deductible temporary 
differences for which no deferred tax has been recognised.

2	 Deferred tax assets have not been recognised by the Group in respect of UK gross deductible temporary differences of $79.9 million (2023: 
$65.4 million) and gross UK tax losses of $600.1 million (2023: $702.5 million) which can be carried forward indefinitely.

3 	 The total recognised deferred tax movement for the Group in 2024 of $5.3 million (Company: $5.1 million) consists of $12.4 million of 
deferred tax assets recognised not previously recognised by the Company, less $7.3 million utilisation of brought forward recognised deferred 
tax assets by the Company in 2024, and an increase in the deferred tax assets recognised by the US subsidiaries of $0.2 million.
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13. Other assets
Group Company

2024 
$m

2023 
$m

2024 
$m

2023 
$m

Non-financial assets held for trading – Commodities inventory1 6,127.7 4,792.2 6,127.7 4,792.2 
Precious metals 5,015.7 3,898.8 5,015.7 3,898.8 

Inventories 2,974.9 1,819.8 2,974.9 1,819.8 
Unallocated balances 2,040.8 2,079.0 2,040.8 2,079.0 

Base metals 1,019.8 639.1 1,019.8 639.1 
Energy 92.2 254.3 92.2 254.3 

Other 161.4 205.5 161.3 204.9 
Unsettled dealing balances 62.3 95.1 62.3 95.1 
Other receivables 67.5 81.6 67.4 81.0 
Intangible assets 31.6 28.8 31.6 28.8 

6,289.1 4,997.7 6,289.0 4,997.1 

1 	Non-financial assets held for trading form part of the Group’s commodities business and are integral to the Group’s strategy. Commodity 
inventories include holdings in facilities operated by authorised third parties.

Included above are the following amounts with related parties:

Group Company
2024 

$m
2023 

$m
2024 

$m
2023 

$m
Balances with ultimate holding company (ICBC) and subsidiaries  
and branches 6.9 3.8 6.9 3.8 

Balances with shareholder with significant influence (SBG) and subsidiaries  
and branches 4.3 9.7 4.3 9.7 

11.2 13.5 11.2 13.5

Commodities inventory stored by the Group for customers is not recognised on the Group’s balance sheet. 
The value of such commodities inventory at year end was:

Group Company
2024 

$m
2023 

$m
2024 

$m
2023 

$m
Commodities inventory – Stored for customers 49,749.4 41,662.2 49,749.4 41,662.2 

13.1 Intangible assets (Group and Company) – Summary
2024 2023

Cost Accumulated
amortisation

Accumulated
impairment

Carrying
value

Cost Accumulated
amortisation

Accumulated
impairment

Carrying
value

$m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m
Computer software 84.9 (62.9) (5.7) 16.3 77.3 (54.5) (5.4) 17.4
Work in progress1 15.3  –  – 15.3 11.4  –  – 11.4

100.2 (62.9) (5.7) 31.6 88.7 (54.5) (5.4) 28.8
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13. Other assets
13.2 Intangible assets (Group and Company) – Movement

2022 2023 2024
Carrying 

value Additions Transfers
Amortisation 

charge2
Impairment 

charge 
Carrying 

value Additions Transfers
Amortisation 

charge2
Impairment 

charge 
Carrying 

value
$m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m

Computer 
software 26.0 1.0  – (9.6)  – 17.4 7.6 – (8.7)  – 16.3 

Work in 
progress1 7.4 5.0 (1.0)  –  – 11.4 11.5 (7.6)  –  – 15.3 

33.4 6.0 (1.0) (9.6)  – 28.8 19.1 (7.6) (8.7)  – 31.6 

1	 Work in progress relates to strategic software systems currently being developed, which are not amortised as they are not yet available for 
use.

2	 See Note 30.6.

14. Investment in group companies
Company 2024 

$m
2023 

$m
Carrying value at the end of the year  29.5  29.5 

The subsidiary undertakings are as follows (directly held unless otherwise indicated):

Entity Activity Location of registered office2 % Interest in ordinary 
shares

ICBC Standard NY Holdings Inc. Holding company United States of America 100
ICBC Standard Securities Inc.1 Broker / dealer United States of America 100
ICBC Standard Resources (America) Inc.1 Trading company United States of America 100
ICBC Standard Resources (China) Limited Trading company The People’s Republic of China 100

1	 Indirectly held – the immediate parent of these entities is ICBC Standard NY Holdings Inc.
2	 Refer to registered address information on page 179.

15. Financial liabilities held for trading
Group Company

2024 
$m

2023 
$m

2024 
$m

2023 
$m

Government and utility bonds 122.9 431.0 122.9 431.0
Credit-linked notes 589.6 359.4 589.6 359.4
Deposits by banks 225.5 844.3 225.5 844.3

938.0 1,634.7 938.0 1,634.7

Included above are the following amounts with related parties:

Group Company
2024 

$m
2023 

$m
2024 

$m
2023 

$m
Balances with ultimate holding company (ICBC) and subsidiaries and branches 224.2 829.6 224.2 829.6
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16. Non-trading financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Group Company

2024 
$m

2023 
$m

2024 
$m

2023 
$m

Debt instruments  – 951.9  – 951.9 
Deposits 6,975.3 2,792.1 6,975.3 2,792.1 

6,975.3 3,744.0 6,975.3 3,744.0 

Included above are the following amounts with related parties:

Group Company
2024 

$m
2023 

$m
2024 

$m
2023 

$m
Balances with ultimate holding company (ICBC) and subsidiaries and branches 5,483.8 2,977.4 5,483.8 2,977.4

The amount contractually payable on maturity of the non-trading financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss at 31 December 2024 was $6,983.4 million, which was $8.1 million higher than the balance 
sheet carrying value (2023: $3,738.1 million, which was $5.9 million lower than the balance sheet carrying 
value). There was no change in the cumulative amount of fair value attributable to changes in the Group’s 
own credit risk (2023: $1.0 million loss).

17. Due to banks and other financial institutions
Group Company

2024 
$m

2023 
$m

2024 
$m

2023 
$m

Due to banks 4,524.8 6,125.2 4,524.8 6,125.2 
Other financial institutions 206.5 428.0 206.5 428.0 

4,731.3 6,553.2 4,731.3 6,553.2 

Included above are the following amounts with related parties:

Group Company
2024 

$m
2023 

$m
2024 

$m
2023 

$m
Balances with ultimate holding company (ICBC) and subsidiaries and branches 2,295.3 3,693.4 2,295.3 3,693.4 
Balances with shareholder with significant influence (SBG) and subsidiaries and branches 337.8 333.3 337.8 333.3 

2,633.1 4,026.7 2,633.1 4,026.7 

18. Repurchase agreements
Group Company

2024 
$m

2023 
$m

2024 
$m

2023 
$m

Measured at amortised cost:
Banks and other financial institutions 963.0 696.4 963.0 696.4

Measured at FVTPL: 
Banks and other financial institutions 117.4 156.7 117.4 156.7

1,080.4 853.1 1,080.4 853.1 

Included above are the following amounts with related parties:

Group Company
2024 

$m
2023 

$m
2024 

$m
2023 

$m
Balances with ultimate holding company (ICBC) and subsidiaries and branches 20.3  – 20.3  – 
Balances with shareholder with significant influence (SBG) and subsidiaries and branches 623.2 295.1 623.2 295.1 

643.5 295.1 643.5 295.1 
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19. Due to customers
Group Company

2024 
$m

2023 
$m

2024 
$m

2023 
$m

Call deposits 507.1 490.0 507.1 490.0 
Term deposits 923.9 587.1 923.9 587.1 

1,431.0 1,077.1 1,431.0 1,077.1 

20. Subordinated debt
Group Company

2024 
$m

2023 
$m

2024 
$m

2023 
$m

Subordinated floating rate notes 20291 – 100.0 – 100.0 
Subordinated fixed rate notes 20322 145.3 144.9 145.3 144.9
Subordinated fixed rate notes 20343 100.0 – 100.0  –
Accrued interest 3.3 2.7 3.3 2.7

248.6 247.6 248.6 247.6

Included above are the following amounts with related parties:

Group Company
2024 

$m
2023 

$m
2024 

$m
2023 

$m
Balances with ultimate holding company (ICBC) and subsidiaries and branches 248.6 247.6 248.6 247.6

1	 Subordinated bonds with a principal amount of $100.0 million and a floating interest rate of three-month USD Libor plus 2.75% per annum 
were issued in July 2019. The interest rate on these bonds was changed to SOFR plus 3.01% per annum on 31 July 2023 as part of the US 
dollar Libor transition. These bonds were fully redeemed on 23 August 2024.	

2	 Subordinated bonds with a principal amount of $150.0 million and an initial fixed interest rate of 4.961% per annum for the first five years 
were issued in April 2022. These bonds mature on 27 April 2032. To manage interest rate volatility, the Group entered into a fair value 
hedge. Refer to note 7.4.2.

3	 Subordinated bonds with a principal amount of $100.0 million and an initial fixed interest rate of 5.543% per annum for the first five years 
were issued in August 2024. These bonds mature on 23 August 2034. To manage interest rate volatility, the Group purchased $100.0 million 
of a US Treasury issuance due 15 August 2029. Hedge accounting is not applied.

Claims in respect of the loan capital are subordinated to the claims of other creditors. The Group has not 
defaulted on principal or interest, or incurred any other breaches with respect to its subordinated liabilities.

21. Other liabilities
Group Company

2024 
$m

2023 
$m

2024 
$m

2023 
$m

Precious metals payables 4,748.6 3,140.6 4,748.6 3,140.6
Unsettled dealing balances 58.2 98.9 58.0 98.6 
Long-term incentive schemes 42.3 29.7 39.6 28.2 
Leasehold liabilities 73.3 69.5 66.0 66.6 
Other 134.0 143.1 131.0 140.9 

5,056.4 3,481.8 5,043.2 3,474.9 

Included above are the following amounts with related parties:

Group Company
2024 

$m
2023 

$m
2024 

$m
2023 

$m
Balances with ultimate holding company (ICBC) and subsidiaries and branches 3,098.8 1,570.6 3,098.8 1,570.6
Balances with shareholder with significant influence (SBG) and subsidiaries and branches 5.4 1.4 5.4 1.4

3,104.2 1,572.0 3,104.2 1,572.0
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22. Leases
The Group’s leases principally relate to properties occupied by Group companies as office space in the 
various locations in which it operates. For certain properties, the Group sub-leases some space to third 
parties and to other companies within its shareholders’ groups. These are all classified as operating leases.

Right of use assets and lease liabilities recognised for leases for which the Group is lessee are presented 
in property and equipment (see note 11) and other liabilities (see note 21) respectively. The amounts 
recognised in profit or loss in respect of these leases is shown in the table below and the total cash outflow 
recognised in the statement of cash flows was $12.7 million (2023: $11.2 million), comprising $8.5 million 
(2023: $10.4 million) principal repayments recognised as cash flows from financing activities and  
$4.2 million (2023: $0.8 million) interest expense recognised as cash flows from operating activities.

2024 
$m

2023 
$m

Depreciation charge of right of use assets (Note 30.6) 10.4 12.3 
Interest expense on lease liabilities (Note 30.2) 4.2 0.8 
Income from sub-leasing right of use assets (3.0) (4.3)

The table below shows the maturity profile of the Group’s leasehold liabilities based on contractual 
undiscounted payments:

2024 
$m

2023 
$m

Less than one year 7.8 12.2 
Between one and five years 47.4 45.6 
More than five years 43.1 38.1 

98.3  95.9 

The undiscounted lease payments to be received for the Group’s sub-leases are as follows:

2024 
$m

2023 
$m

Less than one year 0.7 2.3 
One to two years 0.9 0.7 
Two to three years 1.5 0.9 
Three to four years 1.5 1.4 
Four to five years 1.3 1.4 
More than five years 5.7 6.9 

11.6 13.6

On 24 November 2023, the Company entered into a reversionary lease with the head lessor for its London 
office premises for a term of 10-years, which commenced on 30 September 2024, immediately following 
expiry of its existing lease on the same office premises. The new lease is treated as a modification of the 
existing lease and was recognised on the effective date of the modification, being the date the reversionary 
lease was agreed, with the lease liability accordingly being remeasured. A corresponding adjustment was 
made to the right of use asset, which was also adjusted for any lease incentives received and initial direct 
costs incurred by the Company. 

On the same date, the Company entered into a reversionary lease to sub-let part of the office space in its 
London office premises to an existing tenant. This new sub-lease also took effect from 30 September 2024, 
on expiry of the existing sub-lease for the same office space, and is for a term of 10-years. The new sub-lease 
is also treated as a lease modification and is accordingly recognised as a new lease from the effective date 
of the modification, being 24 November 2023, with any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the 
original lease being considered as part of the lease payments for the new lease.
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22. Leases (continued)
On 17 May 2024, ICBC Standard Bank Plc Singapore Branch entered into a lease extension for its office 
premises. The lease was extended for a term of three years until 15 June 2027. The lease extension is 
treated as a modification of the existing lease and was recognised on the effective date of the modification, 
being the date the extension was agreed, with the lease liability being remeasured accordingly by discounting 
the revised lease payments using the Bank’s incremental borrowing rate for funding an asset of similar tenor 
and cash flows. A corresponding adjustment was made to the right of use asset, which was also adjusted for 
any lease incentives received and initial direct costs incurred by the Branch.

On 9 November 2023, ICBC Standard Resources (America) Inc. entered into a new lease for replacement 
office space in New York. The new lease commenced on 29 July 2024 and is for a term of 11-years. The 
lease liability, measured by discounting the future lease payments using the Bank’s incremental borrowing 
rate for funding an asset of similar tenor and cash flows, and the associated right of use asset, adjusted for 
any lease incentives received and initial direct costs incurred by the lessee, were accordingly recognised on 
the lease commencement date.	

23. Estimation of fair values
23.1 Financial instruments measured at fair value 
The process of marking to market seeks to value a financial instrument at its fair value. The best indicator 
of fair value is an independently published price quoted in an active market. If the instrument is not traded 
in an active market, its fair value is determined using valuation techniques consistent with other market 
participants to price similar financial instruments.

Where valuation techniques are used to determine fair values, they are validated and periodically 
independently reviewed by qualified senior personnel. All models are approved before they are used, and 
models are calibrated and back-tested to ensure that outputs reflect actual data and comparative market 
prices. To the extent practical, models use only observable data; however, areas such as credit risk (both 
own and counterparty), volatilities and correlations require management to make estimates. Changes in 
assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of the financial instruments. Such 
assumptions include risk premiums, liquidity discount rates, credit spreads, market volatilities and product 
correlations.

In order to arrive at fair value, valuation adjustments are made where appropriate to incorporate liquidity 
risk, model risk, parameter uncertainty and credit risk. As a practical expedient, instruments are sometimes 
priced at mid-market. This includes situations where instruments that comprise a combination of risks  
(e.g. corporate bonds which include interest rate and credit risk) are hedged against some of the risks, 
leaving the other risks unhedged. In that case, a bid/offer adjustment is applied to the net open risk position 
as appropriate.

The valuation methodologies used are objective and deterministic, i.e. given the same market conditions and 
holding assumptions, the marking process should produce identical results. However, valuing any instrument 
or portfolio involves a degree of judgement and can never be completely defined in mechanistic terms.

There may not be one perfect mark for any position, but rather ranges of possible values. At any point in 
time, the mark-to-market on a financial instrument must be based on the effective deal tenor or term of the 
underlying risk.
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23. Estimation of fair values (continued)
23.2 Fair value of financial instruments carried at amortised cost
The fair value of financial instruments not carried at fair value incorporates the Group’s estimate of the 
amount at which it would be able to sell an asset or pay to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. It does not reflect the costs/benefits that the 
Group expects to measure on the flows generated over the expected life of the instrument. Other reporting 
entities may use different valuation methodologies and assumptions in determining fair values for which no 
observable market prices are available.

The fair values stated at a point in time may differ significantly from the amounts which will actually be paid 
on the maturity date or settlement dates of the instruments. In many cases, it will not be possible to realise 
immediately the estimated fair values.

The following methods and significant assumptions have been applied in determining the fair values of 
financial instruments not carried at fair value:

•	 The fair value of demand deposits with no specific maturity is assumed to be the amount payable at the 
end of the reporting period.

•	 The fair value of the variable and fixed rate financial instruments carried at amortised cost is estimated 
by comparing interest rates when the loans were granted with current market interest rates and credit 
spreads on similar loans.

•	 For impaired loans, fair value is estimated using valuation models, such as discounting the future cash 
flows over the time period they are expected to be recovered, which includes consideration of collateral 
and expected lifetime credit losses.

•	 For secured loans and deposits arising from sale and repurchase agreements and for bond transactions 
that are due to settle on a date beyond the market convention (i.e. forward settlement), the Group 
receives collateral in the form of cash or securities. The collateral is valued using established valuation 
techniques and variation margin is called or paid. Carrying amounts therefore closely reflect fair values.

23.3 Credit, debit and funding valuation adjustments (CVA, DVA, and FVA)
The methodology for estimating CVA and DVA as at 31 December 2024 was consistent with that used at 
31 December 2023, with inputs updated where required. Credit and debit valuation adjustments are taken 
against derivative exposures in order to reflect the potential impact of counterparty performance with regards 
to these contracts.

The exposure upon which a provision is calculated is not the current replacement value in the balance 
sheet but rather an expectation of future exposures. The typical calculation of a future exposure on a 
trade is based on a simulation of expected positive and negative exposures performed to standard market 
methodologies.

For most products, the Group uses a simulation methodology to calculate the expected positive exposure 
to a counterparty. This incorporates a range of potential exposures across the portfolio of transactions with 
the counterparty over the life of the portfolio. The simulation methodology includes credit mitigants such as 
counterparty netting agreements and collateral agreements with the counterparty.

Where material, adjustments are made to account for ‘wrong-way risk’. Wrong-way risk arises when the 
underlying value of the derivative prior to any CVA is positively correlated to the probability of default by the 
counterparty. When there is deemed to be significant wrong-way risk, a counterparty-specific approach is 
applied (including adjustments for ‘gap risk’ where deemed necessary).

Own credit adjustments (DVA) on derivative instruments and credit-linked notes are based on the expectation 
of future exposures that counterparties will have to the Group.
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23. Estimation of fair values (continued)
23.3 Credit, debit and funding valuation adjustments (CVA, DVA, and FVA) (continued)
For derivative trades, CVA is calculated by applying the probability of default (PD) of the counterparty 
conditional on the non-default of the Group to the expected positive exposure to the counterparty and 
multiplying the result by the loss given default (LGD). Conversely, DVA is calculated by applying the PD of the 
Group, conditional on the non-default of the counterparty, to the expected exposure that the counterparty 
has to the Group and multiplying by the LGD. Both calculations are performed over the life of the potential 
exposure. The Group takes provisions against DVA for trades where DVA calculated by the Group is not 
reflective of an exit price (typically for non-bank and non-collateralised counterparties). The PD of the Group 
has been estimated based on the market view of ICBC’s credit risk, as the Group’s credit risk is not directly 
observable.

In order to reflect the funding costs and benefits related to uncollateralised flows on derivative exposures, 
a funding valuation adjustment (FVA) is also applied. The FVA was calculated using similar methodology as 
for CVA and DVA. However, valuations were adjusted for effects related to the expected funding of the flows 
rather than the performance of the parties.

A summary of the Group’s1 valuation adjustments at year end is provided below:

Type of Adjustment 2024 
$m

2023 
$m

Credit valuation adjustment 6.4 10.9 
Debit valuation adjustment (2.3) (2.3)
Funding valuation adjustment (1.6) (2.0)
Total valuation adjustments 2.5 6.6 
Day-1 profit or loss reserves 5.5 36.7 
Total 8.0 43.3 

1	 There are no material differences between Group and Company.			 
Brackets represents an asset and credit to the income statement.

A summary of the movement in the Group’s day-1 profit or loss reserves in the year is provided below:

2024
$m

2023
$m

Balance at beginning of the year 36.7 41.1
Additions during the year 11.6 46.6
Releases during the year (42.8) (51.0)
Balance at end of the year 5.5 36.7

Day-1 profit or loss reserves arise when the fair value estimated by a valuation model is based on one or 
more significant unobservable inputs. The accounting for day-1 profits or losses is set out in accounting 
policy 5. The day-1 profit or loss reserve represents the amount that has yet to be recognised in income that 
relates to the difference between the fair value at initial recognition (the transaction price) and the amount 
that has arisen due to the valuation models containing unobservable inputs on initial recognition, less 
amounts subsequently recognised.
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24. Classification of assets and liabilities
The tables that follow analyse assets and liabilities carried at the end of the reporting period by 
measurement basis. Fair values are determined for each balance sheet line item and classified into three 
levels depending on their valuation basis. The different levels are based on the extent to which quoted prices 
are used in the calculation of the fair value and the levels have been defined as follows:	  

Level 1 – quoted market price: assets or liabilities with quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in 
active markets that the Group can access at the measurement date.

Level 2 – valuation technique using observable inputs: assets or liabilities with quoted prices for similar 
assets or liabilities in active markets or quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive 
markets and assets or liabilities valued using models where all significant inputs are observable.

Level 3 – valuation technique with significant unobservable inputs: assets or liabilities valued using valuation 
techniques where one or more significant inputs are unobservable.

All fair valued instruments are subjected to the independent price verification (IPV) process. Level 3 items 
are identified where the asset or liability contains a significant exposure to a parameter that is not directly 
observable in the market, e.g. credit spreads, discounts rates, etc. Level 3 classification does not infer lack 
of comfort with the modelled price, but rather that a significant exposure within the pricing cannot be directly 
tested to an observable exit price, or where the observation is indicative and not testable in an active market. 
Classification is always determined at an instrument and not portfolio level. Transfers between levels of the 
fair value hierarchy are deemed to occur at the end of the reporting period. 
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25. Financial instruments measured at fair value
25.1 Valuation techniques used in determining the fair value of level 2 and level 3 
instruments
The following table sets out the Group’s principal valuation techniques used in determining the fair value of 
financial assets and financial liabilities classified within levels 2 and 3.

Level 2 Level 3
Valuation basis Main assumptions 2024 2023 2024 2023

$m $m $m $m
Net derivative instruments Discounted cash 

flow model (DCF)
Interest rate curve, credit curve, 
repurchase curve, recovery level, bond 
price, gap risk, exit cost, FX rate, FX 
volatility, commodity price

(334.2) (310.7) (11.5) (93.5)

Black Scholes 
model

Equity volatility, FX volatility, interest rate 
curve, credit curve, commodity price

11.3 (10.6)  – (1.1)

(322.9) (321.3) (11.5) (94.6)
Financial assets held for 
trading

DCF Bond price, recovery level, interest rate 
curve, credit curve

943.1 626.1 217.0 189.8 

Non-trading financial assets 
at fair value through profit 
or loss

DCF Bond price, recovery level, interest rate 
curve, credit curve

675.2 2,836.7 10.5 16.1 

Other Share price, net asset value  –  – 3.3 3.8 
675.2 2,836.7 13.8 19.9 

Reverse repurchase 
agreements

DCF Repurchase curve, interest rate curve 2,745.5 1,833.9  –  – 

Financial liabilities held for 
trading

DCF Interest rate curve, credit curve, bond 
price, correlation

(599.4) (1,170.4) (318.1) (258.6)

Non-trading financial 
liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss

DCF Interest rate curve, credit curve (6,975.3) (3,744.0)  –  – 

Repurchase agreements DCF Repurchase curve, interest rate curve (117.4) (156.7)  –  – 
(3,651.2) (95.7) (98.8) (143.5)

25.2 Reconciliation of level 3 financial instruments

2024

Net 
derivative 

instruments

Financial 
assets 

held for 
trading

Non-trading 
financial assets 

at fair value 
through profit  

or loss

Financial 
liabilities 

held for 
trading Total

Group1 $m $m $m $m $m

Balance at beginning of the year (94.6) 189.8 19.9 (258.6) (143.5)
Total gains / (losses) included in net trading revenue (6.9) 19.0 0.2 (23.5) (11.2)

Realised (20.5) 16.7 6.3 (11.2) (8.7)
Unrealised 13.6 2.3 (6.1) (12.3) (2.5)

Purchases 71.4 40.6  – (104.2) 7.8 
Sales 21.5 (32.7) (6.3) 68.2 50.7 
Transfers into level 32 (2.0)  –  –  – (2.0)
Transfers out of level 33 (0.9) 0.3  –  – (0.6)
Balance at end of the year (11.5) 217.0 13.8 (318.1) (98.8)

1	 There are no material differences between Group and Company.
2	 The inputs of certain valuation models became unobservable and consequently the fair values were transferred into level 3.
3	 The inputs of certain valuation models became observable and consequently the fair values were transferred out of level 3.
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25. Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued)
25.2 Reconciliation of level 3 financial instruments (continued)

2023

Net 
derivative 

instruments

Financial 
assets 

held for 
trading

Non-trading 
financial assets at 
fair value through 

profit  
or loss

Financial 
liabilities 

held for 
trading Total

Group1 $m $m $m $m $m

Balance at beginning of the year (83.6) 151.5 20.0 (188.6) (100.7)
Total gains / (losses) included in net trading revenue 15.8 49.1 1.3 (17.8) 48.4 

Realised 8.3 16.9 1.5 6.3 33.0 
Unrealised 7.5 32.2 (0.2) (24.1) 15.4 

Purchases (4.7) 61.9  – (83.8) (26.6)
Sales (25.9) (85.0) (1.4) 31.6 (80.7)
Transfers into level 32 (0.1) 12.3  –  – 12.2 
Transfers out of level 33 3.9  –  –  – 3.9 
Balance at end of the year (94.6) 189.8 19.9 (258.6) (143.5)

1	 There are no material differences between Group and Company.
2	 The inputs of certain valuation models became unobservable and consequently the fair values were transferred into level 3.
3	 The inputs of certain valuation models became observable and consequently the fair values were transferred out of level 3.

25.3 Sensitivity of level 3 financial assets and liabilities and range of inputs
The table below lists key unobservable inputs to level 3 financial instruments and provides the range of those 
inputs at 31 December:

Range of estimates for unobservable input
Group1 Main assumptions 2024 2023
Net derivative instruments Interest rate curve, credit curve, repurchase 

curve, gap risk, FX rate, FX volatility
Less than 1% to 38.9% Less than 1% to 33.5%

Financial assets held for trading Bond price, recovery level 0 to 105.3 0 to 103.4
Interest rate curve 8.4% to 17.4% 6.0% to 19.0%

Non-trading financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss

Bond price, recovery level 0 to 3.5 0 to 5.4
Credit curve Less than 1% 2.1% to 2.3%
Share price, net asset value 10% 10%

Financial liabilities held for trading Bond price 90.2 to 103.8 78.3 to 103.4
Interest rate curve, credit curve, correlation Less than 1% to 10.6% 2.1% to 16.3%
Net asset value 10% 10%

1	 There are no material differences between Group and Company.

The fair value of level 3 financial instruments is determined using valuation techniques which incorporate 
assumptions based on unobservable inputs and are subject to management’s judgement. Although the 
Group believes that its estimates of fair values are appropriate, changing one or more of these assumptions 
to reasonably possible alternative values could impact the fair value of the financial instruments. The table 
below indicates the effect that a change of unobservable inputs to reasonably possible alternatives  
(1% up or down) would have on profit or loss at the reporting date. Level 3 instruments contain sensitivities 
to both observable and unobservable parameters. The table below measures the sensitivity to unobservable 
parameters only. These positions are risk managed using various instruments of which the associated gains 
or losses are not reflected in the table below.
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25. Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued)
25.3 Sensitivity of level 3 financial assets and liabilities and range of inputs (continued)

Effect recorded in profit or loss
2024 2023

Favourable (Adverse) Favourable (Adverse)
Group1 Main assumptions $m $m $m $m
Net derivative instruments Interest rate curve, credit curve, repurchase 

curve, gap risk, FX rate, FX volatility
1.3 (1.3)  2.3 (2.3)

Financial assets held for trading Bond price, recovery level, interest rate curve  19.3 (19.3)  17.1 (17.1)
Non-trading financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss

Bond price, recovery level, credit curve, share 
price, net asset value

 0.4 (0.4)  0.7 (0.7)

Financial liabilities held for trading Interest rate curve, credit curve, correlation, 
bond price, net asset value

 26.1 (26.1)  17.9 (17.9)

1 There are no material differences between Group and Company.

26. Offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when the Group 
currently has a legally enforceable right to set-off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to 
settle the asset and the liability on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
Certain derivative assets and liabilities met these criteria and $8,014.1 million (2023: $6,659.1 million) and 
$7,689.3 million (2023: $6,481.9 million), respectively, were offset in the current year.

The Group also receives and places collateral in the form of cash and marketable securities in respect of 
derivative transactions, sale and repurchase agreements, and reverse sale and repurchase agreements. 
This collateral is subject to standard industry terms such as the ISDA credit support annex and other similar 
agreements. This means that securities received or given as collateral can be pledged or sold during the 
term of the transaction but must be returned on maturity of the transaction. The terms also give each 
counterparty the right to terminate the related transactions upon the counterparty’s failure to post collateral. 
In certain circumstances, for example when a credit event such as a default occurs, all outstanding 
transactions under the agreement are terminated, the termination value is assessed and only a single net 
amount is due or payable in settlement of all transactions.

The disclosure set out in the tables below reflects financial assets and liabilities that have been offset 
in the balance sheet in accordance with IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation, as well as financial 
instruments that are subject to enforceable master netting arrangements or similar agreements, irrespective 
of whether they have been offset in the balance sheet. 
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26. Offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

Financial assets and liabilities subject to offsetting, 
enforceable master netting arrangements and similar 
agreements Gross

Amounts 
offset 
in the 

balance 
sheet1

Net 
amounts 
included 

in the 
balance 

sheet

Amounts that could be 
offset in the event of 
counterparty default2

Net 
amount

Financial 
instruments 

including 
non-cash 
collateral 

received / 
pledged

Cash 
collateral 

received / 
pledged

2024 $m $m $m $m $m $m
Assets in scope
Derivative financial assets 11,925.3 (8,014.1) 3,911.2 (2,921.2) (396.8) 593.2 
Reverse repurchase agreements 3,526.8  – 3,526.8 (3,526.8)  –  – 
Total financial assets in scope 15,452.1 (8,014.1) 7,438.0 (6,448.0) (396.8) 593.2 

Liabilities in scope
Derivative financial liabilities 11,884.2 (7,689.3) 4,194.9 (2,921.2) (472.9) 800.8 
Repurchase agreements 1,080.4  – 1,080.4 (1,080.4)  –  – 
Total financial liabilities in scope 12,964.6 (7,689.3) 5,275.3 (4,001.6) (472.9) 800.8 

Financial assets and liabilities subject to offsetting, 
enforceable master netting arrangements and similar 
agreements Gross

Amounts 
offset 
in the 

balance 
sheet1

Net 
amounts 
included 

in the 
balance 

sheet

Amounts that could be 
offset in the event of 
counterparty default2

Net 
amount

Financial 
instruments 

including 
non-cash 
collateral 

received / 
pledged

Cash 
collateral 

received / 
pledged

2023 $m $m $m $m $m $m
Assets in scope
Derivative financial assets 10,042.3 (6,659.1) 3,383.2 (2,399.3) (412.4) 571.5 
Reverse repurchase agreements 2,936.0  – 2,936.0 (2,936.0)  –  – 
Total financial assets in scope 12,978.3 (6,659.1) 6,319.2 (5,335.3) (412.4) 571.5 

Liabilities in scope
Derivative financial liabilities 10,264.2 (6,481.9) 3,782.3 (2,399.3) (610.7) 772.3 
Repurchase agreements 853.1  – 853.1 (853.1)  –  – 
Total financial liabilities in scope 11,117.3 (6,481.9) 4,635.4 (3,252.4) (610.7) 772.3 

1	 Amounts offset for derivative financial assets additionally includes cash collateral netted of $375.2 million (2023: $251.0 million). Amounts 
offset for derivative financial liabilities additionally includes cash collateral netted of $50.4 million (2023: $73.8 million).

2	 Represents netting arrangements that can be applied in the event of default, together with collateral held against exposures.

27. Ordinary share capital 

2024 
$m

2023 
$m

Issued and fully paid
1,083,458,378 ordinary shares of $1 each (2023: 1,083,458,378) 1,083.5 1,083.5
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28. Other equity instruments
The additional tier 1 (AT1) securities (Notes) issued on 27 December 2019 are perpetual, with no fixed 
redemption date, and were callable by the issuer in its sole and absolute discretion (in whole, but not in part) 
after five-years or any date thereafter at their par value plus accrued but unpaid interest. The Notes paid 
interest annually for five-years from issuance date at a fixed rate of 7.617 per cent. and would subsequently 
have paid interest quarterly in perpetuity at a floating rate of SOFR plus 4.62 per cent. The Notes are 
subordinate to any existing tier 2 instruments issued by ICBCS and senior to its ordinary shares.

In December 2024, the Notes were amended by a deed of amendment to pay interest at a fixed rate of  
7.735 per cent from 27 December 2024 for five-years. Thereafter, the rate of interest for each period from 
the next reset date, and for the following five-years, shall be equivalent to the interest rate on five-year United 
States Government securities plus 3.35 per cent. To hedge the interest rate risk on the reset Notes from 
December 2024, $160.0 million of a US Treasury issuance due 31 December 2029 was purchased by the 
Group.

The issuer is prohibited from redeeming the Notes during the period to 27 December 2029 unless there is a 
change in the regulatory classification or tax treatment. The Notes can be redeemed by the issuer (in whole 
but not in part) on any date thereafter at their par value plus accrued but unpaid interest.	

Interest payments are non–cumulative, payable at the sole and absolute discretion of the issuer and will be 
mandatorily cancelled to the extent required if there are insufficient distributable reserves to make payment.

The Notes include a write down feature, whereby their full principal amount and all accrued but unpaid 
interest will be written down to zero if ICBCS’s fully loaded common equity tier 1 ratio falls below 7.0 per cent.

The Company paid a coupon on the AT1 securities of $12.2 million on 27 December 2024  
(2023: $12.2 million).

29. Contingent liabilities and commitments
29.1 Contingent liabilities
Loan commitments that are irrevocable over the life of the facility or revocable only in response to material 
adverse changes are included in the risk management section in note 37.4.

29.2 Provisions
Restructuring 

provision
Legal and 

regulatory matters Total
$m $m $m

1 January 2024 0.8 10.8 11.6 
Arising during the year  – 2.8 2.8 
Utilised during the year (0.8) (5.0) (5.8)
31 December 2024  – 8.6 8.6 

The restructuring provision was created in 2019 with the commencement of the reorganisation of the 
Group’s activities and operations to align with its revised strategic objectives. The remaining provision at 
1 January 2024 related to rates and service charges for the vacant space in the Group’s London office 
premises. This was fully utilised during the year over the remaining term of the lease for that property, which 
expired in September 2024.

Details of the provisions relating to legal and regulatory matters are provided in note 29.3 below.
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29. Contingent liabilities and commitments (continued)
29.3 Legal and regulatory matters
From time to time, the Group is the subject of litigation, regulatory reviews and requests for information by 
various governmental and regulatory bodies arising from its business operations. As set out in Note 2.2, 
provisions for legal and regulatory matters typically require a high degree of judgement and there can be a 
wide range of possible outcomes and uncertainties often making it impracticable to estimate the amount of 
any outflows that may arise.

Notwithstanding the above, in December 2023, the Bank recognised a provision of $10.8 million in respect 
of legal matters, primarily in relation to the estimated legal costs of defending certain claims as they 
progress through the courts or other stages of the litigation process. Further provisions of $2.8 million were 
recognised during 2024 for similar such costs, and $5.0 million was utilised in September 2024 following a 
provisional settlement being agreed amongst all parties in respect of one claim against the Bank, leaving a 
provision in respect of legal matters at 31 December 2024 of $8.6 million. The allocation of this provision to 
individual matters has not been disclosed as doing so would be seriously prejudicial to the Bank’s position.

In August 2024, the parties agreed a provisional settlement in a putative class action lawsuit filed in New 
York in November 2014 against the Bank and several other institutions for unquantified damages arising 
from an alleged conspiracy to manipulate and rig the global benchmark prices for physical platinum 
and palladium, and related derivative financial products. Under the terms of the settlement, none of the 
defendants admitted any liability or wrongdoing in respect of the claims made in the litigation. The US Court 
granted final approval of the settlement on 14 January 2025 and this matter is now closed.

The legal matters currently involving the Group are summarised below:

•	 In February 2017, the South African Competition Commission (SACC) filed a referral affidavit with the 
South African Competition Tribunal alleging collusive behaviour in the trading of foreign currency pairs 
involving the Rand between 2007 and 2013. The allegations are made against over twenty institutions, 
including ICBCS’s US subsidiaries. In January 2024, the South African Competition Appeals Court upheld 
appeals dismissing the Bank’s US subsidiaries from the proceedings. The SACC is appealing the decision 
in respect of Standard Americas Inc (and other banks) but not Standard New York Securities Inc.

•	 A client of the Bank’s legacy excluded business is litigating against the ultimate borrower with respect 
to repayment of its defaulted debt obligations. ICBCS has also needed to issue protective proceedings 
against the ultimate borrower to prevent limitations occurring that could prejudice its future ability to 
enforce the debt. The client concerned has also made certain allegations against the Bank in respect of 
its administration of the legacy business. Although these are strongly denied, discussions on this matter 
remain ongoing.



ICBC Standard Bank | Consolidated Annual Report

134

30. Supplementary income statement information
30.1 Interest income1 

Group
2024 

$m
2023 

$m
Interest on loans and advances and short-term funds 521.0 429.1 
Interest on debt securities held at FVOCI 30.7 61.4
Interest on debt securities held at amortised cost 61.7 34.2

613.4 524.7

Included above are the following amounts receivable from related parties:
Transactions with ultimate holding company (ICBC) and subsidiaries and branches 1.7 2.1
Transactions with shareholder with significant influence (SBG) and subsidiaries and branches 2.1 5.0

3.8 7.1

1	 All interest income reported above relates to financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss.

30.2 Interest expense1

Group
2024 

$m
2023 

$m
Subordinated debt 14.9 15.5
Other interest-bearing liabilities2 434.6 355.3

449.5 370.8

Included above are the following amounts payable to related parties:
Transactions with ultimate holding company (ICBC) and subsidiaries and branches 127.9 188.7
Transactions with shareholder with significant influence (SBG) and subsidiaries and branches 40.5 22.4
  168.4 211.1

1	 All interest expense reported above relates to financial liabilities not carried at fair value through profit or loss, and leasehold liabilities.
2	 Interest expense net of charge to net trading revenue as per accounting policy 15.

30.3 Non-interest revenue
2024 

$m
2023 

$m
Net fees and commission1 44.1 38.6
Net trading revenue 257.0 314.0

Commodities 125.5 122.6
FIC 130.9 191.0
Other 0.6 0.4

Net gain on non-trading financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 107.1 51.5
408.2 404.1

Included above are the following amounts with related parties:
Transactions with ultimate holding company (ICBC) and subsidiaries and branches (47.4) (2.5)
Transactions with shareholder with significant influence (SBG) and subsidiaries and branches 36.9 33.4
  (10.5) 30.9

1	 Includes revenue sharing arrangements on transactions with ICBC companies comprising receipts of $6.0 million (2023: $5.5 million) and 
payments of $9.9 million (2023: $12.9 million), and revenue sharing arrangements on transactions with SBG companies comprising receipts 
of $18.3 million (2023: $17.3 million). There were no payments to SBG companies in 2024 (2023: $nil).

Fee and commission income from contracts with customers in the scope of IFRS 15 is disaggregated by 
business unit in note 1. Fee and commission income from contracts with customers is measured based on 
the consideration specified in a contract with a customer. The Group recognises revenue when it transfers 
control over a service to a customer or when the service is complete, depending on the nature of the 
contract and the service provided. The following table provides information about the nature and timing of 
the satisfaction of performance obligations in contracts with customers and the related revenue recognition 
policies.
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30. Supplementary income statement information (continued)
30.3 Non-interest revenue (continued)

Business unit Nature and timing of satisfaction of performance obligations Revenue recognition

Commodities The Group provides vaulting and clearing services to clients 
in its precious metals business. The fees for these services 
principally comprise storage and transfer fees.
Storage fees are set at fixed rates per amount of metal stored. 
Transfer fees are transaction based.
The Group leases metals to and from clients in its precious 
metals business. The fees for these services are based on the 
value of the metal leased and the agreed lease rate.

Revenue related to storage services is recognised over 
time reflecting the provision of the storage service on a 
continuous basis over the storage term.
Revenue related to transfers is recognised at the point 
in time when the transfer is complete.
Revenue related to metal leases is recognised over 
time throughout the term of the lease and is paid on 
termination of the lease.

FIC The Group provides brokerage services for its clients on 
securities trades. Fees for these services are transaction based.
The Group’s debt capital markets (DCM) business provides 
various finance related services, including debt underwriting 
and other advisory services. Fees received for these services 
are transaction based.

Revenue related to brokerage services is recognised at 
the point in time when the transaction is complete.
Revenue related to transactions in the Group’s DCM 
business is recognised at the point in time when the 
transaction is complete.

All The Group provides guarantees to various clients. Fees received 
for these services are based on the value of the guarantee 
provided, the creditworthiness of the obligor and the term of the 
guarantee.

Revenue related to guarantees is recognised over time 
throughout the term of the guarantee.

30.4 Credit impairment (charges) / recoveries
2024 

$m
2023 

$m
Stage 1: 12-month ECL (2.7) (5.9)

Reverse repurchase agreements 0.2 –
Due from banks and other financial institutions 1.1 (2.9)
Loans and advances to customers (1.3) 0.3
Commitments and financial guarantees given (2.7) (3.3)

Stage 2: Lifetime ECL – not credit-impaired – 3.8
Due from banks and other financial institutions – 3.8

Stage 3: Lifetime ECL – credit-impaired – 4.1
Due from banks and other financial institutions – 4.1

Purchased or Originated Credit Impaired (POCI) – 48.2
Other assets – 48.2

    

Net credit impairment (charges) / recoveries (2.7) 50.2
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30. Supplementary income statement information (continued) 
30.5 Staff costs

2024 
$m

2023 
$m

Salaries and allowances 194.0 192.9
Social security costs 22.9 22.8
Other direct staff costs 11.6 11.8
Long-term incentive schemes 9.5 10.4
Retirement benefit costs 10.5 9.9

248.5 247.8

30.6 Other operating expenses
2024 

$m
2023 

$m
Auditors’ remuneration 4.4 4.3

Audit of ICBC Standard Bank Plc Company 3.8 3.6
Audit of subsidiaries1 0.4 0.5
Audit related assurance services 0.2 0.2

Depreciation 14.8 17.5
Computer equipment 2.2 3.2
Office equipment 0.4 0.4 
Furniture and fittings 1.8 1.6 
Right of use lease assets 10.4 12.3

Information technology and communication 63.2 53.3
Infrastructure and IT development costs 32.7 32.8

Consultancy fees 23.9 23.5
Amortisation of intangible assets 8.7 9.6
Technology, communication and market data 1.5 0.6
Other expenses (including R&D tax reclaim) (1.4) (0.9)

Premises 3.6 6.8 
Other expenses 12.1 31.2

130.8 145.9

1	 Includes $0.3 million (2023: $0.3 million) in respect of fees for audit services to firms other than Deloitte.

30.7 Indirect taxation
2024 

$m
2023 

$m
Value added tax 3.9 3.9
Bank Levy 0.5 –
US Excise duty (1.3) –

3.1 3.9
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30. Supplementary income statement information (continued) 
30.8 Deferred compensation
The provision in respect of liabilities under the Group’s deferred compensation scheme amounts to  
$46.1 million (quanto stock units $15.0 million, ICBCS notional shares $12.6 million, deferred cash  
$18.5 million) at 31 December 2024 (2023: $35.9 million), and the charge for the year is $14.1 million 
(quanto stock units $3.4 million, ICBCS notional shares $3.9 million, deferred cash $6.8 million)  
(2023: $16.3 million, quanto stock units $7.2 million, ICBCS notional shares $1.9 million, deferred cash  
$7.2 million). The change in liability relating to the quanto stock units due to changes in the ICBC share price 
is materially hedged through the use of equity options designated as cash flow hedges (see note 7.4.1).

The provision amount at 31 December 2024 related to fully vested quanto stock unit awards was  
$2.0 million (2023: $3.5 million) and ICBCS notional shares was $6.0 million (2023: $nil). There were no 
fully vested ICBCS notional shares awards or deferred cash awards that were unpaid at 31 December 2024 
(2023: $nil).

The movement in the number of units and shares for the quanto stock unit plan and deferred performance 
plan respectively were as follows:

ICBC quanto stock units
2024 
Units

2023 
Units

Units outstanding at beginning of the year 5,011,825 3,705,371 
Granted  – 3,514,472 
Exercised (1,823,231) (2,094,787)
Leavers / lapses (63,483) (113,231)
Units outstanding at end of the year 3,125,111 5,011,825 

Of which relates to key management 519,384 712,444 

ICBCS notional shares
2024 

Shares
2023 

Shares
Shares outstanding at beginning of the year  –  – 
Granted 7,206,924  – 
Exercised  –  – 
Leavers / lapses  –  – 
Shares outstanding at end of the year 7,206,924  – 

Of which relates to key management 903,172  – 

The following ICBC quanto stock units and ICBCS notional shares granted to employees had not been 
exercised at 31 December:

ICBC quanto stock units

Expiry year1
2024 
Units

2023 
Units

2023  – 956,696 
2024 380,500 1,247,035 
2025 949,885 987,031 
2026 865,840 888,278 
2027 536,460 540,359 
2028 287,817 287,817 
2029 68,647 68,647 
2030 35,962 35,962 

3,125,111 5,011,825 

1	 The units vest at various intervals between the reporting date and the expiry date.
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30. Supplementary income statement information (continued)
30.8 Deferred compensation (continued)

ICBCS notional shares

Expiry year1
2024 

Shares2
2023 

Shares
2024 3,531,604  – 
2025 704,160  – 
2026 704,160  – 
2027 798,218  – 
2028 798,218  – 
2029 482,448  – 
2030 94,058  – 
2031 94,058  – 

7,206,924  – 

1	 The shares vest at various intervals between the reporting date and the expiry date.
2	 Excludes shares awarded on 1 March 2025 for the performance period ended 31 December 2024. 

Deferred awards of $13.3 million (2023: $15.6 million) have been approved for issue in March 2025. This is 
split into ICBCS notional share awards of $5.9 million (2023: $6.5 million), and deferred cash awards of  
$7.4 million (2022: $8.9 million). No quanto stock units have been issued since 2023.

The unrecognised compensation cost related to all unvested awards amounts to $20.7million  
(2023: $21.4 million). This is split into ICBCS notional share awards of $6.8 million (2023: $4.2 million), with 
$2.8 million being quanto stock units (2023: $5.8 million) and $11.1 million being deferred cash awards 
(2023: $11.4 million). These represent the accumulated amount deferred on awards issued and approved. 
The vesting of these awards in the income statement is expected to occur as follows:

2024 
$m

2023 
$m

Year ending 31 December 2024  – 9.8 
Year ending 31 December 2025 9.6 6.0 
Year ending 31 December 2026 5.8 3.3 
Year ending 31 December 2027 3.1 1.5 
Year ending 31 December 2028 1.4 0.5 
Year ending 31 December 2029 0.5 0.2 
Year ending 31 December 2030 0.1 0.1
Year ending 31 December 2031 0.1  – 
Year ending 31 December 2032 0.1  – 

20.7 21.4 

30.9 Directors’ emoluments

Directors 1,2,3
2024 

$m
2023 

$m
Emoluments of directors in respect of services rendered

Emoluments4 4.2 4.0 
Proceeds from exercise of share-based incentives 0.4 0.4 

Highest paid director
Emoluments 1.3 1.2 
Proceeds from exercise of share-based incentives 0.2 0.2 

1 Compensation relates to services rendered to the Group. No payments were made on the Group’s behalf by entities consolidated into the 
ultimate holding company (ICBC) and the shareholder with significant influence (SBG) (2023: $nil).

2	 No pension contributions were paid on behalf of directors for 2024 and 2023.
3 The number of directors to whom retirement benefits were accruing under defined contribution plans in respect of qualifying services for 

2024 was nil (2023: nil)
4	 Directors’ emoluments are paid in sterling and totalled £3.5 million for 2024 (2023: £3.4 million).
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30. Supplementary income statement information (continued)
30.9 Directors’ emoluments (continued)
The movement in the number of units for the quanto stock unit plan and the number of shares for the 
deferred performance plan granted to directors were as follows:

Long-term benefits under the ICBC quanto stock unit plan
2024 
Units

2023 
Units

Number of units brought forward 360,431 283,106 
Issued during the year  – 168,279 
Leavers (24,258)  – 
Exercised (94,925) (90,954)
As at 31 December 241,248 360,431 

Long-term benefits under the ICBCS notional share scheme
2024 

Shares
2023 

Shares
Number of shares brought forward  –  – 
Issued during the year 452,213  – 
Leavers (55,542)  – 
Exercised  –  – 
As at 31 December 396,671  – 

30.10 Company profits
As permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the Company’s statement of comprehensive 
income has not been presented. The Company’s profit of $155.7 million (2023: $184.8 million) has been 
included in the consolidated income statement.

30.11 Dividends
On 27 March 2024, the Directors approved a final dividend payment of $49.9 million on the Company’s 
ordinary shares in respect of the year ended 31 December 2023. This was paid to ordinary shareholders on 
28 March 2024 and was accounted for in shareholders’ equity as an appropriation of retained earnings in 
the year ended 31 December 2024.

On 28 February 2025, the Directors approved a final dividend payment of $41.8 million on the Company’s 
ordinary shares in respect of the year ended 31 December 2024, which will be paid to ordinary shareholders 
in March 2025. These financial statements do not reflect this dividend payment.

31. Income tax charge
2024 

$m
2023 

 $m 
Current year tax charge (30.8) (25.6)

UK current tax (21.1) (24.6)
UK deferred tax 5.1 7.3
Overseas withholding tax (12.5) (4.9)
Overseas current tax (2.3) (3.4)

Prior years 0.3 2.1
UK current tax 0.3 3.0
Overseas current tax (0.2) (1.0)
Overseas deferred tax 0.2 0.1

Total tax charge (30.5) (23.5)
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31. Income tax charge (continued)
UK tax rate reconciliation
The UK corporation tax rate for the year ended 31 December 2024 was 25.0% (2023: 23.5%). The difference 
between the actual tax charge and the tax that would result from applying the standard UK corporation tax 
rate to the Group’s profit before tax is explained below.

2024 
$m

2023 
 $m 

Profit before taxation 187.0 210.6
Tax charge at the standard rate of 25.0% (2023: 23.5%) (46.8) (49.5)
Effects of:
Net impact of overseas tax1 (9.4) (3.5)
Banking surcharge (3.2) (5.8)
Non-deductible expenses (0.8) (0.1)
Impact of changes in foreign exchange rates (0.1) (0.3)
Adjustment to tax in respect of prior years 0.3 2.1
Tax relief on payments made under AT1 instruments2 3.0 2.9
Tax charge included in the income statement before deferred tax items (57.0) (54.2)
Origination / reversal of temporary differences not recognised (1.5) 0.8
Deferred tax asset not previously recognised 12.4 7.3
Utilisation of tax losses for which no deferred tax was recognised 15.6 22.6
Tax charge included in the income statement (30.5) (23.5)
Effective tax rate (%) based on:

Tax charge included in the income statement before deferred tax items 30.5 25.7
Tax charge included in the income statement 16.3 11.2

1	 Mostly relates to interest income received by the Company which is subject to withholding tax imposed in the country of origin. Income that is 
subject to such tax is recognised gross of the taxes and the corresponding withholding tax is recognised as a tax expense.

2	 The Company’s AT1 coupon payments are tax deductible. In accordance with IAS 12, the income tax consequences of tax deductible 
distributions, including AT1 coupon payments, are recorded in the income statement tax expense. 

Global minimum top-up tax
On 11 July 2023, Finance (No.2) Act 2023 was enacted in the UK, introducing a global minimum effective tax 
rate of 15 per cent imposed by the OECD’s Pillar Two Model Rules. The legislation implemented a domestic 
top-up tax and a multinational top-up tax effective for accounting periods commencing on or after  
1 January 2024.

The profits relating to ICBC’s operations in the UK and US for the year ended 31 December 2024 are 
expected to be subject to an effective tax rate in excess of 15 per cent. Therefore, no top-up tax should be 
allocated to the Group for these jurisdictions for the year ended 31 December 2024.

The effective tax rate for ICBC’s operations in Singapore in 2024 may be less than 15 per cent, hence there 
could be an allocation of top-up tax to the Group in relation to its Singapore Branch. However, any amount 
allocated is not expected to be significant to the Group’s results for the year ended 31 December 2024 and 
no amount has been provided for top-up taxes in the financial statements for that period.

In accordance with the amendments made to IAS 12 in May 2023 in relation to the Pillar Two Model Rules 
(see accounting policy 12), the Group has applied a temporary mandatory relief from deferred tax accounting 
for the impacts of the top-up tax and accounts for it as a current tax when it is incurred.
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32. Notes to the cash flow statement
32.1 (Increase) / decrease in income-earning assets

Group Company
2024 

$m
2023 

$m
2024 

$m
2023 

$m
Financial assets held for trading 66.6 (575.8) 66.6 (575.8)
Non-trading financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 2,167.6 (662.9) 2,167.6 (662.9)
Loans and advances1 (2,594.0) (378.5) (2,590.9) (395.7)
Other assets (1,297.4) (2,006.7) (1,297.8) (2,006.4)
Financial investments (1,123.2) (758.5) (1,123.2) (758.5)

(2,780.4) (4,382.4) (2,777.7) (4,399.3)

1	 Consists of Due from banks and other financial institutions, Reverse repurchase agreements and Loans and advances to customers.

32.2 Increase / (decrease) in interest bearing and non-interest bearing liabilities
Group Company

2024 
$m

2023 
$m

2024 
$m

2023 
$m

Deposits1 (1,219.9) 29.5 (1,219.9) 29.5 
Net derivative instruments (113.8) 32.6 (113.8) 32.6 
Financial liabilities held for trading (696.7) 339.5 (696.7) 339.5 
Non-trading financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 3,232.3 793.1 3,232.3 793.1 
Other liabilities 1,504.8 799.9 1,503.4 808.8 

2,706.7 1,994.6 2,705.3 2,003.5 

1	 Consists of Due to banks and other financial institutions, Repurchase agreements and Due to customers.

32.3 Corporation and withholding tax paid
Group Company

2024 
$m

2023 
$m

2024 
$m

2023 
$m

Amounts receivable at beginning of the year 9.4 2.0 9.1 2.7 
Income tax charge (30.5) (23.5) (30.3) (22.7)
Non-cash movements (2.7) (6.1) (2.5) (6.0)
Amounts receivable at end of the year (6.4) (9.4) (6.3) (9.1)

(30.2) (37.0) (30.0) (35.1)

32.4 Cash and cash equivalents
Group Company

2024 
$m

2023 
$m

2024 
$m

2023 
$m

Balances with central banks 2,674.1 2,635.9 2,674.1 2,635.9 
Other cash equivalents 87.9 108.5 64.5 83.8 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 2,762.0 2,744.4 2,738.6 2,719.7 
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32. Notes to the cash flow statement (continued) 
32.5 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

Group and Company
Opening 
balance

Cash flow 
movements

Non-cash 
flow 

movements 
Closing 
balance

2024 $m $m $m $m
Subordinated debt 247.6  – 1.0 248.6

Group and Company
Opening 
balance

Cash flow 
movements

Non‑cash 
flow 

movements 
Closing 

balance
2023 $m $m $m $m
Subordinated debt 245.4  – 2.2 247.6

33. Related party transactions
33.1 Subsidiaries
The subsidiary companies listed in note 14 comprise a limited part of the Group’s activities and transactions 
with these entities are not significant. The principal nature of the transactions are payments for business 
introduced and trading facilitation activities. Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised surpluses 
and deficits are eliminated on consolidation.

33.2 ICBC and SBG related parties
The Group entered into transactions with other entities forming part of ICBC and SBG. The transactions were 
entered into in the course of banking operations and were conducted in the ordinary course of business at 
arm’s length, and on substantially the same terms, including interest rates and security, as for comparable 
transactions with third parties. These transactions include funding and acceptance of interbank deposits, 
lending, derivative transactions and correspondent banking transactions. The transactions were priced at the 
prevailing market rates at the time of the transactions. A significant portion of this activity reflects funding 
and deposits of commodities inventory holdings, as well as the deposit of excess liquidity by other entities 
within the ICBC and Standard Bank groups. The extent of these activities is presented in notes 15 to 18, 20 
and 21. As part of its normal activities, the Group also advanced funds to other entities within the ICBC and 
Standard Bank groups, the extent of which is disclosed in notes 4 and 8. Balances arising from derivative 
transactions with ICBC and Standard Bank group companies are shown in note 7.1. 
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33. Related party transactions (continued)
33.3 Key management compensation
Key management comprises directors of ICBCS and members of the executive committee.

2024 2023
$m $m

Salaries and other short-term benefits 6.6 6.5 
Long-term incentives recognised in the income statement 1.4 1.6 
Amounts included in the income statement 8.0 8.1 
Proceeds on exercise of long-term incentives 1.1 0.9 

There were no other transactions with key management in 2024 (2023: none).

The average key management consists of 16 employees (2023: 15 employees).

34. Pensions and other post-retirement benefits
The Group makes defined contributions to employees’ pension providers. The assets of these providers 
are held separately from the Group. Included in staff costs are contributions paid for pensions and other 
post-retirement benefits which amounted to $10.5 million (2023: $9.9 million). There were no outstanding 
contributions at the end of the reporting period (2023: $nil).

35. Subsequent events
As detailed in note 30.11, a final dividend payment of $41.8 million on the Company’s ordinary shares was 
approved by the Directors on 28 February 2025. No other material adjusting or non-adjusting events have 
occurred between the balance sheet date and the date the annual financial statements have been approved 
for issue, which would require disclosure in the Group’s financial statements.

36. Maturity analysis
The Group assesses the maturity of its assets and liabilities at 31 December each year. This gives an 
indication of the remaining life of these assets and liabilities at that point in time. The following table 
illustrates the maturities based on a contractual discounted basis. For the maturity analysis of financial 
liabilities on a contractual undiscounted basis, refer to the ‘Structural Requirements’ section, within the 
Liquidity Risk note (note 37.6). 
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36. Maturity analysis (continued)

Group – 31 December 2024
Repayable 

on demand

Maturing 
within  

1 month

Maturing 
after  

1 month 
but 

within  
3 months

Maturing 
after  

3 months 
but 

within  
6 months

Maturing 
after  

6 months 
but within 

12 months

Maturing 
after 12 
months 

but 
within  

5 years

Maturing 
after  

5 years Undated Total
$m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m

Assets 
Cash and balances with central 
banks 

2,674.1  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 2,674.1 

Due from banks and other 
financial institutions

1,115.1  – 47.7 67.2 2,016.7 480.5  –  – 3,727.2 

Financial assets held for trading  – 75.2 136.0 37.5 227.4 492.8 243.0  – 1,211.9 
Non-trading financial assets at 
fair value through profit or loss

74.1 371.1  – 101.1 30.1 109.3  – 3.3 689.0 

Derivative financial assets 166.9 926.3 918.6 462.5 593.7 692.9 150.3  – 3,911.2 
Reverse repurchase 
agreements

568.9 813.3 1,152.5 347.5 70.9 72.6 501.1  – 3,526.8 

Loans and advances to 
customers

183.4 4.2 31.9  – 4.2 1,019.7 59.6  – 1,303.0 

Financial investments  – 298.5 408.8 103.3 153.2 2,115.6 97.5  – 3,176.9 
Property and equipment  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 70.3 70.3 
Current tax assets  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 7.6 7.6
Deferred tax assets  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 13.3 13.3 
Other assets 110.1 15.2 0.1 0.4  – 3.7 0.2 6,159.4 6,289.1 
Total assets 4,892.6 2,503.8 2,695.6 1,119.5 3,096.2 4,987.1 1,051.7 6,253.9 26,600.4 

Liabilities
Financial liabilities held for 
trading

2.4 194.0 111.2 181.2 127.8 253.5 67.9  – 938.0 

Non-trading financial liabilities 
at fair value through profit or 
loss

464.7 783.4 1,274.6 73.8 682.9 3,695.9  –  – 6,975.3 

Derivative financial liabilities 178.0 813.2 935.4 581.4 651.8 818.8 216.3  – 4,194.9 
Due to banks and other 
financial institutions

815.4 1,079.6 463.9 34.3 2,034.1 304.0  –  – 4,731.3 

Repurchase agreements 510.6 316.2 177.3 56.0  – 20.3  –  – 1,080.4 
Due to customers 507.2 656.7 267.1  –  –  –  –  – 1,431.0 
Current tax liabilities  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 0.8 0.8 
Subordinated debt  –  –  –  –  –  – 248.6  – 248.6 
Other liabilities 4,946.4 20.3  – 0.8 0.6 2.5 0.1 85.7 5,056.4 
Total liabilities 7,424.7 3,863.4 3,229.5 927.5 3,497.2 5,095.0 532.9 86.5 24,656.7 

Undated other assets include commodities held at fair value. Other liabilities payable on demand include 
obligations to return commodity balances placed with the Group. 
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36. Maturity analysis (continued)

Company – 31 December 2024
Repayable 

on demand

Maturing 
within  

1 month

Maturing 
after  

1 month 
but 

within 
3 months

Maturing 
after  

3 months 
but 

within  
6 months

Maturing 
after  

6 months 
but within 

12 months

Maturing 
after 12 
months 

but 
within  

5 years

Maturing 
after  

5 years Undated Total
$m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m

Assets 
Cash and balances with central 
banks 

2,674.1  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 2,674.1 

Due from banks and other 
financial institutions

1,052.3  – 47.7 67.2 2,016.7 480.5  –  – 3,664.4 

Financial assets held for trading  – 75.2 136.0 37.5 227.4 492.8 243.0  – 1,211.9 
Non-trading financial assets at 
fair value through profit or loss

74.1 371.1  – 101.1 30.1 109.3  – 3.3 689.0 

Derivative financial assets 166.9 926.3 918.6 462.5 593.7 692.9 150.3  – 3,911.2 
Reverse repurchase 
agreements

568.9 813.3 1,152.5 347.5 70.9 72.6 501.1  – 3,526.8 

Loans and advances to 
customers

183.4 4.2 31.9  – 4.2 1,019.7 59.6  – 1,303.0 

Financial investments  – 298.5 408.8 103.3 153.2 2,115.6 97.5  – 3,176.9 
Property and equipment  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 61.7 61.7 
Current tax assets  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 7.5 7.5 
Deferred tax assets  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 12.4 12.4 
Other assets 111.7 15.2 0.1 0.4  – 3.7 0.2 6,157.7 6,289.0 
Investment in group companies  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 29.5 29.5 
Total assets 4,831.4 2,503.8 2,695.6 1,119.5 3,096.2 4,987.1 1,051.7 6,272.1 26,557.4 

Liabilities
Financial liabilities held for 
trading

2.4 194.0 111.2 181.2 127.8 253.5 67.9  – 938.0 

Non-trading financial liabilities 
at fair value through profit or 
loss

464.7 783.4 1,274.6 73.8 682.9 3,695.9  –  – 6,975.3 

Derivative financial liabilities 178.0 813.2 935.4 581.4 651.8 818.8 216.3  – 4,194.9 
Due to banks and other 
financial institutions

815.4 1,079.6 463.9 34.3 2,034.1 304.0  –  – 4,731.3 

Repurchase agreements 510.6 316.2 177.3 56.0  – 20.3  –  – 1,080.4 
Due to customers 507.2 656.7 267.1  –  –  –  –  – 1,431.0 
Current tax liabilities  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 0.7 0.7 
Subordinated debt  –  –  –  –  –  – 248.6  – 248.6 
Other liabilities 4,937.1 20.3  – 0.8 0.6 2.5 0.1 81.8 5,043.2 
Total liabilities 7,415.4 3,863.4 3,229.5 927.5 3,497.2 5,095.0 532.9 82.5 24,643.4 

Undated other assets include commodities held at fair value. Other liabilities payable on demand include 
obligations to return commodity balances placed with the Group.
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36. Maturity analysis (continued)

Group – 31 December 2023
Repayable 

on demand

Maturing 
within  

1 month

Maturing 
after  

1 month 
but within 
3 months

Maturing 
after  

3 months 
but within 
6 months

Maturing 
after  

6 months 
but within 

12 months

Maturing 
after 12 
months 

but within 
5 years

Maturing 
after  

5 years Undated Total
$m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m

Assets 
Cash and balances with central 
banks 

2,635.9  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 2,635.9 

Due from banks and other 
financial institutions

1,538.0  – 52.0 53.2 118.0 487.2  –  – 2,248.4 

Financial assets held for trading  – 382.5 19.4 29.2 194.5 321.5 331.4  – 1,278.5 
Non-trading financial assets at 
fair value through profit or loss

250.3 162.1 335.4  – 1,994.0 111.0  – 3.8 2,856.6 

Derivative financial assets 101.1 585.0 759.0 508.7 529.4 727.2 172.8  – 3,383.2 
Reverse repurchase 
agreements

452.3 972.3 1,024.0 387.7 23.5 7.3 68.9  – 2,936.0 

Loans and advances to 
customers

65.6  –  –  – 34.6 524.7 146.4  – 771.3 

Financial investments  – 20.6 47.2 56.3 123.8 1,749.8 55.1  – 2,052.8 
Property and equipment  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 66.9 66.9 
Current tax assets  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 11.8 11.8 
Deferred tax assets  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 8.0 8.0 
Other assets 169.7 7.3 0.1  –  – 0.1 0.6 4,819.9 4,997.7 
Total assets 5,212.9 2,129.8 2,237.1 1,035.1 3,017.8 3,928.8 775.2 4,910.4 23,247.1 

Liabilities
Financial liabilities held for 
trading

2.2 537.1 329.4 161.4 43.8 495.7 65.1  – 1,634.7 

Non-trading financial liabilities 
at fair value through profit or 
loss

4.8 294.6 73.6 298.2 2,359.5 713.3  –  – 3,744.0 

Derivative financial liabilities 34.3 736.3 802.6 504.7 533.3 882.1 289.0  – 3,782.3 
Due to banks and other 
financial institutions

1,527.6 1,555.3 374.2 119.1 437.7 2,536.1 3.2  – 6,553.2 

Repurchase agreements 72.0 439.9 156.7 14.4 14.4 155.7  –  – 853.1 
Due to customers 490.0 100.7 486.4  –  –  –  –  – 1,077.1 
Current tax liabilities  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 2.4 2.4 
Subordinated debt  –  –  –  –  –  – 247.6  – 247.6 
Other liabilities 3,392.2 2.8  – 0.3  – 8.5 1.1 76.9 3,481.8 
Total liabilities 5,523.1 3,666.7 2,222.9 1,098.1 3,388.7 4,791.4 606.0 79.3 21,376.2 
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36. Maturity analysis (continued)

Company – 31 December 2023
Repayable 

on demand

Maturing 
within  

1 month

Maturing 
after  

1 month 
but within 
3 months

Maturing 
after  

3 months 
but within 
6 months

Maturing 
after  

6 months 
but within 

12 months

Maturing 
after 12 
months 

but within 
5 years

Maturing 
after  

5 years Undated Total
$m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m

Assets 
Cash and balances with central 
banks 

2,635.9  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 2,635.9 

Due from banks and other 
financial institutions

1,476.8  – 52.0 53.2 118.0 487.3  –  – 2,187.3 

Financial assets held for trading  – 382.5 19.3 29.2 194.5 321.6 331.4  – 1,278.5 
Non-trading financial assets at 
fair value through profit or loss

250.3 162.1 335.5  – 1,994.0 110.9  – 3.8 2,856.6 

Derivative financial assets 101.1 585.0 759.1 508.7 529.4 727.1 172.8  – 3,383.2 
Reverse repurchase 
agreements

452.3 972.3 1,024.0 387.7 23.5 7.3 68.9  – 2,936.0 

Loans and advances to 
customers

65.6  –  –  – 34.6 524.7 146.4  – 771.3 

Financial investments  – 20.6 47.2 56.3 123.9 1,749.7 55.1  – 2,052.8 
Property and equipment  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 63.6 63.6 
Current tax assets  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 11.4 11.4 
Deferred tax assets  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 7.3 7.3 
Other assets 169.7 7.3 0.1  –  – 0.1 0.6 4,819.3 4,997.1 
Investment in group companies  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 29.5 29.5 
Total assets 5,151.7 2,129.8 2,237.2 1,035.1 3,017.9 3,928.7 775.2 4,934.9 23,210.5 

Liabilities
Financial liabilities held for 
trading

2.2 537.1 329.4 161.4 43.8 495.7 65.1  – 1,634.7 

Non-trading financial liabilities 
at fair value through profit or 
loss

4.8 294.6 73.6 298.2 2,359.5 713.3  –  – 3,744.0 

Derivative financial liabilities 34.3 736.3 802.6 504.8 533.2 882.1 289.0  – 3,782.3 
Due to banks and other 
financial institutions

1,527.6 1,555.3 374.2 119.1 437.7 2,536.1 3.2  – 6,553.2 

Repurchase agreements 72.0 439.9 156.7 14.4 14.4 155.7  –  – 853.1 
Due to customers 490.0 100.7 486.4  –  –  –  –  – 1,077.1 
Current tax liabilities  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 2.3 2.3 
Subordinated debt  –  –  –  –  –  – 247.6  – 247.6 
Other liabilities 3,388.1 2.8  – 0.3  – 8.5 1.1 74.1 3,474.9 
Total liabilities 5,519.0 3,666.7 2,222.9 1,098.2 3,388.6 4,791.4 606.0 76.4 21,369.2 
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37 Risk management
37.1 Overview and executive summary
The effective management of risk within the stated risk appetite is fundamental to the banking activities of 
the Group. The Group seeks to achieve a measured balance between risk and reward in the businesses as 
described below. In this regard, the Group continues to build and enhance the risk management capabilities 
that assist in delivering growth plans in a controlled environment.

Risk management is at the core of the operating and management structures of the Group. Managing and 
controlling risks, and in particular avoiding undue concentrations of exposure, limiting potential losses from 
stress events, restricting significant positions in less quantifiable risk areas and constraining profit or loss 
volatility are essential elements of risk management and the control framework, which serve to protect the 
Group’s reputation and business franchise.

37.2 Risk management framework
Governance structure
The Board is primarily responsible for the governance of risk and compliance with legal and regulatory 
obligations. It delegates to management, in particular through the Chief Risk Officer and the Head of 
Compliance, the responsibility for the management of risk and compliance respectively, including the design, 
implementation and monitoring of plans and processes. The Board has delegated authority to the Board 
Risk Management Committee to provide independent and objective oversight of risk management and 
compliance across the Bank. 

Accountability for risk management resides at all levels across the organisation, as set out by the three lines 
of defence model. The first line includes business unit management where the assessment, evaluation and 
measurement of risk are integrated into day-to-day business activities. The second line is represented by the 
risk management and compliance functions, which are independent of line management within the business 
units. The third line consists of internal audit, which provides an independent assessment on the adequacy 
and effectiveness of the Group’s overall system of internal control and risk governance structures.

Risk profile
The Group’s trading activities comprise both own account and customer related business. These result in 
the Group holding positions in foreign exchange, commodities and marketable securities for its own account 
and to facilitate client business. The Group’s non-trading portfolios include loans and advances, deposits and 
debt securities. 

Risk policies and procedures
Frameworks, policies, and procedures are in place to manage each major risk type. These set out minimum 
requirements for management of risk, and promote consistency of risk management methods.

Risk appetite
Risk appetite is an expression of the amount, type and tenor of risk the Group is willing to take in pursuit of 
its financial and strategic objectives. 

The Board establishes the parameters for risk appetite by:

•	 	providing strategic leadership and guidance;

•	 	reviewing and approving annual budgets and forecasts, under normal and stressed conditions;

•	 	regularly reviewing and monitoring performance in relation to risk through quarterly Board reports; and

•	 	conducting forward-looking analysis of risk measures compared with risk appetite under both normal and 
stressed conditions.

The Chief Risk Officer (CRO) recommends the level of risk appetite for the Group to both the BRMC and the 
Board.
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37 Risk management (continued)
37.2 Risk management framework (continued) 

The Group’s risk appetite is defined in relation to the following metrics: earnings at risk; economic capital; 
regulatory capital; liquidity; and other risks. These metrics are converted into limits and triggers appropriate 
to the relevant risk types.

Stress testing (unaudited)
The Group’s stress testing framework supports the regular execution of stress tests at the business unit and 
Group level. The overall stress testing programme, incorporating credit, market, liquidity and operational 
risk, is a key management tool facilitating a forward-looking perspective of risk in relation to business 
performance. 

Stress testing supports a number of business processes across the Group, including:

•	 strategic planning and budgeting;

•	 capital and liquidity planning and management, including setting capital and liquidity buffers;

•	 communication with internal and external stakeholders; and

•	 assessment of the impact of changes in short-term macroeconomic factors on the Group’s performance.

Stress tests are used to manage the Group’s risk profile proactively, to plan and manage capital and liquidity, 
and as an input into the strategic business planning process. They are an integral component of the Group’s 
internal capital adequacy assessment process (ICAAP), and are used to assess and manage the adequacy of 
regulatory and economic capital. 

Management conducts stress testing on a daily basis to assess the impact on the Group’s funding and 
liquidity position. Internal stress testing is used to model severe idiosyncratic, market-wide and combined 
stress scenarios and to determine the Group’s liquidity risk appetite. The stress testing framework is included 
in the individual liquidity adequacy assessment process (ILAAP), which is used to assess the Group’s 
processes for identification, measurement, management and monitoring of liquidity and funding risk.

The appropriateness and severity of the relevant stress scenarios for enterprise-wide stress testing are 
approved by BRMC and reviewed at least annually. Management reviews the results of the stress tests and 
evaluates the need for mitigating actions, including modifications to risk limits, reducing levels of business, 
and limiting exposures through hedging activities.

The Group performs stress testing to understand points of vulnerability in its portfolio by applying scenarios 
with a range of severity and narrative, applied to multiple risk factors. Understanding these vulnerabilities 
enables the Bank to ensure it has appropriate capital and liquidity resources and contingency measures to 
absorb future stress events, and to support proactive risk management action and take decisions regarding 
appetite for both individual counterparties and across the portfolio. 

The Group also conducts reverse stress testing to complement the stress testing programme described 
above. Reverse stress testing identifies those scenarios that could threaten the ongoing stability of the 
Group, and determines if additional action should be taken to mitigate this risk.
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37 Risk management (continued)
37.3 Risk categories
The principal risks to which the Group is exposed and which it manages are described in the table 
that follows. This is not an exhaustive list of all potential risks facing the Group, but rather those which 
management believes may have a significant impact on its business performance and future prospects.

Risk Type Mitigating Actions

Cr
ed

it 
R

is
k Credit risk is the risk of loss from failure of counterparties to 

meet their financial or contractual obligations when due. 

•	 Counterparty risk – loss arising from a counterparty 
being unwilling or unable to meet its financial or 
contractual obligations when due. This includes primary 
(lending) risk, pre-settlement (trading) risk and issuer 
risk in the Banking Book.

•	 Credit concentration – loss arising from an excessive 
concentration of exposure, inter alia, to a single 
counterparty, counterparty segment, industry, country 
or geography.

•	 Contingent risk – the risk that approved credit risk 
mitigation techniques applied prove to be less 
effective than expected. Exit (in relation to physical 
commodities), gap and credit insurance risk are 
components of contingent risk, although gap risk is 
largely a “hybrid” between market and credit risk.

A counterparty could be exposed to climate-related risk 
either through physical or transition risks. 

The Group manages credit risk by:

•	 maintaining a culture of responsible risk taking and an 
established risk policy and control framework;

•	 identifying, assessing and measuring credit risk clearly and 
accurately across the Group, from the level of individual facilities 
up to the total portfolio;

•	 defining, implementing and re-evaluating risk appetite under 
actual and stress conditions;

•	 monitoring exposures relative to limits;

•	 ensuring expert scrutiny and independent approval of exposures 
and their mitigation; 

•	 the Credit Limit Appetite Guideline (‘CLAG’), which is a macro 
internal framework which guides the potential maximum 
amount of uncollateralised primary credit per a risk rating grade 
calibrated to the Group’s resources and risk appetite;

•	 operating the Notional Inventory Limit Guideline Framework, 
which is a set of guidelines providing an indication of the Group’s 
notional risk appetite for commodity inventory financing with 
an obligor. The guidelines consider both the credit rating of the 
counterparty and risks associated with the location where the 
inventory will be held; and

•	 use of stress testing at a counterparty, sector and portfolio level, 
including key vulnerability stress tests for specific concentrations 
under the Bank’s stress testing framework.

For more information on Credit Risk, refer to note 37.4.
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37 Risk management (continued)
37.3 Risk categories (continued)

Risk Type Mitigating Actions

Co
un

tr
y 

R
is

k Cross-border country risk is the uncertainty that obligors 
(including the relevant sovereign and obligations of the 
Group’s branches and subsidiaries in a country) may not 
be able to fulfil their obligations to the Group because of 
political or economic conditions in the host country. 

The definition includes Group equity investments and 
physical inventories owned by the Group in a host country.

Country risk may be fully or partially reduced or transferred 
to another country through a number of mitigants.

The Group manages country risk by:

•	 maintaining a culture of responsible risk taking and an 
established risk policy and control framework;

•	 identifying, assessing and measuring country risk clearly and 
accurately across the Group;

•	 monitoring country risk relative to limits;

•	 commercial risk insurance;

•	 co-financing with multilateral institutions; and

•	 structures to mitigate transferability and convertibility risk such 
as collection, collateral and margining deposits outside the 
jurisdiction in question.

The Group has higher appetite for certain key jurisdictions such as 
China, South Africa, Nigeria and Turkey.

Regular stress tests are run to ensure exposures remain within risk 
appetite with results reviewed by senior management, including at 
Board level. 

For more information on Country Risk, refer to note 37.5.

M
ar

ke
t R

is
k The risk of a change in market value, earnings (actual or 

effective) or future cash-flows of a portfolio of financial 
instruments (including commodities), caused by moves in 
market variables such as interest rates, foreign exchange 
rates, bond and commodity prices, credit spreads and 
recovery rates, and correlations and implied volatilities in all 
of these variables.

Climate-related risks can manifest through market value loss 
due to societal, legal and technological response to climate 
change. Assets could be subject to a change in investor 
perception of profitability and a consequent revaluation. 
Physical risk channels can also result in market value loss 
due to weather impacts particularly affecting commodities 
and property.

The Group manages market risk by:

•	 measuring the Group’s market risk portfolios under both normal 
market conditions (Value at Risk (‘VAR’) at 99% confidence, one-
day holding period) and stressed market conditions (VAR at 99% 
confidence, ten-day holding period);

•	 the measurement of market risk is supplemented by the 
monitoring of material risk factor sensitivities such as delta, 
gamma, vega and other risk metrics where appropriate;

•	 taking actions to keep exposures within approved risk appetite 
limit tolerances. Where breaches in limits occur, they will be dealt 
with in accordance with the breach management and escalation 
section of the market risk policy; and

•	 applying risk controls to all portfolio and concentration limits i.e. 
stress testing, back testing, stop loss monitoring and front office 
supervisory controls associated with the trading mandates.

For more information on Market Risk, refer to note 37.7.

O
pe

ra
tio

na
l R

is
k The risk of loss suffered as a result of inadequacy of, or a 

failure in, internal processes, people, and systems or from 
external events. It incorporates losses arising from insurance 
risk and physical commodities. 

Operational risk sub-types include:

•	 Business disruption and system failures, including cyber 
incidents;

•	 Damage to physical assets;

•	 Execution and process management;

•	 Internal and external fraud;

•	 Clients, products, and business practices; and

•	 Employment practices and workplace safety.

The Group manages operational risk by:

•	 adopting operational risk practices that assist business and 
operational support line management in understanding their 
inherent risk and reducing their risk profile while seeking to 
maximise their operational performance and efficiency; 

•	 monitoring and challenging the management of the business 
(and operational support) risk profile; and

•	 analysing incident root causes, trends and emerging threats, 
advising on the remediation of potential control weaknesses and 
recommending best practice solutions.

For more information on Operational Risk, refer to note 37.8.
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37 Risk management (continued)
37.3 Risk categories (continued)

Risk Type Mitigating Actions

Li
qu

id
ity

 a
nd

 F
un

di
ng

 R
is

k Liquidity risk is the risk that a firm, although solvent, does 
not have available sufficient financial resources to enable it 
to meet its obligations as they fall due.

Funding risk is the risk that a firm does not have stable 
sources of funding in the medium and long term to enable it 
to meet its financial obligations as they fall due, either at all 
or only at excessive cost.

Specific liquidity and funding risks include:

•	 Off balance sheet outflows (collateral calls);

•	 Reliance on shareholder funding; 

•	 Depositor concentration;

•	 Dependency on management actions in stress; and

•	 Treatment of commodities under NSFR.

The Group manages liquidity and funding risk by:

•	 operating a liquidity stress testing framework based on 
regulatory and internal stress scenarios and has a number of 
tailored early warning indicators that are monitored daily with 
escalation procedures;

•	 forecasting, to assist with management of the funding profile 
and ensure compliance with the liquidity risk appetite statement 
limits;

•	 holding high-quality liquid assets (‘HQLA’), which mitigate 
outflows related to collateral calls. The quantum held is based on 
the Historical Look Back Approach (‘HLBA’) under the ILG as well 
as severe price shocks prescribed under the IST;

•	 structuring a large portion of shareholder funding under 370-day 
notice, in order to mitigate risk with funding concentration;

•	 staggering deposit maturities to minimise the funding risk arising 
from single large maturities or single counterparties;

•	 updating annually and quantifying monthly the management 
actions available to the Group in the event of a liquidity stress; 
and

•	 monitoring desk level NSFR limits daily, which are fed into the 
early warning indicator framework, to ensure on-going NSFR 
compliance.

For more information on the Group’s maturity profile as at 31 
December 2024, refer to note 36, Maturity analysis and note 37.6, 
Liquidity Risk, structural requirements.

B
us

in
es

s 
R

is
k Business risk is the residual earnings variability after taking 

into account the effects of market risk, credit risk, structural 
interest rate risk, and operational risk. It covers the risk that 
the Group fails to meet its financial objectives as a result of 
factors such as:

•	 Competition and margin reduction; 

•	 Failed client/financing strategies;

•	 Unplanned increase in costs;

•	 Reduced co-operation with ICBC and SBG groups; and 

•	 Changes in GBP/USD exchange rates.

The Group manages business risk by:

•	 regular review of management information relating to business 
performance;

•	 annual budget and business planning cycles;

•	 exploring new revenue opportunities in support of the 
shareholders and co-operating on systems/infrastructure 
initiatives designed to create longer term value;

•	 maintaining a strong focus on cost control and management 
thereof; and

•	 a short-term hedging programme with regard to the cost base.
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37 Risk management (continued)
37.3 Risk categories (continued)

Risk Type Mitigating Actions

Co
nd

uc
t R

is
k The risk that intentional or unintentional business practices 

and behaviours will lead to poor outcomes for clients, 
counterparties or the markets operated in by the Group. 

Conduct risk may arise from, for example, selling products 
which may not meet client needs, entering into finance 
arrangements that fund activities that do not align with the 
Group’s values or from exhibiting behaviours that may distort 
the market or not meet regulatory standards.

The Group manages conduct risk through:

•	 a conduct risk framework which sets the standard of behaviour 
expected of all staff;

•	 monitoring conduct risk metrics and providing senior managers 
with metrics relevant for their function;

•	 taking appropriate and proportionate action when an issue or 
incident arises and learning from these incidents through root 
cause analysis; 

•	 reviewing all significant new products and transactions, 
assessing the intended outcome and end to end life cycle of the 
product/transaction; and

•	 continuously learning from both internal and external industry 
developments and events, the organisation proactively evolves 
its approach and governance to manage the risk. 

Fi
na

nc
ia

l C
rim

e 
R

is
k Financial crime risk consists of:

•	 The risk that criminal parties will access and abuse the 
products and services of the Group;

•	 The risk that the Group transacts with or facilitates 
business involving sanctioned or restricted parties or 
products;

•	 The risk that regulators/law enforcement authorities will 
apply civil and/or criminal sanctions and penalties for 
failure to comply with anti-money laundering, counter 
terrorist financing, anti-bribery and corruption, tax 
evasion, fraud, modern slavery and sanctions laws, 
regulations, codes of conduct and regulatory/industry 
standards of best practice; and

•	 The risk that through the markets and/or media outlets, 
the Group’s reputation is harmed by unfavourable 
media or market word-of-mouth, due to financial crime 
risk events, allegations, or the actions of regulators/law 
enforcement authorities.

The Group has an established financial crime risk management 
framework. This consists of a suite of systems and controls as follows:

•	 Board mandated financial crime risk appetite statement;

•	 Application of a three lines of defence model;

•	 Ongoing screening of all counterparties and payments for 
sanctions-related and other financial crime risks;

•	 Robust client onboarding and periodic review standards and 
processes; 

•	 Enhanced due diligence measures to assess sanctions and 
other financial crime touchpoints in transactions and across the 
Group’s counterparty population; 

•	 Periodic risk assessments, monitoring and assurance reviews;

•	 Monitoring regulatory, enforcement and geopolitical 
developments; 

•	 Suspicious activity monitoring and reporting; and

•	 Staff training and breaches reporting and management.

R
ep

ut
at

io
na

l R
is

k The potential or actual damage to the Group’s image which 
may impair the profitability and/or sustainability of its 
business. 

Such damage may result from a breakdown of trust, 
confidence, or business relationships with stakeholders that 
can adversely affect the Group’s ability to manage business 
relationships, and continue having access to funding.

The Group manages reputational risk by:

•	 having an established governance framework to assess the 
potential reputational risk that may be introduced to the Group 
through the use of a product, transacting with a client or 
executing a specific transaction. 

If reputational risk is deemed to be outside of the Group’s tolerance 
level, action will be taken to mitigate the impact to the Group, 
including:

•	 terminating a client relationship; or

•	 declining participation in a transaction.

The Group continued to manage reputational risk through its 
established governance model during 2024.

For more information on Reputational Risk, refer to note 37.9.
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37 Risk management (continued)
37.3 Risk categories (continued)

Risk Type Mitigating Actions

R
eg

ul
at

or
y 

an
d 

Le
ga

l R
is

k The risk that the Group may suffer legal or regulatory 
sanctions, material financial loss or adverse impact on its 
reputation as a result of a failure to fully comply with laws, 
regulations, rules, standards or codes of conduct applicable 
to its financial services activities.

The Group manages regulatory and legal risks by:

•	 Working closely with UK and local regulators in all relevant 
jurisdictions; 

•	 Developing compliance and financial crime risk assessments to 
assess areas of weakness in the Group’s business model; 

•	 Conducting horizon scanning and impact analysis on regulatory 
change initiatives; 

•	 Responding to new and ongoing regulatory prudential and 
conduct requirements; 

•	 Continued investment in training, systems and processes; and

•	 Having an established governance and control framework with 
responsibility for the approval of new products and transactions.

Legal matters currently involving the Group are summarised in 
note 29.3.

En
vi

ro
nm

en
ta

l R
is

k Environmental risk consists of both environment-related and 
climate-related risks.

Environment-related risk refers to risks posed by the 
exposure of the Group or financial sector to activities that 
may cause or be affected by environmental degradation.

Climate-related risk refers to risks posed by the exposure of 
the Group or financial sector to physical and transition risks 
caused by or related to climate change.

Environmental risk is considered to be a cross-cutting risk as 
it can arise through, or impact on, other risk types such as 
credit, market and operational risk.

The Group manages environmental risk by:

•	 considering environmental risk as part of the credit rating and 
analysis process;

•	 Including climate-related scenarios within stress testing 
undertaken by market risk;

•	 enhancing risk processes with environmental risk considerations 
including new products and client on-boarding processes;

•	 implementing physical hazard modelling into the Physical 
Commodities Risk Assurance processes, including location and 
operator on-boarding; and

•	 developing capabilities to conduct climate-related scenario 
analysis across a range of scenarios, temperature pathways and 
time horizons.

Pe
op

le
 R

is
k The risk that the Group fails to maintain organisational 

skills, capability, resilience, and capacity in response to 
internal and external changes, such as regulatory challenges, 
cyber-attacks, leadership gaps, employee development, and 
reward structures. These factors could adversely affect the 
Group’s operations and its ability to achieve its strategic 
goals.

The Group manages people risk by:

•	 Attracting and retaining top talents; 

•	 Providing tailored training and development, to ensure 
employees stay updated with industry trends and skills;

•	 Remunerating employees with performance-based and market-
linked rewards;

•	 Having plans in place for key roles, ensuring business continuity 
and leadership stability;

•	 Promoting a culture that aligns with optimal outcomes for both 
clients and employees, which fosters a productive and ethical 
work environment;

•	 Conducting regular audits, training, and policy updates, ensuring 
the Bank stays compliant with ever-changing regulations; and

•	 Having cybersecurity measures in place.
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37 Risk management (continued)
37.4 Credit risk
Credit risk principally comprises counterparty credit risk arising from loans granted, commodity 
leasing, securities financing transactions and derivative contracts entered into with clients and market 
counterparties. 

The Group manages credit risk through the mitigating actions outlined in the table in note 37.3.

The Group’s exposure to counterparty credit risk is affected by the nature of the trades and recognition of 
any eligible netting and collateral arrangements. 

Structure and organisation of credit risk management function
The head of credit has functional responsibility for credit risk across the Group and reports to the CRO. 

A formal structure exists for the approval of credit limits, which are agreed through delegated authority 
derived from the Board. The Board awards the highest level of delegated authority to the credit committee to 
exercise responsibility for granting credit risk. The credit committee is convened as a sub-committee of the 
RMC with a mandate to:

•	 Exercise responsibility for the independent assessment, approval, review, and monitoring of credit and 
country risk limits and exposures relating to the Group’s business under a delegated authority construct;

•	 Ensure that the origination and management of credit and country risk exposures in the portfolio are in 
line with the credit risk policy and any other guidance given to it by the RMC from time to time;

•	 Escalate matters to RMC as appropriate, including breaches of risk appetite and proposed corrective 
actions; 

•	 Monitor and review non-performing loan and watchlist exposures;

•	 Review and approve counterparty trading documentation (e.g. ISDA Master Agreements, Global Master 
Repurchase Agreements, etc.) and legal opinions on netting, collateral and other forms of credit risk 
mitigation; and

•	 Approve any underwriting commitments related to primary markets transactions.
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37 Risk management (continued)
37.4 Credit risk (continued)
Methodology to assign credit limits
The Group uses internal models and practices to measure and manage credit risk to ensure that it is properly 
understood, managed and controlled.

The credit modelling framework includes the use of probability of default (PD), loss given default (LGD), 
exposure at default (EAD), unexpected loss, expected loss, economic capital (Ecap) consumption and 
economic profit. The Group’s risk appetite is, in part, calibrated to these economic risk drivers.

PD models are used to assess the probability of a counterparty not making full and timely repayment of 
credit obligations over a specific time horizon. The models use a combination of forward-looking qualitative 
factors and quantitative inputs. Each customer is assigned an internal credit rating, which in turn is mapped 
to a statistically calibrated PD. Different models are used for each discrete credit portfolio and counterparty, 
and each model has its own particular set of risk factors and inputs used for assessing the rating. All models 
are statistically tested and independently validated to ensure they have an acceptable level of predictive 
power, provide an accurate forward-looking rating assessment suitable for use in regulatory and Ecap 
assessment, and are stable through an economic cycle. For Ecap management, the Group uses forward-
looking ratings but also explores point-in-time (PIT) versus through-the-cycle (TTC) impacts through stress 
testing and deploys a stressed credit migration to assess the impact of risk rating downgrades.

The Group’s 25-point master rating scale is indicatively mapped against external rating agencies’ 
alphanumerical rating scales and group grading categories as shown in the table below.

Group master 
rating scale Moody’s Investor Services Standard and Poor’s Fitch Ratings Grading

1 – 4 Aaa to Aa3 AAA to AA- AAA to AA-

Investment grade5 – 7 A1 to A3 A+ to A- A+ to A-

8 – 12 Baa1 to Baa3 BBB+ to BBB- BBB+ to BBB-

13 – 25 Ba1 to Ca BB+ to CCC- BB+ to CCC- Sub-investment grade

Default C D D Default

Exposure to credit risk
The following table sets out information about the credit quality of financial assets measured at amortised 
cost and FVOCI debt investments without taking into account collateral or other credit enhancements. The 
amounts in the table represent gross carrying amounts.
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37 Risk management (continued)
37.4 Credit risk (continued)
Credit quality analysis of gross loans and advances (notes 4, 8 and 9) and debt securities held at FVOCI 
and amortised cost (note 10)

Amortised Cost1
Fair value through  

other comprehensive income
2024 

$m
2023 

$m
2024 

$m
2023 

$m
Grades 1-21: Pass  7,411.1  5,376.1  477.3  631.7 

Stage 1  7,411.1  5,376.1  477.3  631.7 
Stage 2  –  –  –  – 
Stage 3  –  –  –  – 

Grades 22-25: Special Mention  46.5  65.9  –  – 
Stage 1  46.5  65.9  –  – 
Stage 2  –  –  –  – 
Stage 3  –  –  –  – 

Grade D1: Sub-standard  –  –  –  – 
Stage 1  –  –  –  – 
Stage 2  –  –  –  – 
Stage 3  –  –  –  – 
POCI  –  –  –  – 

Grade D2: Doubtful  5.3  10.8  –  – 
Stage 1  –  –  –  – 
Stage 2  –  –  –  – 
Stage 3  –  –  –  – 
POCI  5.3  10.8  –  – 

Grade D3: Loss  –  –  –  – 
Stage 1  –  –  –  – 
Stage 2  –  –  –  – 
Stage 3  –  –  –  – 
POCI  –  –  –  – 

 7,462.9  5,452.8  477.3  631.7 

1	 Amortised cost balances include POCI exposures reported in other assets on the balance sheet.

There is one counterparty that has a credit rating of D1: Sub-standard, D2: Doubtful, or D3: Loss, in 2024 
(2023: one counterparty).

For the tables that follow, the definitions below have been used for the different categories of exposures:

•	 Neither past due nor impaired represents exposures that are current and fully compliant with all 
contractual terms and conditions. 

•	 Past due but not specifically impaired includes those exposures where the counterparty has failed to 
make its contractual payment or has breached a material covenant, but impairment losses have not yet 
been incurred due to the expected recoverability of future cash flows, including collateral. Ultimate loss 
is not expected but could occur if the adverse condition persists. These exposures are analysed further 
between those that are less than 90-days past due and those that are 90-days or more past due. 
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37 Risk management (continued)
37.4 Credit risk (continued)
•	 Specifically impaired exposures include those where there is objective evidence that an impairment loss 

has been incurred and for which there has been a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash 
flows as a result of the borrower’s payment status or objective evidence of impairment. 

	 Specifically impaired exposures are further analysed into the following categories: 

	– sub-standard items that show underlying well-defined weaknesses and are considered to be 
specifically impaired;

	– doubtful items that are not yet considered final losses because of some pending factors that may 
strengthen the quality of the items; and

	– loss items that are considered to be uncollectible in whole or in part. The Group provides fully for its 
anticipated loss, after taking any security into account.

•	 Non-performing exposures are those exposures for which the Group has identified objective evidence of 
default, such as breach of a material covenant or condition, or instalments are due and unpaid for  
90-days or more.

Maximum exposure to credit risk

2024

Performing (Group master 
ratings: 1-25)

Non-performing (Group 
master rating: Default)

Gross credit 
exposure

Neither past 
due nor 

impaired 
Past due but not 

specifically impaired
Specifically 

impaired
$m $m $m $m $m

Cash and balances with central banks1  2,674.1 - - -  2,674.1 
Gross due from banks and other financial institutions  3,730.2 - - -  3,730.2 
Financial assets held for trading  1,211.9 - - -  1,211.9 
Non-trading financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  685.7 - - -  685.7 
Derivative financial assets  3,911.2 - - -  3,911.2 
Gross reverse repurchase agreements  3,526.8 - - -  3,526.8 
Gross loans and advances to customers  1,307.9 - - -  1,307.9 
Gross financial investments  3,176.9 - - -  3,176.9 
Gross POCI exposures  – - - 5.3  5.3 
Total balance sheet exposure to credit risk  20,224.7 - - 5.3  20,230.0 

Guarantees  215.9 
Irrevocable unutilised facilities  640.2 
Commodity leases  1,719.7 
Total off-balance sheet exposure to credit risk  2,575.8 
Total exposure to credit risk 22,805.8

Reconciliation to the balance sheet
Add: Equity instruments (note 6) 3.3
Add: Non-financial assets 6,378.6
Less: Credit loss allowance2  (11.5)
Less: Off-balance sheet exposure  (2,575.8)
Total assets 26,600.4 
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37 Risk management (continued)
37.4 Credit risk (continued)
Maximum exposure to credit risk (continued)

2023

Performing (Group master 
ratings: 1-25)

Non-performing (Group 
master rating: Default)

Gross credit 
exposure

Neither past 
due nor 

impaired 
Past due but not 

specifically impaired
Specifically 

impaired
$m $m $m $m $m

Cash and balances with central banks1  2,635.9 -  –  –  2,635.9 
Gross due from banks and other financial institutions  2,252.5 -  –  –  2,252.5 
Financial assets held for trading  1,278.5 -  –  –  1,278.5 
Non-trading financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  2,852.8 -  –  –  2,852.8 
Derivative financial assets  3,373.1 -  10.1  –  3,383.2 
Gross reverse repurchase agreements  2,936.2 -  –  –  2,936.2 
Gross loans and advances to customers  774.9 -  –  –  774.9 
Gross financial investments  2,052.8 -  –  –  2,052.8 
Gross POCI exposures  – -  –  10.8  10.8 
Total balance sheet exposure to credit risk  18,156.7 -  10.1  10.8  18,177.6 

Guarantees 102.9
Irrevocable unutilised facilities 511.2
Commodity leases 1,735.5
Total off-balance sheet exposure to credit risk 2,349.6
Total exposure to credit risk 20,527.2

Reconciliation to the balance sheet
Add: Equity instruments (note 6) 3.8
Add: Non-financial assets 5,077.2
Less: Credit loss allowance2  (11.5)
Less: Off-balance sheet exposure  (2,349.6)
Total assets 23,247.1 

1	 Reserve account with the Bank of England (see note 3).
2 The credit loss allowance comprises amounts recognised on the balance sheet within financial assets, whereas the ‘Movement in credit loss 

allowances’ table below also includes ECL charges on off-balance sheet items (e.g. loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts), 
which are presented as provisions on the balance sheet, and on debt instruments measured at FVOCI, which are recognised in other 
comprehensive income.

Analysis of gross balances subject to three stage expected credit loss (ECL) model

2024

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI

Sub-standard Doubtful Loss Total
$m $m $m $m $m $m $m

Cash and balances with central banks 2,674.1  –  –  –  –  – 2,674.1 
Due from banks and other financial institutions 3,730.2  –  –  –  –  – 3,730.2 
Reverse repurchase agreements 781.3  –  –  –  –  – 781.3 
Loans and advances to customers 1,307.9  –  –  –  –  – 1,307.9 
Financial investments 2,115.5  –  –  –  –  – 2,115.5 
Commitments and financial guarantees given 856.1  –  –  –  –  – 856.1 
Other assets  –  –  –  –  – 5.3 5.3 
Total 11,465.1  –  –  –  – 5.3 11,470.4 
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37.4 Credit risk (continued)
Analysis of gross balances subject to three stage expected credit loss (ECL) model (continued)

2023

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI
Sub-standard Doubtful Loss Total

$m $m $m $m $m $m $m
Cash and balances with central banks 2,635.9  –  –  –  –  – 2,635.9 
Due from banks and other financial institutions 2,252.5  –  –  –  –  – 2,252.5 
Reverse repurchase agreements 1,102.3  –  –  –  –  – 1,102.3 
Loans and advances to customers 774.9  –  –  –  –  – 774.9 
Financial investments 1,943.9  –  –  –  –  – 1,943.9 
Commitments and financial guarantees given 614.1  –  –  –  –  – 614.1 
Other assets  –  –  –  –  – 10.8 10.8 
Total 9,323.6  –  –  –  – 10.8 9,334.4 

Movements in credit loss allowances

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI

Total
12-month 

ECL

Lifetime ECL 
– not credit-

impaired

Lifetime ECL 
– credit-
impaired

Lifetime ECL 
– credit-
impaired

$m $m $m $m $m
Credit loss allowance at 1 January 2024 (13.2)  –  – (3.6) (16.8)
Transfer:

to stage 1  –  –  –  –  – 
to stage 2  –  –  –  –  – 
to stage 3  –  –  –  –  – 

Increases due to origination and acquisition (7.0)  –  –  – (7.0)
Changes due to change in credit risk 1.5  –  –  – 1.5 
Financial assets derecognised during the period 2.8  –  –  – 2.8 
Write-offs of allowances against exposures  –  –  –  –  –
Other adjustments  –  –  – 0.1 0.1 
Credit loss allowance at 31 December 2024 (15.9)  –  – (3.5) (19.4)

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI

Total12-month ECL

Lifetime ECL 
– not credit-

impaired

Lifetime ECL 
– credit-
impaired

Lifetime ECL 
– credit-
impaired

$m $m $m $m $m
Credit loss allowance at 1 January 2023 (7.3) (3.8) (4.1) (51.4) (66.6)
Transfer:  – 

to stage 1  –  –  –  –  – 
to stage 2  –  –  –  –  – 
to stage 3  –  –  –  –  – 

Increases due to origination and acquisition (6.3)  –  – (6.3)
Changes due to change in credit risk (1.3)  –  – 3.3 2.0 
Financial assets derecognised during the period 1.7 3.8 4.1 44.9 54.5 
Write-offs of allowances against exposures  –  –  –  –  – 
Other adjustments  –  –  – (0.4) (0.4)
Credit loss allowance at 31 December 2023 (13.2)  –  – (3.6) (16.8)
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37 Risk management (continued)
37.4 Credit risk (continued)
Renegotiated loans and advances
Renegotiated loans and advances are loans which have been refinanced, rescheduled, rolled over or 
otherwise modified during the year because of weaknesses in the counterparty’s financial position and 
where it has been judged that normal repayment is expected to continue after the restructure. Renegotiated 
loans and advances are assessed on an individual basis and monitored during the rehabilitation period, 
before being transferred into the performing portfolio, where applicable. Following rehabilitation, internally 
generated risk grades are assigned that reflect the revised risk of the exposure. Consequent impairment 
recognition is evaluated as part of the normal credit process. The primary aim of providing forbearance 
facilities to customers is to enable the complete recovery of the exposure. The Group does not follow a 
general forbearance policy but each facility is treated on its own merits. There were no forborne loans at  
31 December 2024 (2023: $nil).

The Watchlist is an early warning mechanism which is used to identify any material deterioration in the 
risk profile of a counterparty or credit facility performance. These exposures are immediately subject to 
independent scrutiny from the Bank’s most senior and experienced risk officers in order that an appropriate 
strategy for managing the risk can be formulated, monitored and executed to mitigate that risk, regularise 
the exposure, or assure recovery with minimal loss. In cases where the remedial strategy does not produce 
the expected improvement, the Group may consider an alternative remedial strategy or referral to the 
Business Support & Recovery (“BS&R”) team, the workout unit which sits in the Risk function, for active 
recovery management. An impairment charge is raised if any new terms are less favourable and result in the 
discounted cash flows being lower than the carrying value of the exposures. 

At 31 December 2024, there were no performing loan exposures under watchlist review for which a 
significant increase in credit risk had been recognised (2023: $nil). 

The ECL allowance on the watchlist portfolio is dependent on the internal credit grade allocated to it. 
Additional management adjustments to the model capture the enhanced risks attached to this portfolio. 

Credit risk mitigation and hedging
Collateral, guarantees, credit derivatives and netting are widely used by the Group for credit risk mitigation. 
The amount and type of credit risk mitigation depends on the circumstances of each case. 

The amount and type of collateral required depends on the nature of the underlying collateral risk as well as 
an assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty. Regulatory capital requirements may also be considered 
in this assessment.

Derivative netting
For derivative transactions, the Group typically uses internationally recognised and enforceable International 
Swaps and Derivatives Association (ISDA) agreements, with a credit support annexure (CSA), where collateral 
support is considered necessary. Other credit protection terms may be stipulated, such as limitations on the 
amount of unsecured credit exposure acceptable, collateralisation if mark-to-market credit exposure exceeds 
acceptable limits and termination of the contract if certain credit events occur, for example, a downgrade of 
the counterparty’s external credit rating.

Master netting agreements
Where appropriate, the Group seeks to enter into master netting agreements. Although master netting 
agreements do not generally result in an offset of balance sheet assets and liabilities for accounting 
purposes, as transactions are usually settled on a gross basis in the ordinary course of business, they do 
reduce the credit risk exposure and capital requirements to the extent that, if an event of default occurs, all 
amounts with the counterparty can be terminated and settled on a net basis. The Group’s overall exposure to 
credit risk on derivative instruments subject to master netting agreements can change substantially within a 
short period, since this is the net position of all trades under the master netting agreement.
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37.4 Credit risk (continued)
Guarantees and standby letters of credit
Guarantees and standby letters of credit (SBLC) are contracts whereby a third-party guarantor promises to 
recompense the lender in the event of failure by a customer to meet their obligations. Regulatory capital 
relief is only taken through the use of risk weighted substitution for guarantees and SBLCs provided by 
appropriate central governments, central banks, commercial banks or similar institutions. Where regulatory 
capital relief is sought to reflect the risk mitigating effect of a guarantee, minimum legal and operational 
requirements are required to be met. On the basis that these requirements are met, alternative forms of 
protection, for example indemnities or non-payment insurance, may be classified as guarantees for regulatory 
capital purposes.

Credit derivatives
Credit derivatives are a method of transferring credit risk from one party (the protection buyer) to another 
(the protection seller). In return for a risk premium, the protection seller agrees to make a payment (or series 
of payments) to the protection buyer in the event of the occurrence of a stipulated event. Capital relief under 
regulatory requirements is restricted to the following types of credit derivative: 

•	 credit default swaps;

•	 total return swaps; and 

•	 credit-linked notes (to the extent of their cash funding). 

In respect of a credit default swap, various credit events defined in the ISDA documentation affecting the 
obligor (including bankruptcy, failure to pay and restructuring), can trigger settlement. Settlement usually 
takes place by the protection buyer being paid by the protection seller the notional amount minus the 
recovery as determined by an auction of the eligible securities of the obligor governed by ISDA. 

Under a total return swap, the protection buyer will pass on to the seller all payments it receives on the 
underlying credit obligation, plus any decrease in the market value of the credit obligation, in return for an 
interest related payment (market rate and spread). 

Under a credit-linked note, the protection buyer issues a bond or note which is linked to the creditworthiness 
of an obligor and which may be backed by certain collateral. The bond or note is purchased by the protection 
seller, who receives a coupon on the bond or note (market rate and spread). If a credit event occurs in 
relation to either the obligor or the collateral, the bond or note is redeemed by the protection buyer with the 
recovery value of the collateral being the redemption amount. If no credit event occurs, the bond or note will 
be redeemed at par by the protection buyer.

Collateral required in respect of a rating downgrade
The Group enters into derivative contracts with rated and unrated counterparties. To mitigate counterparty 
credit risk, the Group stipulates credit protection terms such as limitations on the amount of unsecured 
credit exposure it will accept, collateralisation requirements if mark-to-market credit exposure exceeds those 
amounts and the collateralisation and termination requirements of the contract if certain credit events occur, 
which may include but not be limited to a downgrade of the counterparty’s public credit rating. 

Financial effect of collateral and other credit enhancements
The table below indicates the estimated financial effect that collateral has on the Group’s maximum 
exposure to credit risk. The collateral disclosed relates to the gross credit exposure reported under IFRS 
and does not represent the collateral qualifying for prudential reporting purposes. The table displays the 
on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet credit exposures for the Group, further divided between netting 
arrangements, and unsecured and secured exposures, with an additional breakdown of collateral coverage 
for the secured portion.
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37 Risk management (continued)
37.4 Credit risk (continued)
Netting arrangements represent amounts which are legally enforceable upon default, totalling  
$4,539.3 million at 31 December 2024 (2023: $4,169.4 million). This is in addition to balances meeting  
the offsetting principles described in accounting policy 5.

Unsecured exposures of $11,202.7 million (2023: $10,025.6 million) largely represent corporate, 
government and designated multilateral development bank bonds, precious metal leases, irrevocable 
unutilised loan commitments, cash collateral placed with recognised exchanges and short-term placements 
with highly rated banks and non-banking financial institutions. 

A significant portion of the secured exposures relate to reverse repo type securitised lending, where the 
collateral is typically tradeable. For loans and advances, the collateral accepted includes, cash, equities, 
guarantees and credit enhancements such as credit default swaps and credit insurance. However, 
guarantees received based on future revenue streams, assets whose value is highly correlated to the 
counterparty and floating charges over assets have been excluded from the table. Total exposures of 
$6,032.6 million (2023: $3,544.2 million) are more than 100% covered by collateral, primarily relating to 
reverse repurchase lending, a specific structured loan, and equity margin loan activity.

Collateral obtained by the Group
It is the Group’s policy to dispose of repossessed assets in an orderly manner. The proceeds are used to 
reduce or repay the outstanding claim. Generally, the Group does not use repossessed assets for business 
purposes. No collateral has been repossessed in 2024 or 2023.

Financial effect of collateral and other credit enhancements5

Total 
exposure 
to credit 

risk
$m

Netting 
arrangements1

$m

Exposure 
after 

netting
$m

Unsecured 
exposures

$m

Secured 
exposures

$m

Extent of collateral 
and risk mitigation:

1-50%2

$m 
51-100%3

$m 
> 100%4

$m 
2024
Cash and balances with central 
banks

 2,674.1  –  2,674.1  2,674.1  –  –  –  – 

Due from banks and other financial 
institutions

 3,730.2  782.8  2,947.4  482.9  2,464.5  –  185.4  2,279.1 

Financial assets held for trading  1,211.9  –  1,211.9  1,211.9  –  –  –  – 
Non-trading financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss

 685.7  –  685.7  675.3  10.4  –  –  10.4 

Derivative financial assets  3,911.2  2,921.2  990.0  523.1  466.9  31.6  200.3  235.0 
Reverse repurchase agreements  3,526.8  –  3,526.8  –  3,526.8  –  514.1  3,012.7 
Loans and advances to customers  1,307.9  –  1,307.9  712.7  595.2  –  99.8  495.4 
Financial investments  3,176.9  –  3,176.9  3,176.9  –  –  –  – 
POCI exposures  5.3  –  5.3  5.3  –  –  –  – 
Total balance sheet exposure to 
credit risk

 20,230.0  3,704.0  16,526.0  9,462.2  7,063.8  31.6  999.6  6,032.6 

Guarantees  215.9  –  215.9  215.9  –  –  –  – 
Irrevocable unutilised facilities  640.2  –  640.2  640.2  –  –  –  – 
Commodity leases  1,719.7  835.3  884.4  884.4  –  –  –  – 
Total off-balance sheet exposure to 
credit risk

 2,575.8  835.3  1,740.5  1,740.5  –  –  –  – 

Total exposure to credit risk  22,805.8  4,539.3  18,266.5  11,202.7  7,063.8  31.6  999.6  6,032.6 
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37 Risk management (continued)
37.4 Credit risk (continued)
Financial effect of collateral and other credit enhancements5 (continued)  

Total 
exposure

Netting
arrangements1

Exposure 
after 

netting
Unsecured
exposures

Secured
exposures

Extent of collateral
and risk mitigation:

1-50%2 51-100%3 > 100%4

$m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m 
2023
Cash and balances with central 
banks

 2,635.9  –  2,635.9  2,635.9  –  –  –  – 

Due from banks and other financial 
institutions

 2,252.5  827.1  1,425.4  889.4  536.0  –  131.3  404.7 

Financial assets held for trading  1,278.5  –  1,278.5  1,278.5  –  –  –  – 
Non-trading financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss

 2,852.8  –  2,852.8  858.8  1,994.0  –  1,994.0  – 

Derivative financial assets  3,383.2  2,399.3  983.9  539.2  444.7  26.4  111.2  307.1 
Reverse repurchase agreements  2,936.2  –  2,936.2  –  2,936.2  –  384.5  2,551.7 
Loans and advances to customers  774.9  –  774.9  353.6  421.3  50.0  90.6  280.7 
Financial investments  2,052.8  –  2,052.8  2,052.8  –  –  –  – 
POCI exposures  10.8  –  10.8  10.8  –  –  –  – 
Total balance sheet exposure to 
credit risk

 18,177.6  3,226.4  14,951.2  8,619.0  6,332.2  76.4  2,711.6  3,544.2 

Guarantees  102.9  –  102.9  102.9  –  –  –  – 
Irrevocable unutilised facilities  511.2  –  511.2  511.2  –  –  –  – 
Commodity leases  1,735.5  943.0  792.5  792.5  –  –  –  – 
Total off-balance sheet exposure to 
credit risk

 2,349.6  943.0  1,406.6  1,406.6  –  –  –  – 

 – 

Total exposure to credit risk  20,527.2  4,169.4  16,357.8  10,025.6  6,332.2  76.4  2,711.6  3,544.2 

1	 Represents netting arrangements that can be applied in the event of default. This is in addition to offsetting applied in the balance sheet, as 
permitted by IAS 32.

2	 Represent exposures secured between 1% and 50%.
3	 Represent exposures secured between 51% and 100%.
4	 Represent exposures secured in excess of 100%.
5	 Collateral valuations are performed based on the nature and price volatility of the underlying collateral.

Wrong-way risk exposure
Wrong-way risk (WWR) is defined as the risk that arises due to adverse correlation between counterparty 
credit exposure and credit quality. WWR is present where the risk of default by the counterparty increases as 
the Group’s credit exposure to the counterparty increases or as the value of the collateral held by the Group 
decreases. This risk is addressed by taking into consideration the high correlation between the default event 
and exposure to the counterparty when calculating the potential exposure and security margin requirements 
on these transactions.

37.5 Country risk
All countries to which the Group is exposed are reviewed at least annually. Internal rating models are 
employed to determine ratings for jurisdiction (on a jurisdiction rating scale aaa to c), sovereign, and transfer 
and convertibility risk (on a rating scale RG01 to RG25). In determining the ratings, use is made of the 
Group’s network of operations and external information sources. These internal ratings are a key input into 
the Group’s credit rating models.

Country risk is mitigated through the mitigating actions outlined in the table in note 37.3 above.

The following table illustrates customer risk by geographical segment. 
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37 Risk management (continued)
37.5 Country risk (continued) 
Geographic analysis of gross loans and advances (notes 4, 8 and 9)1

2024 2023
$m % $m %

Sub-Saharan Africa  2,441.1 28.5  692.8 11.6
Asia-Pacific  793.6 9.3  549.2 9.2
Middle East and North Africa  520.1 6.1  273.3 4.6
Rest of Europe  2,697.4 31.4  2,241.1 37.5
Latin America  161.4 1.9  188.4 3.2
North America  1,009.7 11.8  1,405.8 23.6
Eurozone  941.6 11.0  613.0 10.3

 8,564.9 100.0  5,963.6 100.0

1	 Based on the borrower’s country of risk.

Geographic analysis of financial assets held for trading and non-trading financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss1

2024 2023
$m % $m %

Sub-Saharan Africa  485.7 25.6  2,465.8 59.5
Asia-Pacific  571.7 30.1  601.5 14.6
Middle East and North Africa  299.9 15.8  127.9 3.1
Rest of Europe  233.0 12.3  80.8 2.0
Latin America  1.9 0.1  2.2 0.1
North America  240.4 12.7  598.2 14.5
Eurozone  65.0 3.4  254.9 6.2

 1,897.6 100.0  4,131.3 100.0

1	 Analysis of ‘Government, utility bonds and treasury bills’ and ‘Corporate bonds and floating rate notes’ as included in note 5, and ‘Debt 
instruments’, as included in note 6.

37.6 Liquidity risk 
Summary of performance (unaudited)
The Group’s liquidity risk is assessed through: 

•	 Short-term resilience using the regulatory Individual Liquidity Guidance (ILG) and internal stress tests; 
and

•	 Long-term resilience through the NSFR assessment.

The short-term liquidity resilience metric is used to mitigate liquidity risk whilst funding risk is mitigated by 
the longer-term liquidity resilience metric.

The Group’s liquidity risk appetite per the risk appetite statement (RAS) represents the maximum liquidity 
risk acceptable to the Board in pursuit of its strategic objectives and is set on an annual basis. RAS limits 
are measured through three metrics to ensure the Group holds sufficient HQLA to meet anticipated net 
contractual and contingent outflows under stress and also maintain appropriate stable sources of funding to 
reduce over reliance on short-term funding.

The ILG represents the regulatory view of the Group’s liquidity stressed funding requirements, and stipulates 
that the Group must ensure that it holds sufficient liquid assets to meet cumulative net cash outflows as at 
calendar day 30.
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37 Risk management (continued)
37.6 Liquidity risk (continued)
Summary of performance (unaudited) (continued)
The Combined Internal Stress Test (IST) models the Group’s internal view of a severe market-wide liquidity 
stress scenario, aggregated with an ICBCS downgrade assumption, to the effect that the Group must ensure 
that sufficient liquid assets are held to meet cumulative net cash outflows, post management actions, for a 
survival horizon of 91 days. 

The Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR) is the amount of available stable funding (ASF) relative to the amount 
of required stable funding (RSF), and as such the Group must ensure that the ASF exceeds the amount of 
RSF.

As at 31 December 2024 the Bank had the following RAS liquidity and funding surpluses; 

•	 ILG, $2,028 million (2023: $2,217 million);

•	 Constraining IST, $3,524 million (2023: $2,749 million); and 

•	 NSFR, $2,652 million (2023: $3,147 million). 

Regulatory Ratios
Under the LCR and NSFR, the Bank maintained an excess over the regulatory requirement. As at  
31 December 2024, our LCR position was 180% (2023: 183%) and our NSFR position was 143%  
(2023: 159%).

Liquidity stress testing
The Group operates an internal liquidity stress testing framework based on a number of stressed liquidity 
scenarios which cover a 91-day survival period. These are as follows: 

•	 Idiosyncratic stress scenario, which assumes institution specific events;

•	 Market-wide stress scenario, which considers market-wide stresses most relevant to the Group’s 
business model and strategy; and

•	 Combined stress scenario, which is an aggregation of the Market-wide scenario with an ICBCS 
downgrade. 

The RAS is calibrated to the Combined scenario together with the Regulatory ILG and NSFR. In addition, the 
Idiosyncratic and Market-wide stress scenarios are run for internal risk monitoring purposes to ensure the 
Group’s survival horizon is tested across a range of severe but plausible stress events. Each of the stresses 
is designed to ensure that all material on– and off-balance sheet funding and liquidity risks are captured and 
mitigated. 

The Group’s reverse stress testing framework supplements the internal stress tests framework and assesses 
additional scenarios and circumstances that would render the Group’s business model unviable, by 
identifying potential business vulnerabilities.

Liquidity and funding risk monitoring
In addition to RAS limits, the Group has early warning indicators (EWIs) and monitoring indicators to identify 
the emergence of increased liquidity risk. These are calibrated based on the assumptions and liquidity risk 
drivers which are of particular relevance to the Group’s business model. The liquidity limit/EWI monitoring 
policy, stress testing methodologies and the risk appetite are reviewed annually. 
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37 Risk management (continued)
37.6 Liquidity risk (continued)
Structural requirements
Maturity analysis of liabilities provides the basis for management of the Group’s exposure to structural 
liquidity risk. The table below shows the contractual amounts of all financial liabilities and certain non-
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to repay. This differs 
from the balance sheet carrying values, which are typically disclosed on a discounted basis. The table also 
includes contractual cash flows with respect to off-balance sheet items. Where cash flows are exchanged 
simultaneously, the net amounts have been reflected. 

2024

Redeemable 
on demand

Maturing  
within 

1 month

Maturing  
1–6  

months

Maturing  
6–12 

months

Maturing 
after 

12 months Total
$m $m $m $m $m $m

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities held for trading  124.4  153.4  246.0  115.2  463.9  1,102.9 
Non-trading financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss  384.5  863.8  1,369.1  696.4  3,732.5  7,046.3 
Derivative financial liabilities  116.5  845.0  1,539.1  659.2  1,035.1  4,194.9 
Deposits1  2,095.0  2,223.3  1,038.8  2,070.6  312.9  7,740.6 
Subordinated debt  –  –  6.5  6.5  347.3  360.3 
Total balance sheet financial liabilities  2,720.4  4,085.5  4,199.5  3,547.9  5,891.7  20,445.0 

Guarantees  –  –  –  11.3  204.6  215.9 
Irrevocable unutilised facilities  105.2  –  –  29.3  505.7  640.2 
Total off-balance sheet financial liabilities  105.2  –  –  40.6  710.3  856.1 
Total financial liabilities  2,825.6  4,085.5  4,199.5  3,588.5  6,602.0  21,301.1 
Precious metal payables  4,748.6  –  –  –  –  4,748.6 
Total liabilities  7,574.2  4,085.5  4,199.5  3,588.5  6,602.0  26,049.7 

2023

Redeemable 
on demand

Maturing  
within 

1 month

Maturing  
1–6  

months

Maturing  
6–12  

months

Maturing 
after 

12 months Total
$m $m $m $m $m $m

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities held for trading  433.6  222.4  100.5  62.5  1,013.2  1,832.2 
Non-trading financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss  –  300.0  404.0  2,410.4  744.7  3,859.1 
Derivative financial liabilities  –  696.3  1,372.4  542.3  1,171.2  3,782.2 
Deposits1  2,199.6  2,611.0  1,215.1  469.0  2,636.4  9,131.1 
Subordinated debt  –  2.1  5.8  3.7  307.4  319.0 
Total balance sheet financial liabilities  2,633.2  3,831.8  3,097.8  3,487.9  5,872.9  18,923.6 

Guarantees  –  –  –  70.1  32.8  102.9 
Irrevocable unutilised facilities  –  –  90.2  27.9  393.1  511.2 
Total off-balance sheet financial liabilities  –  –  90.2  98.0  425.9  614.1 
Total financial liabilities  2,633.2  3,831.8  3,188.0  3,585.9  6,298.8  19,537.7 
Precious metal payables  3,140.6  –  –  –  –  3,140.6 
Total liabilities  5,773.8  3,831.8  3,188.0  3,585.9  6,298.8  22,678.3 

1 	Includes Due to banks and other financial institutions, Repurchase agreements, and Due to customers.
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37 Risk management (continued)
37.7 Market risk
Definition
Market risk is the risk of loss arising from potential adverse changes in the value of the Group’s assets and 
liabilities from fluctuation in market variables including, but not limited to, interest rates, foreign exchange 
rates, bond and commodity prices, credit spreads and recovery rates, and correlations and implied volatilities 
in all of these variables. 

The Group’s exposure to market risk is separated into two portfolios: trading book and non-trading book.

Trading book market risk
Trading portfolios comprise positions held for the purpose of market making for clients, with the intention of 
short-term resale and/or to hedge risks resulting from such positions. 

Non-trading market risk
Market risk arising in non-trading portfolios consists primarily of interest rate risk arising from banking book 
assets and liabilities, financial assets held at fair value through other comprehensive income and debt 
instruments measured at amortised cost.

Market risk measurement
The techniques used to measure and control market risk include:

•	 daily value at risk (VaR) and stressed value at risk (SVaR);

•	 stress tests; and

•	 risk factor market risk measures.

With the following techniques specific to banking book risks:

•	 economic value of equity;

•	 earnings adjusted economic value (EAEV); and

•	 annual net interest income at risk.
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37 Risk management (continued)
37.7 Market risk (continued)
Daily VaR and SVaR
VaR is a method for estimating potential losses from market risk exposure over a specified time horizon and 
level of confidence. 

The Group uses the historical simulation approach based on potential market movements applied to the 
current trading portfolio, calculated with reference to market price data from the past year, with a confidence 
level of 99%. A holding period of one day is used for risk management purposes, while a period of 10-days is 
also used for regulatory VaR.

The 99% 10-day SVaR uses a similar calculation methodology to the 99% 10-day VaR. However, SVaR uses 
an observation window based on a continuous one-year period of financial stress for the trading portfolio. 
This one-year period of financial stress is selected from historical data going back to 2007, and is reviewed at 
least on a monthly basis. 

Although a useful guide to market risk, VaR has limitations which include: 

•	 The use of historical data as a proxy for estimating future events may not encompass all potential events, 
particularly those that are extreme in nature;

•	 The use of a one-day or 10-day holding period assumes that all positions can be liquidated or the risk 
offset in one day or 10-days respectively. This may not reflect the market risk arising at times of severe 
illiquidity, when a one-day or 10-day holding period may be insufficient to liquidate or hedge positions 
fully;

•	 The use of a 99% confidence interval, by definition, does not consider losses that might occur beyond 
this level of confidence; and

•	 VaR is calculated on the basis of exposures outstanding at the close of business and, therefore, does not 
necessarily reflect intraday exposures.

Risk not in VaR (RNIV) framework
The RNIV framework captures the material risks which are not covered, or not adequately covered, by VaR 
and SVaR. These risk factors are quantified in the RNIV framework either through a VaR-based approach or a 
stress test approach.

Backtesting
The Group monitors the performance of the VaR model via daily backtesting against both hypothetical and 
actual profit or loss. Hypothetical profit or loss estimates the daily profit or loss had the portfolio been held 
constant from the end of the previous trading day (it therefore excludes revenue from intra-day trading). Non-
modelled items such as fees and commissions are also excluded from hypothetical profit or loss.

A backtesting exception occurs when a hypothetical or actual loss exceeds the level predicted by VaR. At a 
99% confidence level, we expect two or three exceptions per year.

During the year, the Group experienced four negative backtesting exceptions against hypothetical profit or 
loss and five negative exceptions against actual profit or loss. Three of the hypothetical and four of the actual 
profit or loss backtesting exceptions occurred in the first quarter of 2024 and were the result of an increase 
in market volatility in the Egyptian pound foreign exchange and interest rate markets, due to changes in 
expectations in the timing of a devaluation event to the Egyptian pound.

The remaining exception (which was against both hypothetical and actual profit or loss) occurred in the third 
quarter of 2024, driven primarily by foreign exchange and rates exposure to China as part of global market 
volatility across all asset classes, following a Bank of Japan rate hike decision and the US Non-Farm Payroll 
Report.
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37 Risk management (continued)
37.7 Market risk (continued) 
Stress tests
Stress testing provides an indication of the potential losses that could occur under extreme but plausible 
market conditions, including situations when longer holding periods may be required to exit positions. 
Potential losses in such scenarios may be much greater than the potential losses indicated by VaR.

Stress tests comprise a range of historical, hypothetical and point of weakness scenarios, across both 
individual risk factors and combinations of risk factors.

The risk appetite to these potential stress losses is quantified and monitored through a level 1 limit.

Other market risk measures
Other market risk measures specific to individual business units include permissible instruments, 
concentration of exposures, gap limits, maximum tenor and stop loss triggers. 

Stop loss triggers are designed to contain losses for individual business units by requiring management 
intervention at predetermined loss levels measured against the individual high-water mark year-to-date profit 
or loss. Other risk measures specific to individual business units are also used. 

New pricing models are independently documented and validated. Both annual and less frequent 
comprehensive reviews of existing models are performed to ensure they are still relevant and behaving within 
expectations.

Analysis of trading book market risk exposures
The following tables show the aggregated historical VaR and SVaR for the Group’s trading positions. The 
maximum and minimum amounts show the bands in which the values at risk fluctuated during the periods 
specified.

1 Day VaR2

Maximum1 Minimum1 Average Year end
2024 $m $m $m $m
Commodities 2.7 0.4 0.8 1.7 
Foreign exchange 13.9 2.6 8.0 6.0 
Interest rate risk (general and specific) 8.4 3.0 5.1 6.9 
Diversification benefit4 (6.2)
Total (including diversification) 13.3 5.1 8.4 8.4 

10 Day VaR3

Maximum1 Minimum1 Average Year end
2024 $m $m $m $m
Commodities 19.6 2.2 6.5 7.1 
Foreign exchange 33.9 3.6 10.4 15.3 
Interest rate risk (general and specific) 57.0 12.5 32.6 34.4 
Diversification benefit4 (21.4)
Total (including diversification) 58.4 16.5 34.2 35.4 

1 Day VaR2

Maximum1 Minimum1 Average Year end
2023 $m $m $m $m
Commodities 2.7 0.4 1.0 0.8 
Foreign exchange 8.3 1.2 3.2 6.4 
Interest rate risk (general and specific) 21.0 3.6 9.3 4.1 
Diversification benefit4 (4.0)
Total (including diversification) 19.0 4.3 9.2 7.3 
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37 Risk management (continued)
37.7 Market risk (continued)
Analysis of trading book market risk exposures (continued)

10 Day VaR3

Maximum1 Minimum1 Average Year end
2023 $m $m $m $m
Commodities 11.3 0.7 3.6 6.3 
Foreign exchange 29.9 3.3 10.4 6.3 
Interest rate risk (general and specific) 45.9 11.3 29.4 45.9 
Diversification benefit4 (13.8)
Total (including diversification) 56.2 14.3 33.2 44.7 

1 	 The maximum and minimum VaR figures reported for each market variable did not necessarily occur on the same days. As a result, the 
aggregate VaR will not equal the sum of the individual market VaR values, and it is inappropriate to ascribe a diversification effect to VaR 
when these values may have occurred on different dates.

2 	 Normal VaR is based on a holding period of one day and a confidence interval of 99%.
3 	 Stressed VaR is based on a holding period of 10-days and a confidence interval of 99%.
4 	 Diversification benefit is the benefit of measuring VaR for the trading portfolio as a whole, i.e. the difference between the sum of individual 

VaRs and measuring VaR for the whole trading portfolio.

Analysis of Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book (unaudited)
Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book (“IRRBB”) is the current or prospective risk to the Group’s economic 
value or earnings arising from adverse movements in market interest rates. It is generated by the Group’s 
non-traded assets and liabilities, specifically loans, deposits, and other financial instruments and liquidity 
assets that are not held for trading intent or in order to hedge positions held with trading intent. 

Management of IRRBB
The Group seeks to centralise and manage IRRBB in line with the Risk Appetite Statement (RAS). ICBCS 
considers Credit Spread Risk in the Banking Book (CSRBB) within the Bank’s overall IRRBB RAS and limits. 

Desired changes to a particular interest rate risk profile are achieved through modification of balance sheet 
exposure profiles or by the use of derivative instruments, such as interest rate swaps or by investing in fixed 
income securities.

IRRBB Measurement metrics
The main analytical techniques used to quantify banking book interest rate risk are:

a)	 Economic Value of Equity (EVE) – measures changes in the net present value of equity to changes in 
interest rates under eight regulatory prescribed interest rate stress shocks;

b)	 Earnings Adjusted Economic Value (EAEV) – EAEV is derived from the same principles as EVE, only 
differing for specific adjustments applied for the Equity Structural Hedge (ESH) execution (the fixed rate 
assets that form part of the ESH are excluded from this metric assessment); and

c)	 Net Interest Income (NII) – measures changes in expected potential future profitability within a given time 
horizon (one year), resulting from regulatory prescribed interest rate stress shocks.
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37 Risk management (continued)
37.7 Market risk (continued)
Equity Structural Hedge
In order to reduce future earnings volatility, specifically from a sudden fall in interest rates, a portfolio of 
Level 1 HQLA fixed rate bonds has been purchased under an equity structural hedge (ESH) strategy. The 
Bank targets a range up to a maximum of 80% of the equity base to be utilized for the ESH programme, with 
the remaining unhedged portion of 20% available to meet losses (and thus avoid the need to sell assets to 
rebalance the hedge in this eventuality). At 31 December 2024 the portfolio had a weighted average life of 
two and a half years and an average yield of 4.4%. 

The ESH strategy is a systematic hedge, which entails the execution of a series of bond purchases to achieve 
the target size and tenor, with maturing bonds rolled over to maintain the target size and tenor. The hedging 
bonds are reported as debt securities held at amortised cost, and can be seen within note 10 ‘Financial 
Investments’, and at 31 December 2024 the portfolio had an unrealised loss of $3.6 million. 

The sensitivity of the portfolio value to a two hundred basis point parallel downside and upside shock is 
illustrated below. The downside shock is illustrative of the primary protection on earnings provided by the 
ESH, whilst the upside shock is best viewed as a potential opportunity cost versus not operating an ESH. 

Increase in 
basis points

0-3  
months

3-6  
months

6-12  
months

>12  
months

2024 $m $m $m $m
2% up (interest rate increase)  200 (0.2) (0.9) (2.1) (59.0)
2% down (interest rate decrease)  200 0.2 0.9 2.2 63.1

Increase in 
basis points

0-3  
months

3-6  
months

6-12  
months

>12  
months

2023 $m $m $m $m
2% up (interest rate increase)  200 (0.2) (0.5) (1.9) (58.7)
2% down (interest rate decrease)  200 0.2 0.5 2.0 62.8

Uses of IRRBB metrics
i	 EAEV metric

The Group primarily uses the EAEV metric for IRRBB risk management purposes and to determine Economic 
Capital requirements. IRRBB interest rate risk appetite limits for the Group are set using the EAEV metric.

For IRRBB Economic Capital (Ecap) assessments, the worst of the following shock scenarios from the EAEV 
metric are taken in to account, plus any non-modelled IRRBB risk add-ons and an add-on for CSRBB, as 
quantified by Risk management.

IRRBB Ecap assessment shocks comprise:

	– Parallel 200 basis points rates up/down shocks (as indicated in the table below); or

	– The six prescribed scenario shocks (Parallel Up, Parallel Down, Flattener – Short Rates Up and Long 
Rates Down, Steepner – Short Rates Down and Long Rates Up, Short Rates Up and Short Rates 
Down). 

ii	 EVE metric

The EVE metric is utilised for Regulatory Supervisory outlier test assessments. 

iii	 NII metric

The NII metric is used for risk monitoring purposes.
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37 Risk management (continued)
37.7 Market risk (continued)
IRRBB Metric Detail
i	 EAEV metric

EAEV is a valuations-based metric which assesses changes in the net present value of all cash flows 
originating from banking book assets and liabilities as a result of pre-specified movements in market interest 
rates under a variety of shock scenarios.

All banking book assets (apart from the noted ESH fixed rate assets which are excluded), liabilities and off-
balance sheet items are placed in time bands (gap intervals), based on their interest rate repricing or cash 
flow expectation dates. The EAEV model calculates IRRBB by currency and applies maturity dependent post 
shock floors as per the regulatory guidance. 

The EAEV metric is computed using the following assumptions:

	– A run-off balance sheet approach where maturing trades are not replaced by new business as they 
mature;

	– Equity is excluded from the metric and the ESH Portfolio; and

	– All downside shocks are floored to minus one per cent and the flooring assumptions are periodically 
reviewed for relevance, in accordance with the regulatory guidance.

The repricing gaps for the Group’s non-trading portfolios are shown below. This view is for the purpose of 
illustration only, as positions are managed by currency to take account of the fact that interest rate changes 
are unlikely to be perfectly correlated.

Repricing gap for non-trading portfolios
0-3  

months
3-6  

months
6-12 

months
>12  

months
2024 $m $m $m $m
Interest rate sensitivity gap  (220.5)  1,347.7  (166.7)  151.9 
Cumulative interest rate sensitivity gap  (220.5)  1,127.2  960.5  1,112.3 
Cumulative interest rate sensitivity gap as a percentage of total banking assets (1.3%) 6.7% 5.7% 6.6%

0-3  
months

3-6  
months

6-12  
months

>12  
months

2023 $m $m $m $m
Interest rate sensitivity gap  1,078.1  257.4  (169.9)  (3.1)
Cumulative interest rate sensitivity gap  1,078.1  1,335.5  1,165.6  1,162.5 
Cumulative interest rate sensitivity gap as a percentage of total banking assets 10.2% 12.6% 11.0% 11.0%
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37 Risk management (continued)
37.7 Market risk (continued)
Sensitivity of EAEV to changes in interest rates
The table below indicates the sensitivity in US dollar equivalents of the Group’s banking book EAEV in 
response to a change in interest rates, after considering all risk mitigating instruments, with all other 
variables held constant. The Group has modelled changes of 200 basis points as this is consistent with 
those used for regulatory purposes. The EAEV sensitivity to a parallel 200 basis points shock up/down of 
interest rates at 31 December 2024 is set out below. The final sensitivity numbers below exclude IRRBB 
EAEV non-modelled risk add-ons and CSRBB.

Increase in 
basis points

0-3  
months

3-6  
months

6-12  
months

>12  
months

2024 $m $m $m $m
2% up (interest rate increase)  200  8.3 (8.2)  4.3 (11.4)
2% down (interest rate decrease)  200 (8.4)  8.3 (4.4)  13.1 

Increase in 
basis points

0-3  
months

3-6  
months

6-12  
months

>12  
months

2023 $m $m $m $m
2% up (interest rate increase)  200  4.1 (2.1)  2.6  4.7 
2% down (interest rate decrease)  200 (4.1)  2.1 (2.6) (4.8)

ii	 EVE Metric

EVE is a valuations-based metric that follows all the principles of the EAEV metric and includes all banking 
book assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet items. It differs from the EAEV metric in that the EVE metric 
includes the ESH Portfolio.

iii	 NII Metric

NII is an earnings-based measure, which assesses the change in expected potential future profitability 
resulting from prescribed movements in market interest rates under a variety of shock scenarios. NII 
sensitivity is calculated as the change in NII (due to rate shock scenarios) over a set observation period 
compared with the base scenario.

All interest-bearing products in the Banking Book are captured in the NII calculations. Off-balance sheet 
products and equity are excluded given they are not interest-bearing products. All cash flows of interest rate 
sensitive instruments are mapped to exact repricing dates of individual positions. Given the short-dated 
nature of the Group’s balance sheet and the static balance sheet approach utilised when computing the NII 
metric, the metric outputs are only viewed for general risk monitoring purposes.

Foreign exchange risk
The Group’s foreign exchange positions arise from mandated transaction or translational activity. All foreign 
exchange risk is governed by currency limits approved by MLRC in accordance with the Group’s market risk 
policy. Currency limits are subject to review annually and foreign exchange exposures are monitored daily by 
the market risk function and reviewed monthly to ensure they remain within the approved risk appetite. 

Net investment in foreign operations
2024 2023

Functional currency $m $m
Chinese Renminbi 29.5 29.6
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37 Risk management (continued)
37.8 Operational risk (unaudited)
Introduction
Operational risk exists in the natural course of business activity. The Group’s approach to managing 
operational risk is to adopt appropriate operational risk practices that assist business line management 
in understanding their inherent risk and reducing their risk profile while maximising their operational 
performance and efficiency.

The operational risk management (ORM) function is responsible for the development and maintenance of 
the operational risk policy, facilitating business’s adoption of the framework, oversight and reporting, as well 
as for challenging the risk profile. It proactively analyses incident root causes, trends and emerging threats, 
advises on the remediation of potential control weaknesses and recommends best practice solutions. 

The management and measurement of operational risk
The ORM framework follows a largely qualitative approach, being focused on ensuring that underlying risks 
are identified and managed and that the residual risk is maintained within an acceptable level, overseen by 
an independent operational risk function within risk management. 

The ORM framework includes qualitative and quantitative (i.e. scenario analysis) methodologies and tools 
to assist management to identify, assess and monitor operational risks and provide management with 
information for determining appropriate controls and mitigating measures. The framework is based around 
risk and control self-assessments (RCSA), key indicators (KIs), control assurance and incident reporting. 
Escalation criteria are in place to ensure that management action can be applied in the event that RCSAs or 
KIs show a level of residual risk exposure beyond that deemed acceptable and when an individual incident 
breaches a set materiality threshold. In addition, a loss tolerance threshold is set by senior management 
for aggregate losses. The Bank supplements these qualitative and quantitative approaches with scenario 
analysis, stress testing and a capital model, which is used for calculating the economic capital requirements 
for RAS purposes.

Historical losses are reviewed to ensure that adequate management action is taken in respect of the root 
cause of loss and near miss incidents. Losses are recorded in the operational incident database.

Given the broad and diverse nature of the above definition of Operational Risk, there are specialist 
operational risk sub-types which are governed under specific governance standards or equivalent documents 
and are enforced through independent dedicated specialist functions, which include legal and compliance 
risk, business conduct risk, data and information technology risk, tax risk, insurance risk and environmental 
risk.

37.9 Reputational risk (unaudited) 
Reputational risk results from damage to the Group’s public image which may impair its ability to retain 
and generate business. Such damage could result from a breakdown of trust, confidence or business 
relationships for a wide variety of reasons. 

37.10 Capital management 
The Group manages its capital resources and requirements to:

•	 achieve a prudent balance between maintaining capital ratios to support business strategy and depositor 
confidence, and providing competitive returns to shareholders; and

•	 ensure that its actions do not compromise sound governance and appropriate business practices and 
minimises any negative effect on payment capacity, liquidity or profitability. 
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37 Risk management (continued)
37.10 Capital management (continued)
The Group is subject to regulation and supervision by the Prudential Regulation Authority (PRA) and the 
Financial Conduct Authority, and forms part of the ICBC group which is supervised by the National Financial 
Regulatory Administration (NFRA).

The Group is subject to the UK’s prudential regime for banks, which implements the global regulatory 
standards set by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision. 

Economic capital (unaudited)
In addition to regulatory capital requirements, management also utilise more risk sensitive internal economic 
capital models to monitor and control the risk profile of the organisation. These cover capital adequacy as 
measured by the ratio of available financial resources to economic capital utilisation, which forms part of the 
risk appetite. 

Regulatory capital 
The Group maintained surplus capital over the minimum requirements prescribed by the PRA throughout the 
year. The total capital requirement (TCR) prescribed by the PRA for the Group is 11.0% (2023: 11.0%). 

Total available regulatory capital consists of the sum of two tiers:

•	 Tier I capital consists of the sum of common equity tier I, in the form of share capital and retained 
earnings less applicable regulatory deductions, and additional tier I capital instruments; and

•	 Tier II capital, which includes subordinated debt.

Risk-weighted assets are determined by applying prescribed risk weightings to on– and off-balance sheet 
exposures according to the relative credit risk of the counterparty. In addition, overall risk-weighted assets 
also include a notional risk weighting for market risks, counterparty risks and large exposure risks relating to 
trading activities. 

Capital resources
The table below sets out the qualifying capital of the Group.

2024 2023
$m $m

Common Equity Tier 1
Paid up capital instruments  1,083.5  1,083.5 
Reserves  700.2  627.5 
Adjustment to retained earnings for foreseeable dividends  (41.8)  – 
Less regulatory deductions (unaudited)  (65.8)  (81.9)
Total Common Equity Tier 1  1,676.1  1,629.1 

Additional Tier 1
Capital instruments 160.0 160.0 
Total Additional Tier 1 Capital 160.0 160.0 

Total Tier 1  1,836.1  1,789.1 

Tier 2
Subordinated debt instruments 250.0 250.0 
Total Tier 2 250.0 250.0 

Total eligible capital  2,086.1  2,039.1 
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38. Encumbered assets (unaudited)
The Group enters into transactions in the normal course of business by which it transfers recognised 
financial assets or commodity assets directly to third parties. These transfers may give rise to full or partial 
derecognition of the assets concerned. Where the Group has retained substantially all of the risks and 
rewards associated with the transferred assets, it continues to recognise those assets.

An asset is defined as encumbered if it has been pledged as collateral against an existing liability or used to 
secure, collateralise or credit enhance a transaction, which impacts its transferability and free use, and, as 
a result, it is no longer available to the Group to secure funding, satisfy collateral needs or be sold to reduce 
funding requirements. An asset is therefore categorised as unencumbered if it has not been pledged as 
collateral against an existing liability or used to secure, collateralise or credit enhance a transaction.

The Group is required to provide cash and/or securities margin placements with counterparties and clearing 
houses as part of its normal trading activities. These transactions are conducted under standard SIFMA/
ICMA commissioned Global Master Repurchase Agreement (GMRA) terms and conditions.

Total encumbered assets inclusive of both pledged assets and cash margin placements at 31 December 
2024 were $2,876.8 million (2023: $2,593.2 million). 

39. Collateral accepted as security for assets
As part of the Group’s financing activities, it receives securities, other financial assets and commodity assets 
that it is allowed to sell or re pledge. Although the Group is obliged to return equivalent securities or other 
assets, the risks and rewards associated with those assets remain with the external counterparty and the 
securities or other assets are not recognised on the Group’s balance sheet. 

At 31 December 2024, the fair value of securities, other financial assets and commodity assets accepted 
as collateral that the Group is permitted to sell or re-pledge in the absence of default is $4,752.9 million 
(2023: $3,027.6 million). In addition, the Group held cash collateral of $958.7 million at that date (2023: 
$1,065.3 million). The fair value of financial assets accepted as collateral that have been sold or re-pledged 
at 31 December 2024 is $406.1 million (2023: $823.4 million). These transactions are conducted under 
standard SIFMA/ICMA commissioned GMRA/ISDA/FOA master agreement terms and conditions as well as 
requirements determined by exchanges where the Group acts as intermediary.

40. Ultimate holding company
The Company’s ultimate parent and controlling party is Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited 
(ICBC Limited), a company incorporated in the People’s Republic of China. The smallest and largest group 
into which the results of the Company are consolidated is that headed by ICBC Limited. Copies of the group 
accounts of ICBC Limited may be obtained from its website at the address below or from investor relations at 
the following address:

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited 
No. 55 Fuxingmennei Avenue 
Xicheng District	 
Beijing 100140 
The People’s Republic of China	

For more information on ICBC Group, please visit www.icbc.com.cn

http://icbc.com.cn
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16. Acronyms and abbreviations
AI Artificial Intelligence IST Internal stress test

ASF Available stable funding KIs Key indicators

BAC Board audit committee KPI Key performance indicator

BOE Bank of England LIBOR London Interbank Offered Rate

BRMC Board risk management committee LCR Liquidity coverage ratio

BS&R Business support and recovery LGD Loss given default

CBES Climate Biennial Exploratory Scenario LNG Liquified natural gas

CEO Chief Executive Officer LPG Liquified petroleum gas

CET1 Common equity tier 1 ratio MLRC Market and liquidity risk committee

CFO Chief Financial Officer MRT Material risk taker

CI Confidence intervals NBP National Balancing Point 

CLAG Credit Limit Appetite Guideline NFRA National Financial Regulatory Administration

COMEX Commodity exchange NGO Non-governmental organisation

Company ICBC Standard Bank Plc company NII Net Interest Income

CRO Chief Risk Officer NSFR Net stable funding ratio

CSA Credit Support Annex NYMEX New York Mercantile Exchange

CSRBB Credit spread risk in the banking book OCI Other comprehensive income

CVA Credit valuation adjustment OE Oxford Economics

DCM Debt Capital Markets OpCo Operational risk committee

DEFRA Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs OPEC Organization of the Petroleum Exporting Countries

DVA Debit valuation adjustment ORM Operational risk management

EAD Exposure at default OTC Over-the-counter

Ecap Economic capital PCRA Physical Commodities Risk Assurance

ECL Expected credit loss PD Probability of default

ED&I Equality, Diversity and inclusion PGM Platinum group metals

ESG Environmental, Social and Governance PIT Point-in-time

ESH Equity Structural Hedge POCI Purchased or Originated Credit Impaired

EU European Union PRA Prudential Regulation Authority

EAEV Earnings Adjusted Economic Value RAS Risk appetite statement

EVE Economic value of equity RCSA Risk control self assessment

EVP Employee Value Proposition Remco Remuneration and People committee 

EWI Early warning indicator RFR Risk free rate

FCA Financial Conduct Authority RMC Risk management committee

FIC Fixed Income and Currencies RNIV Risk not in VaR

FOA Futures and Options Association RSF Required stable funding

FVA Funding valuation adjustment RWA Risk weighted assets

FVOCI Fair value through other comprehensive income SACC South African Competition Commission

FVTPL Fair value through profit or loss SBG Standard Bank Group Limited

GMRA Global Master Repurchase Agreement SBSA Standard Bank of South Africa Limited

GHG Greenhouse gases SBLC Standby Letter of Credit

Group ICBC Standard Bank Plc and its subsidiaries SDR Sustainability Disclosure Requirements

HLBA Historical Look Back Approach SECR Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting

HQLA High quality liquid asset SHA Shareholder agreement

IAS International Accounting Standards SIFMA Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association

IBOR Interbank offered rates SOE State owned enterprise

ICAAP Internal capital adequacy assessment process SOFR Secured overnight financing rate

ICBC Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited SPPI Solely payments of principal and interest

ICBCS ICBC Standard Bank Plc SVaR Stressed Value-at-risk

ICMA International Capital Market Association TCFD Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards TCR Total capital requirement

ILAAP Individual liquidity adequacy assessment process TNFD Task Force on Nature-related Financial Disclosures

ILG Individual liquidity guidance TPT Transition Plan Taskforce 

IMF International Monetary Fund TTC Through-the-cycle

IPV Independent price verification UN United Nations

IRRBB Interest rate risk in the banking book VaR Value-at-risk

ISDA International Swap Dealers Association VAT Value added tax

ISSB International Sustainability Standards Board WWR Wrong way risk
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17. Contact information
CHINA

ICBC Standard Resources (China) Limited 
Unit 2302, ICBC Tower 
No. 8 and 16 Yincheng Road 
Shanghai 200120 
The People’s Republic of China

X Liu 
General Manager

UNITED KINGDOM

ICBC Standard Bank Plc 
20 Gresham Street 
London EC2V 7JE England 
United Kingdom

W Wang 
Chief Executive 
https://www.icbcstandardbank.com

SINGAPORE

ICBC Standard Bank Plc – Singapore branch 
One George Street 
No. 16-04 
Singapore 049145

V Yu 
Chief Executive

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

ICBC Standard NY Holdings, Inc. group 
1185 Avenue of the Americas 
Suite 1505 
New York 
N.Y. 10036 
USA

J Roncevich 
Chief Executive

https://www.icbcstandardbank.com
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